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As filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on November 1998

Registration No. 333-
f

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

rorms-1 CONFIDENTIAL

REGISTRATION STATEMENT

NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.

(Exact name of Registrant as

California 7372 77-0085823
jurisdiction Primary Standard Industrial 1.R.S. Employe
‘m‘m’m manluﬂ:'n) éhm Code Number) Idat(lﬁﬁuﬂm Nunn:or)
800 Chesapeake Drive
Redwood City, CA 84063
(415) 366-0800
(Address, including zip code, and telephone number, including ares code, of Registrant’s principal executive offices)

Nancy R. Heinen
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
NeXT Software, Inc.

900 Ch e Drive
Redwood , CA 94063
(415) 366-0900
{Name, address, including zip code, and telephone number, including area code, of agent for service)
Copies to:
LARRY W. SONSINI, Esq. WILLIAM H. HINMAN, JR., Esq.
Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosatl, P.C. Shearman & Sterling
650 Page Mill Road 555 Callfomia Street, Suite 2000
Palo Alto, CA 84304 San Francisco, CA 94104
(415) 493-9300 (415) 616-1100

Approximate date of commencement of proposed sale to the publie:
As soon as practicable after the effective date of this Registration Statement.

If any of the securities being registered on this Form are to be offered on a delayed or continuous basis pursuant to
Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, check the following box: [

If this Form is filed to register additional securities for an offering pursuant to Rule 462(b) under the Securities Act,
please check the following box and list the Securities Act registration statement number of the earlier effective registration
statement for the same offering. [

If this Form is a post-effective amendment filed pursuant to Rule 462(¢) under the Securities Act, check the following
box and Iisl:tI the Securities Act registration statement number of the eartier effective registration statement for the same
offering.

Ifdeliveryoftheprospectusisexpectedtobenndepusumttoﬂwem.pleaaachﬂhedengbox. 0

CALCULATION OF REGISTRATION FEE

Title of Each Class of 10 be ering Prioe ww-u:'n
Securities To be Registered Registered(1)(2) Per Security(3) oum“) Fee
Common Stock, no par value . ......... 5,750,000 shares $17.00 $97,750,000 $29,622

(1) Includes 750,000 shares which the Underwriters have the option to se to cover over-allotments, if any.

(2) The amount of shares registered also inciudes any shares initially offered or sold outside the United States that are
thereafter sold or resoid in the United States. Offers and sales of shares outside the United States are being made
pursuant to an exemption afforded by Rule 801.of Regulation S and this Registration Statement shall not be ed
effective with respect to such offers and sales.

(3) Estimated solely for the purpose of computing the amount of the registration fee pursuant to Rule 457.

The Registrant hersby amends this Registration Statement on such date or dates as may be necessary to
delay its effective date untll the Registrant shall file a further amendment which specifically states that this
Registration Statement shall thereafter become effective in accordance with Seotion 8(a) of the Securities Aot of
1933 or untll the Registration Statement shall become effective on such date as the Commission, acting pursuant
to said Section 8(a), may determine.
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SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED NOVEMBER , 1996

5,000,000 Shares
NeXT Software, Inc.

Common Stock
(no par value per share)

Of the 5,000,000 shares of Common Stock offered, 4,000,000 shares are being offered hereby in the
United States and 1,000,000 shares are being offered in a concurrent international offering outside the
United States. The initial public offering price and the aggregate underwriting discount per share will be
identical for both offerings. See *‘Underwriting"'.

All of the shares of Common Stock offered hereby are being sold by NeXT Software, Inc. Prior to the
offerings, there has been no public market for the Common Stock of NeXT. it is currently estimated that
the initial public offering price per share will be between $15.00 and $17.00. For factors to be considered
in determining the initial public offering price, see *‘Underwriting”.

See ‘“‘Risk Factors” beginning on page 5 of this Prospectus for certain
considerations relevant to an investment in the Common Stock.

Application has been made for quotation of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq National Market under
the symbol “NXXT".
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§> THESE SECURITIES HAVE NOT BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE SECURITIES
= AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION NOR HAS
L THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OR ANY STATE SECURITIES
S COMMISSION PASSED UPON THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS PROSPECTUS.
& ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.
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Offering Price Discount(1 Company(2)
PerShare .....cooeeevininnennnnns $ $ $
TOtI(3) vvneeeennneennerannanns. $ $ $

(1) NeXT has agreed to indemnify the Underwriters against certain fiabilities, including liabilities under
the Securities Act of 1933.

(2) Before deducting estimated expenses of $2,400,000 payable by NeXT.

(3) NeXT has granted the U.S. Underwriters an option for 30 days to purchase up to an additional
600,000 shares at the initial public offering price per share, less the underwriting discount, solely to
cover over-allotments. Additionally, NeXT has granted to the International Underwriters a similar
option with respect to an additional 150,000 shares as part of the concurrent international offering. If
such options are exercised in full, the total initial public offering price, underwriting discount and
proceeds to Company will be $ ., $ and $ , respectively. See
“Underwriting"'.

The shares offered hereby are offered severally by the U.S. Underwriters, as specified herein, subject
to receipt and acceptance by them and subject to their right to reject any order in whole or in part. It is
expected that certificates for the shares will be ready for delivery in New York, New York on or about

. 1996, against payment therefor in immediately available funds.

Goldman, Sachs & Co. Merrill Lynch & Co.

The date of this Prospectus is , 1996,
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[ARTWORK]

NeXT curmrently intends to fumish its shareholders annual reports containing audited consolidated
financial statements and quarterly reports containing unaudited interim financial information for the first
three quarters of each fiscal year of NeXT.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERINGS, THE UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT OR
EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE COM-
MON STOCK OFFERED HEREBY AT A LEVEL ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL
IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH TRANSACTIONS MAY BE EFFECTED ON THE NASDAQ NATIONAL

MARKET OR OTHERWISE. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT
ANY TIME.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

The following summary is qualified in its entirety by the more detailed information and consolidated
financial statements, including the notes thereto, appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus. Unless
otherwise indicated, all information in this Prospectus (i) reflects the conversion of all outstanding shares
of Preferred Stock into 13,235,809 shares of Common Stock, (ii) reflects the conversion of certain
amounts owed to Canon inc.. (“Canon”) under a term loan agreement into 1,896,639 shares of Common
Stock at an assumed conversion price of $14.88 per share, (iii) reflects the conversion of certain
amounts owed to Merrill Lynch Business Financial Services (“MLBFS") under a line of credit into
537,634 shares of Common Stock at an assumed initial public offering price of $14.88 per share,
Tiv) gives effect to the 1:2 reverse stock split of the Common Stock to be effected in [January 1997 ],
(v) assumes no exercise of outstanding stock options after September 30, 1996 and (vi) assumes that
the Underwriters’ over-allotment options will not be exercised. See “‘Certain Transactions,” ‘‘Description
of Capital Stock” and “Underwriting.” Unless otherwise stated, “WebObjects” refers to WebObjects
Enterprise and “‘WebObjects product line" refers to both WebObjects Enterprise and WebObjects Pro.

The Company

NeXT Software, Inc. (*NeXT") develops, markets and supports software that enables customers to
easily and quickly implement business applications on the Internet/World Wide Web (the “in-
ternet/Web''), intranets and enterprise-wide client/server networks. NeXT provides customers with
standards-based solutions that offer a unique combination of functionality, scalability, reliability and
performance. NeXT's WebObjects product line is designed to allow the rapid development of dynamic,
server-based applications for the Internet/Web and intranets that enable organizations to extend their
market presencse, to enhance their customer interactions and to improve workforce productivity. NeXT's
OPENSTEP product line enables the development and deployment of dynamic business applications on
more traditional client/server networks, especially applications that require sophisticated user interfaces
or the ability to support complex, high-volume transaction processing. Both WebObjects and OPENSTEP
are designed to enable organizations to integrate their existing applications and databases, significantly
reduce the time and effort spent on application development and deployment and take greater advantage
of the opportunities offered by the Intemet/Web, intranets and enterprise-wide client/server networks.

NeXT believes that there are significant market opportunities created by both the tremendous growth
of the internet/Web and intranets and the continuing growth of more traditional enterprise-wide
client/server networks within organizations. NeXT's technology enables customers to develop dynamic
business applications and NeXT believes that one of its principal competitive advantages derives from its
long-term investments in object-oriented technologies. Unlike the products offered by many in-
ternet/ Web companies, NeXT's product lines share a technological foundation that has been developed,
deployed, tested and proven in the enterprise business solutions market over the past decade.
Furthermore, as the Internet/Web and client/server technologies converge, NeXT believes that it is well
positioned to deliver to its customers software and services that enable comprehensive business
applications.

NeXT's objective is to become the leading provider of dynamic network application software
products and services used by organizations to provide their customers, employees and business
partners with enhanced service and greater access to business applications and information through the
internet/Web, intranets and enterprise-wide client/server networks. The key elements of NeXT's strategy
are to (i) maintain technology leadership by continuing to invest significant resources in technology,
(i) target the convergence of the intemet/Web, intranet and enterprise-wide client/server markets with
product lines that integrate with customers’ existing applications and databases, (iii) expand direct and
indirect sales channels on a global basis, (iv) foster the success of customer application development
efforts through its team of highly trained software engineers providing consulting and training services
and technical support, and (v) develop complementary and value-added products based on industry
standards.
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To pursue customer opportunities worldwide, NeXT employs a direct sales force and professional
services organization, augmented by the use of multiple indirect distribution channels, including value
added resellers (*“VARs"), system integrators, Intemet service providers and software developers.
NeXT's sales strategy is aimed at building relationships with large and mid-sized customers for continued
sales and support of NeXT's software products and services, and with VARs, system integrators, Internet
service providers and software developers to extend the market presence of NeXT and its software
products and services. NeXT is also continuing to engage in and further evaluate certain relationships
with large Intemet/Web and client/server software companies, including Microsoft Corporation
("*Microsoft”) and Netscape Communications Corporation (‘‘Netscape'), to expand its market pres-
ence and to provide flexible and integrated solutions to such companies' customers. In addition, NeXT
has established a professional services organization in order to provide a high level of professional
services and support to its customers, including consulting engineering, training and technical support.

Since 1993, NeXT has licensed its software to over 2,000 customers, including AT&T Wireless
Services, BBN Pianet, British Telecommunications PLC ('‘British Telecom'), Cablevision Systems
Comoration, Dow Jones Telerate, inc., Federal National Mortgage Association (‘'Fannie Mae’'), Luf-
thansa Technik AG, MCI Communications Corporation (*“MCI”), Nippon Telephone and Telegraph
(“NTT"), Nissan Motor Co., Ltd. ("Nissan’’), The Sabre Group Holdings, Inc. (*Sabre"), Swiss Bank
Corporation (*'SwissBank"') and U.S. West Communications, inc.

The Offerings

Common Stock offered:

US. offering....ccovieiiiienennnnnrnniecoecscnnonss 4,000,000 shares

International offering . ......ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiienn.. 1,000,000 shares

Total ..ot i it ir e s e e 5,000,000 shares

Common Stock to be outstanding after the offerings(1) .. 22,668,015 shares
Proposed Nasdaq National Market symbol................ NXXT
Use of proceeds ......coveeeeniereeennnrennoeenncennes For repayment of $9,000,000 of

indebtedness and for general corporate
purposes, principally working capital.

(1) Based on shares outstanding as of September 30, 1996. Excludes (i) 6,437,644 shares of Common

Stock issuable upon exercise of options outstanding as of September 30, 1996, of which options to
purchase 3,888,660 shares were exercisable as of September 30, 1996 and (ii) shares of
Common Stock reserved for future issuance under NeXT's stock plans. See ““Management — Stock
Plans” and Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.




STYLBDIS BT BSOS P 1317 C.0 N0 0 0L R
STYLEO13.BST;79 BSF0000456 Fmt: vS5.17 C: 100 i SN 11 <G
: >

Seq: 5Freclead 10DMpoints, Next lead 0D, VjustJ1:1
HEXT SOFTWARE,INC. BOWNE OFPALO ALTO  (415) 858-1800 R )
BPA_PS3 NOMARKS 18-NOV-1996 11:02 NEXT PCN: 007.00.00.00 -- Page is valid, no graphics

Summary Consolidated Financial Data
(in thousands, except per share data)
Nine Months Ended
____Yeor Ended December 31, ___ Septamber 3,
1903 1904 1895 1695 1986
(unaudited)
Consolidated Statement of
Operations Data:

Revenues:

Software licensing ............... $ 10,076 $25,894 $26,762 $19,295 $22,498
SerVICEeS .o vovvinrrtcaneesennions 2,359 3,759 10,672 7.524 13,190
Technology licensing............. 38 17,554 7,543 7,500 12
Research and development

contracts .......coivvnviiinnnns 1,800 2,380 1,829 1,829 195
Total revenues .........evvveveenss 14,273 49,597 46,806 36,148 35,895
Costof revenues ........ccoveuunn. 10,286 10,988 11,479 8,212 12,691
Gross Margin «...ooeeevosecssanens 3,987 38,609 35,327 27,936 23,204
Research and development ......... 8,944 10,655 12,412 9,074 9,367
Sales and marketing ............... 26,150 20,582 17,158 12,190 18,334
General and administrative ......... 5,240 4,744 5,628 4,142 4,184

Total operating expenses ......... 40,334 35,881 35,198 25,406 31,885
Operating income (loss) ........... (36,347) 2,628 129 2,530 (8.681)
Income (loss) from continuing

operations before income taxes ... (40,219) 1,104 (1,541) 975 (11,055)
Net income (loss) .....ccccvvnnnnns (40,222) 1,030 (800) 922 (11,060)
Pro forma net income (loss) per

share (1) ..cvveevnnvennnennnnns $=(|)1=0 $ 005 u#)
Pro forma weighted average number

of shares outstanding (1) ........ ﬁ & &

September 30, 1906
Pro Forme
Actusl Pro Forms  As Adjusted(2)
(unaudited)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents ...........ccoevveeenn. Ceesrenes $ 208 §$§ 2088 $65,088

Investments ........ccciiiiiiiiieeinnenerreneccnennnnnnss 724 724 724

Working capital .........coviiiiiiiieerieenrencnccssnnnss (58,260) (22,038) 40,962

Total @880tS . ....cvvviniieiiiiirnreeratecnrecnncenanennns 15,921 15,921 78,921

Long-term capital lease obligations .............c.cceuo..... 179 179 179

Total shareholders' equity (deficit) ......ccovevvveernnnnnn.. (65,238) (19,016) 52,984

(1) Pro forma net income (loss) per share and pro forma weighted average number of shares
outstanding include 15,670,082 shares of common stock resulting from the conversion of converti-
ble preferred stock and debt. Historical net income (loss) per share has not been presented asitis
not meaningful.

(2) Adjusted to give effect to the sale of the 5,000,000 shares of Common Stock offered by NeXT in the
offerings at an assumed initial public offering price of $16.00 per share, after deducting the
estimated underwriting discount and expenses payable by NeXT. See “Use of Proceeds’ and
“Capitalization.”

This Prospectus contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. NeXT's
actual results may differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors
that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to, those discussed in “‘Risk Factors" and
elsewhere in this Prospectus.
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RISK FACTORS

This Prospectus contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. NeXT’s actual results could differ materially from those set forth in
the forward-looking statements as a result of certain of the risk factors set forth below and elsewhere in
this Prospectus. In addition to the other information contained in this Prospectus, the following factors
should be considered caréfully in evaluating an investment in the Common Stock offered by this

Prospectus.

Recent Introduction of Products; Pianned New Releases

Certain of NeXT's products have been introduced only recently, most significantly WebObjects,
which was introduced in March 1996, and OPENSTEP for Windows NT, which was introduced in
June 1996. in addition, NeXT began shipping Release 3.0 of the WebObjects product line in October
1996, and intends to begin shipping enhanced versions of certain of its other products in late 1996 and
early 1997. To date, only a limited number of NeXT's customers have developed and deployed
Internet/ Web applications using NeXT's WebObjects software. NeXT expects that its future revenues will
depend to a significant degree on the market acceptance of its recently introduced products and
enhanced versions of its products, and its ability to successfully develop, introduce and obtain market
acceptance for new and enhanced versions of products within the WebObjects and OPENSTEP product
lines. In particular, NeXT believes the success of Release 3.0 of the WebObjects product line will be
highly dependent on NeXT's ability to offer on a timely basis an add-on feature designed to pemmit
developers to write server-based WebObjects applications in Java. In addition, NeXT believes that it will
be important to the future success of its OPENSTEP product line to offer on a timely basis its customers
the ability to write OPENSTEP applications in Java. There can be no assurance that any of NeXT's
recently introduced products and product enhancements will achieve market acceptance or that any
future products or product enhancements will be successfully developed or introduced or will achieve
market acceptance, and any fallure to do so could have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business,
results of operations or financial condition. See “— New Product Development; Rapid Technological
Change; Risk of Product Delays."

Accumulated Deficit; Limited History of Software Commerciatization

NeXT has generally incurred net losses since inception, including each of the last six quarters, and
may continue to operate at a loss for the foreseeable future. As of September 30, 1996, NeXT had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $273.4 million. In the past four years, NeXT has focused its
resources on research and development and building a sales and marketing organization for the
commercialization of its software products, and NeXT intends to continue to make significant investments
in its sales, marketing, research and development, customer support and administrative infrastructure
over the near term. As a result, NeXT may incur net losses in the near future. There can be no assurance
that NeXT will achieve or sustain profitability.

NeXT was founded in 1985 to develop, manufacture and market computer workstations operating on
NEXTSTEP, NeXT's proprietary operating software. In late 1992, NeXT discontinued its workstation
business to focus solely on the development and marketing of its object-oriented application develop-
ment environment. Although NeXT's first commercial object-oriented development software product was
introduced in 1989, its product lines for the Intemet/Web, intranet and enterprise-wide client/server
software markets, WebObjects and OPENSTEP, were introduced in March 1996 and June 1996,
respectively. Accordingly, NeXT has only a limited operating history in the Intemet/Web, intranet and
enterprise-wide client/server software markets upon which to base an evaluation of its business and
prospects. NeXT's prospects should be considered in light of the risks, expenses and difficulties
frequently encountered by companies in rapidly evolving markets, such as the Internet/Web, intranet and
enterprise-wide client/ server software markets. To address these risks, NeXT will be required to, among
other things, respond to competitive developments, continue to attract, retain and motivate qualified

6
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management and other employees, continue to upgrade its technologies and commercialize products
and services which incorporate such technologies and achieve market acceptance for its products. There
can be no assurance that NeXT will be successful in addressing such risks, and any failure to do so could
have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of operations or financial condition. See
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Developing Markets; Unproven Acceptance of NeXT's Products

The markets for many of NeXT's software products, in particular the WebObjects product line and
OPENSTEP for Windows NT, have only recently begun to develop, are rapidly evolving, have few proven
products and are characterized by an increasing number of market entrants who have introduced,
developed or announced products and services for communication, collaboration and commerce over the
internet/Web, intranets and enterprise-wide client/server networks. As is typical in the case of a new and
rapidly evolving industry, demand and market acceptance for recently introduced products and services
are subject to a high level of uncertainty. While NeXT believes that its products offer significant
advantages for communication, collaboration and commerce over the Intemnet/Web, intranets and
enterprise-wide client/server networks, there can be no assurance that the market for NeXT’s products
and services will develop, that NeXT's products and services will achieve market acceptance or that the
Internet/Web, intranets and related technologies will achieve widespread acceptance by businesses. If
the markets for NeXT's products and services fail to develop, develop more slowly than expected or
become saturated with competitors, or if NeXT's products do not achieve market acceptance, NeXT's
business, results of operations and financial condition will be materially and adversely affected.

New Product Development; Rapid Technological Change; Risk of Product Delays

The software market in which NeXT competes is characterized by rapid technological change,
frequent introductions of new products, changes in customer demands and evolving industry standards.
The introduction of products embodying new technologies and the emergence of new industry standards
can render existing products obsolete and unmarketable. For example, NeXT’s customers have adopted
a wide variety of hardware, software, database and networking platforms, and as a result, to gain broad
market acceptance, NeXT has had to support the use of its software on many of these platforms. NeXT's
future success will depend upon its ability to address the increasingly sophisticated needs of its
customers by supporting existing and emerging hardware, software, database and networking platforms
and by developing and introducing enhancements to NeXT's products on a timely basis that keep pace
with such technological developments and emerging industry standards and customer requirements. In
particular, NeXT believes the success of Release 3.0 of the WebObjects product line, released in October
1996, will be highly dependent on NeXT's ability to offer on a timely basis an add-on feature designed to
permit developers to write server-based WebObjects applications in Java. in addition, NeXT believes that
it will be important to the future success of its OPENSTEP product line to offer on a timely basis its
customers the ability to write OPENSTEP applications in Java. There can be no agssurance that NeXT will
be successful in developing and marketing enhancements to its products that respond to technological
change, evolving industry standards or customer requirements, that NeXT will not experience difficulties
that could delay or prevent the successful development, functionality, introduction and sale of such
enhancements or that such enhancements will adequately meet the requirements of the marketplace and
achieve any significant degree of market acceptance. Delays in the scheduled release of products or
product enhancements may result in customer dissatisfaction and can adversely affect the market
acceptance of such products or product enhancements. Although in the past NeXT has generally
released new products and product enhancements as scheduled, NeXT has in certain instances been
required to eliminate functionality intended for release with such products or product enhancements in
order to meet scheduled release dates. If release dates of any future product enhancements or new
products are delayed or if when reieased they fail to achieve market acceptance due to the elimination of
expected functionality or otherwise, NeXT's business, results of operations and financial condition would
be materially and adversely affected. in addition, the introduction or annocuncement of new product
offerings or enhancements by NeXT or NeXT's competitors may cause customers to defer or forgo

7
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purchases of current versions of NeXT's products, which could also have a material adverse effect on
NeXT’s business, results of operations or financlal condition. See "Business."”

intense Competition

The market for NeXT's software products and services is rapidly evolving and intensely competitive.
NeXT expects competition to increase in the future from existing competitors and from companies that
may enter NeXT's existing or future markets with similar or substitute solutions that may be less costly or
provide better performance or functionality than NeXT's products. Many of NeXT's curmrent and potential
competitors have greater financial or management resources or name recognition or more extensive
customer bases than NeXT. NeXT's competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging
technologies and changes in customer requirements or devote greater resources to the development,
promotion and sale of their products. NeXT expects to face additional competition as other established
and emerging companies enter the market for intemet/Web-based, intranet and client/server technolo-
gies and new products and technologies are introduced. Increased competition could result in price
reductions, fewer customer orders, reduced gross margins and loss of market share, any of which could
materially and adversely affect NeXT's business, results of operations or financial condition. in addition,
current and potential competitors may make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships
among themselves or with third parties, thereby increasing the ability of their products to address the
needs of NeXT's prospective customers. Curmrent or potential competitors of NeXT could develop and
bundle software containing the same functionality offered by NeXT's products with their product offerings
at little or no additional charge. Current and potential competitors may also be more successful than
NeXT in having their products or technologies accepted as industry standards. Accordingly, it is possible
that new competitors or alliances among current and new competitors may emerge and rapidly gain
significant market share. Such competition could materially and adversely affect NeXT's ability to obtain
and retain support for its products and services. There can be no assurance that NeXT will be able to
compete successfully against current and future competitors, and the failure to do so could have a
material adverse effect upon NeXT's business, results of operations or financial condition.

Companies directly competing with NeXT include Intemet/Web appilication development product
companies such as NetDynamics, inc. (*NetDynamics’) and Bluestone, Inc. (" Bluestone”), high-end
client/ server application development product companies such as Forté Software, Inc. (*Forté") and
Seer Technologies, Inc. (‘“‘Seer”) and the object-oriented development product companies such as
ParcPlace/Digitalk, Inc. (*‘Parc Place/Digitalk”) and Visix Software, Inc. (“Visix"). In the future, NeXT
expects competition from Netscape and Microsoft, which have announced their intention to offer
application development products, International Business Machines Corporation (*IBM”), which has
invested significant resources in object-oriented technology, and others to increase. NeXT also may
experience competition with respect to its client/server development products from Microsoft's Visu-
alBasic development tools, particularly as VisualBasic is upgraded. In addition, NeXT expects database
vendors such as Oracle Corporation (“Oracle”), Sybase, Inc. (“'Sybase”) and Informix Corporation
(“Informix") to provide many of the capabilities needed in the development of intemet/Web-based,
intranet and client/server applications. Any of these companies could use its superior financial resources,
market presence and instalied base of customers to compete effectively against NeXT. See
“Business — Competition."

Fluctuations in Quarterly Results; Seasonality

NeXT's quarterly operating results have varied significantly in the past and are likely to continue to
vary significantly in the future. Such fluctuations may be caused by many factors, including demand for
NeXT's products, introduction, enhancement or announcement of products by NeXT and its competitors,
market acceptance of new products, size and timing of orders, budgeting cycles of its customers,
variability of the receipt of orders from government customers, mix of distribution channels, mix of
products and services sold, announcements or enactments of pricing changes by NeXT or its competi-
tors, changes in the level of operating expenses, mix of intemational and domestic revenues, the effect
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of, and changes in, NeXT's sales incentive plans, customer order deferrals in anticipation of enhance-
ments of new products offered or announced by, or changes in pricing policies of, NeXT or its competitors
and general economic conditions. In particular, NeXT plans to increase its operating expenses to expand
its sales, marketing and consuiting operations, expand its distribution channels, fund greater levels of
research and development, broaden its customer support and consulting services capabilities and
increase its administrative infrastructure. The timing of such expansion and the rate at which NeXT's new
salespeople or consultants become productive could also cause material fluctuations in NeXT's quarterly
financial condition or results of operations.

it is typical for sofiware companies to recognize a substantial portion of their revenues during the last
few weeks of each quarter; therefore, any delays in orders or shipments are likely to result in revenues not
being recognized until the following quarter. In addition, as a result of its software sales to the
client/server and intranet markets, NeXT expects that a limited number of large orders from enterprise
customers may continue to account for a significant portion of revenues in future quarters, resulting in
fluctuations in quarterly revenues. A significant shortfall in demand for, or any significant reduction in the
prices of, NeXT’s products and services in relation to NeXT's expectations would have an immediate
material adverse affect on NeXT's business, operating results or financial condition. NeXT's revenues are
also difficuit to predict because its sales cycle with respect to its client/server products, such as
OPENSTEP. and NEXTSTEP, is lengthy and varies substantially from customer to customer. It is also
difficult to ‘accurately predict the size and timing of sales of NeXT's WebObjects product line as the
market for that product line develops. NeXT's current expense levels are based in part on its expectations
of future revenues and, as a result, net income for a given period could be disproportionately affected by
any reduction in revenues. Furthermore, the intemet/Web software market served by the WebObjects
product line is characterized by smaller customers, relatively shorter sales cycles and slower paying
cycles than those experienced in the client/server market. NeXT expects that if the percentage of its
revenues from the sale of WebObjects increases, NeXT will likely experience an increase in days of sales
outstanding, and may experience an increase in bad debt reserves and write-offs. As a resuit of the
factors described above, NeXT believes that period-to-period comparisons of its results of operations are
not necessarily meaningful and should not be relied upon as any indication of its future performance.
There can be no assurance that NeXT will be able to achieve significant revenues, that the level of
revenues in the future will not decrease from past levels or that in some future quarter NeXT's operating
results will not be below the expectations of stock market securities analysts and investors. In any such
event, NeXT's profitability and price of its Common Stock could be materially and adversely affected.

The operating results of many software companies reflect seasonal trends, and NeXT expects to be
affected by such trends in the future. NeXT believes that the capital spending cycles of its customers as
well as the efforts of NeXT's direct sales force to meet year-end sales quotas will result in NeXT
experiencing relatively higher revenues in the second half of a year than in the first half of such year. in
addition, to the extent international operations constitute a higher percentage of NeXT's total revenues,
NeXT anticipates that it may also experience relatively weaker demand in the quarter ending Septem-
ber 30 as a result of reduced intemational sales activity during the summer months. See *“— Lengthy
Sales Cycle” and "“— Risks Associated with Intemational Operations’ and ‘‘Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.”

Dependence on the Internet/World Wide Web; Risk Assoclated With the Convergence of
Client/Server Market and intemet/World Wide Web Market

Sales of NeXT’'s WebObjects product line will depend to a significant degree upon development of,
demand for, and the infrastructure necessary to support, commercial internet/ Web access and traffic.
The Intemet/Web may not prove to be a viable commercial marketplace because of inadequate
development of the necessary infrastructure, such as a reliable network backbone or timely development
of complementary products (including high speed modems ). Because communication, collaboration and
commerce over intranets and the Intemet/Web is new and evolving, it is difficult to predict with any
certainty whether the infrastructure or complementary products necessary to make such applications

9
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commercially viable will develop or, if developed, that there will be sufficient commercial demand for the
use of intranets and the Internet/Waeb. In addition, critical issues conceming the commercial use of the
Intemet/Web, including security, reliability, cost, ease-of-use, access and quality of service, remain
unresolved and may impact the growth of such use by businesses. Moreover, the adoption of intranets
and the internet/ Web for communications, collaboration and commerce may be siowed as a result of the
reluctance of enterprises that have already invested substantial resources in other information technology
systems to adopt a new strategy or technology. if the infrastructure or complementary products
necessary for widespread business use of intranets and the Intemet/Web are not developed or develop
more slowly than anticipated, or if the use of intranets or the Intemet/Web does not otherwise become
commercially viable, NeXT's business, results of operations and financial condition will be materially and
adversely affected.

NeXT believes that the market for client/server software products and the market for Internet/Web-
based solutions will eventually converge as enterprises adopt HTTP-based software intranet information
systems for most internal and external communications. If the markets for these products converge, sales
of NeXT's OPENSTEP product could be materially and adversely effected. If the markets for these
products do not converge, and NeXT focuses its resources on one market, NeXT's business, operating
resuits or financial condition could be materially and adversely affected if a market on which it does not
focus its resources becomes the predominant market.

Risks Associated with Expanding Distribution

To date, NeXT has sold its products primarily through its direct sales force. NeXT is currently
investing, and plans to continue to invest, significant resources to expand its direct sales force as well as
to expand its ability to sell through indirect channels by establishing and maintaining relationships with
VARs, systems integrators, Intemet service providers and software developers. Competition for qualified
sales personnel and for relationships with VARs, system integrators, Internet service providers and
software developers is intense, and NeXT has at times experienced and continues to experience difficuity
in recruiting such sales personnel and in establishing such third-party relationships. There can be no
assurance that the expansion of NeXT's direct sales force or indirect sales channeis will yield a growth in
revenues or profitabllity, which could have a material adverse effect on NeXT’s business, results of
operations or financial condition. Any failure by NeXT to realize increased revenues as it expands its
direct sales force or other distribution channels would have a material adverse effect on NeXT’s business,
results of operations and financial condition. In addition, NeXT expects that any material increase in the
percentage of its sales through indirect channels, such as VARs, system integrators, Intemet service
providers and software developers, as a percentage of total revenues will adversely affect NeXT's
average selling prices and gross margins due to the lower unit prices that are typically received by the
vendor when selling through indirect channels. Agreements with VARs, system integrators, intemet
service providers and software developers typically do not restrict such parties from distributing
competing products, and in many cases may be terminated by either party without cause. Furthermore,
sales through these indirect channels are frequently not accompanied by sales of NeXT's consulting,
education or support services, which services comprised of 36.8% of total revenues in the nine months
ended September 30, 1996. The timing of the expansion of NeXT’s direct sales force or channels and the
rate at which NeXT’'s new salespeople or third party resellers become productive could also cause
material fluctuations in NeXT's quarterly financial condition or results of operations. See ''— Fluctuations
in Quarterly Results; Seasonality' and "“— Dependence on Key Personnel” and *‘Business — Sales'’ and
**— Strategic Relationships.”

NeXT is also dependent in part on expanding its consulting engineering capabilities to support the
expansion of its direct sales force. NeXT has in the past experienced and continues to experience
difficulty in recruiting qualified engineers and consulting personnel, and it often takes three to six months
for such personnel to be trained for providing consulting services to NeXT's customers. The timing of the
expansion of NeXT's consulting engineering capabilities and the rate at which such consultants can
become productive could cause material fluctuations in NeXT's quarterly financial condition or results of
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operations. There can be no assurance that NeXT can successfully expand its consulting engineering
capabilities to meet the needs of its customers, which could cause a loss of sales or customer
dissatisfaction, or otherwise have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results
of operations. See “— Fluctuations in Quarterly Results; Seasonality’ and ‘‘— Dependence on Key
Personnel” and ‘‘Business — Professional Services."

Dependence on a Limited Number of Customers

in recent years, a significant portion of NeXT's revenues was attributable to a few large customers.
Sun Microsystems, Inc. (‘'Sun”) accounted for 35% and 19% of total revenue in 1994 and 1995,
respectively, which consisted of revenue from technology licensing, software licenses, services and
research and development contracts; Canon accounted for 6%, 7% and 8% of total revenue in 1994,
1995 and the nine months ended September 30, 1996, respectively; and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith Incorporated (‘‘Merrill Lynch'’') accounted for 7% and 13% of total revenue in 1995 and the nine
months ended September 30, 1996, respectively. NeXT does not expect any of these customers to
account for 10% or more of revenues in 1996 or future years; however, NeXT expects to continue to
derive a significant portion of its revenues from sales to a limited number of customers. Sales are subject
to significant variability from quarter to quarter. Such fluctuations could have a material adverse effect on
NeXT's business, results of operations or financial condition. Furthermore, if NeXT were to lose a major
customer, or if orders by a major customer were to otherwise decrease or be delayed, including
reductions due to market or competitive conditions in the intemet/Web, intranet or enterprise-wide
client/server markets, NeXT'’s business, results of operations or financial condition could be materially
and adversely affected. See '— Filuctuations in Quarterly Results; Seasonality’’ and “Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."’

Dependence on Key Personnel

NeXT's success depends to a significant degree upon the continuing contributions of its key
personnel. The loss of key personnel could adversely affect NeXT. NeXT believes that its future success
will depend in large part upon its ability to attract and retain highly-skilled managerial, sales, marketing,
customer support and technical personnel. NeXT has at times experienced and continues to experience
difficulty in retaining and recruiting qualified managerial, sales, marketing, customer support, technical
and other personnel. In particular, NeXT has had, and is continuing to have, difficulty retaining and
recruiting qualified Java programmers. Since 1993, NeXT has experienced tumover in several of its
executive officer positions, as well as in its general employee base. Furthermore, competition for qualified
personnel is intense, and there can be no assurance that NeXT will be successful in attracting and
retaining such personnel. Competitors and others, most significantly small start-up companies developing
internet/Web-based products, in the past have recruited, and may in the future recruit, NeXT's officers
and employees. Failure to attract and retain key personnel, or high rates of employee tumover, could
have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of operations or financial condition. See
“Business — Employees'’ and *‘Management.”

Divided Responsibilities of Chief Executive Officer

NeXT's Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Steven P. Jobs, is also Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Pixar Animation Studios (‘'Pixar"), a digital animation studio. Although Mr. Jobs spends
approximately half of his time at NeXT and is active in NeXT's management, he is not committed to spend
a certain amount of time at NeXT nor is he able to devote his full time and resources to NeXT. Further,
NeXT does not have an employment agreement with Mr. Jobs. NeXT has established an Office of the
President which includes three senior officers, Dominique Trempont, Mitchell Mandich and Avadis
Tevanian, Jr., who are actively engaged in managing the business on a day-to-day basis. Mr. Jobs has
informed NeXT that he intends to remain in his current position with NeXT; however, it is likely that NeXT
will seek to hire a new Chief Executive Officer over the next 12 months or so. In addition, Mr. Jobs has
informed NeXT that he intends to remain as Chairman of NeXT if a new Chief Executive Officer were to be
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appointed. There can be no assurance that Mr. Jobs' inability to devote his full time and resources to
NeXT will not adversely affect NeXT's business, results of operations and financial condition. See

**Management.”

Management of a Changing Business and Potential Growth

NeXT has recently expanded its market focus from solely developing and marketing object-oriented
software products to the enterprise-wide client/server market to also developing and marketing software
products for Intemet/Web and intranet applications. This has resulted in new and increased responsibili-
ties for NeXT's employees. In addition, in an effort to exploit the market window for its products and
services, NeXT has expanded and intends to continue to expand the number of its employees (in
particular sales and technical personnel), the products and product enhancements it offers and the
geographic area of its operations. This expansion has placed and will continue to place significant strain
upon NeXT's management, operating and financial systems and resources. To accommodate its
expansion, compete effectively and manage potential future growth, NeXT must continue to implement
and improve information systems, procedures and controls. NeXT's future success will depend to a
significant extent on the ability of its cument and future management personnel to operate effectively,
both independently and as a group. There can be no assurance that NeXT's personnel, systems,
procedures and controls will be adequate to support NeXT's market focus and its future operations.
Further strain could also be placed on NeXT's resources should NeXT choose to make acquisitions of
complementary businesses, products or technologies. Any failure to implement and improve NeXT's
operational, financial and management systems or to expand, train, motivate or manage employees could
have a material adverse effect on NeXT’'s business, operating results or financial condition. See
**— Dependence on Key Personnel’ and ''Business — Employees.” Furthermore, as a result of NeXT's
emphasis on the commercialization of open software for developing applications in client/server and
Internet/ Web-based environments, regardless of the operating system or hardware architecture, NeXT
expects to dedicate less time and resources to developing, distributing and marketing its NEXTSTEP
product line than it has in the past, and further expects sales of NEXTSTEP products to decline. Through
1995, revenues relating to NEXTSTEP products and related services accounted for all of NeXT's total
revenues. In the nine months ended September 30, 1996, these products and services accounted for
38.7% of total revenues. If NeXT does not receive revenues from its OPENSTEP and WebObjects
products sufficient to offset the decline in revenue attributable to its NEXTSTEP products, NeXT's
revenues and net income will decline from historical levels, and NeXT’s business, resuits of operations
and financial condition will be materially adversely affected.

Lengthy Sales Cycle

NeXT's products are typically used to develop applications that are critical to a customer’s business.
As a result, the license and implementation of many of NeXT's products generally involves a significant
commitment of management attention and resources by prospective customers. Accordingly, the sales
process for such products, in particular its intranet and enterprise-wide client/server-based products, is
often subject to delays associated with a long approval process that typically accompanies significant
initiatives or capital expenditures. It is also difficuit to accurately predict the size and timing of sales of the
WebObjects product line as the market for that product line develops. For these and other reasons, the
sales cycle associated with the license and implementation of many of NeXT's products is often lengthy
and subject to a number of significant delays over which NeXT has little or no control. There can be no
assurance that NeXT will not experience these or additional delays in the future. See *— Fluctuations in
Quarterly Results; Seasonality"’ and **Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations.”

Risk of Software Defects

Software products that are as internally complex as NeXT's products frequently contain errors or
defects, especially when first introduced or when new versions or enhancements are released. Although
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NeXT has not experienced material adverse effects resulting from any such defects or errors to date,
there can be no assurance that, despite testing by NeXT and by current and potential customers, defects
and errors will not be found in NeXT’s current versions or future products or enhancements after
commencement of commercial shipments. This may result in loss of revenues, increased costs or a delay
in market acceptance, which in tum could have a material adverse effect on NeXT’s business, results of
operations or financial condition. see *‘Business — Research and Product Development.”

Reliance on Strategic Relationships

A key element of NeXT's business strategy is to develop relationships with leading industry
organizations in order to increase NeXT's market presence, expand distribution channels and broaden
NeXT's product lines. Accordingly, NeXT maintains relationships with software vendors (such as
Microsoft and Netscape ), hardware vendors (such as Hewlett-Packard Company (‘‘Hewlett-Packard™),
Digital Equipment Corporation (‘‘Digitai”) and Sun) and database providers (such as Oracle, Sybase
and Informix). in July 1996, NeXT announced an Enterprise Alilance Program targeted at VARs, systems
integrators, Internet service providers and software developers. NeXT believes that its continued success
depends in large part on its ability to develop and maintain such relationships. Many of NeXT's
relationships are unwritten, informal and non-exclusive, and do not require the other party to sell NeXT’s
products. In addition, these relationships generally can be terminated by either party at any time. There
can be no assurance that NeXT's existing or future strategic partners will not develop and market
products in direct competition with NeXT or otherwise discontinue their relationships with NeXT, or that
NeXT will be able to successfully develop additional strategic relationships. The failure of NeXT's
strategic partners to augment the sales of NeXT's products could have a material adverse effect on
NeXT's business, resuits of operations or financial condition. See “'Business — Strategic Relationships.”

Dependence on Proprietary Technology; intellectual Property

NeXT's success and ability to compete is dependent in part upon its proprietary technology. While
NeXT relies on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret protection law, employee
and third party nondisclosure agreements, and other methods to establish and protect its proprietary
rights, NeXT believes that factors such as the technological and creative skilis of its personnel are more
essential to its success and ability to compete.

NeXT currently holds 14 software patents issued in the United States, three patents issued in
Canada and one patent issued in the United Kingdom, which patents will expire from 2009 to 2013. In
addition, NeXT has 12 patent applications pending in the United States, three pending in Japan, and two
pending under the Patent Cooperation Treaty. There can be no assurance that any patent applied for will
be granted pursuant to NeXT’s patent applications, or if patents do issue, that any claims issued will be
sufficiently broad to protect NeXT's technology. In addition, there can be no assurance that any patents
issued to NeXT, or that NeXT may license from third parties, will not be challenged, reissued with
narrower scope, dominated by patents of others, invalidated or circumvented, or that any rights granted
thereunder would provide proprietary protection to NeXT. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that
others will not develop technologies that are similar or superior to NeXT's technologies.

The source code for each of NeXT's proprietary software products is protected both as a trade
secret and as copyrighted work. NeXT generally enters into confidentiality or license agreements with its
employess, consuitants, and vendors, and generally controls access to and distribution of its software,
documentation and other proprietary information. NeXT's products are distributed in object code form
only, and all end-user license agreements prohibit uniawful reverse engineering or decompiling of NeXT's
software. Despite these precautions, it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and
use NeXT'’s products or technology without authorization, or to develop similar technology independently.
In addition, effective copyright and trade secret protection may be unavailable or limited in certain foreign
countries. To license its software products, NeXT generally relies on ‘'shrink wrap” licenses that are not
signed by the end-user and, therefore, may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions.
NeXT’s products and technology generally are branded with trade names, some of which are registered
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trademarks, and which are intended to identify and distinguish NeXT’s products from those of others.
Despite NeXT's efforts to protect its proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects
of NeXT's products or intellectual property, or to obtain and use information that NeXT regards as
proprietary. Policing unauthorized use of NeXT's products and intellectual property is difficult. There can
be no assurance that the steps taken by NeXT will prevent misappropriation of its technology or
intellectual property, or that such agreements will be enforceable. in addition, litigation has been
necessary in the past and may be necessary in the future to enforce NeXT's intellectual property rights, to
protect NeXT's trade secrets, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others, or to
defend against claims of infringement or invalidity. Any such litigation could result in substantial costs and
diversion of resources and could have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of operations
or financial condition. See *‘— Dependence on Third-Party Technology"” and “Business — Intellectual

Property Rights.”

Dependence on Third-Party Technology

NeXT relies on certain technology that it licenses from third parties, including software which is
integrated and used with interally developed software. For example, NeXT incorporates certain Microsoft
files in OPENSTEP for Windows NT and in Release 3.0 of the WebObjects product line, Adobe Systems
incorporated’s Display PostScript software in OPENSTEP and certain OPENSTEP-based applications and
UNIX software in OPENSTEP for Mach. There can be no assurance that these and other third-party
technology licenses will continue to be available to NeXT on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Any
required replacement licenses could prove more costly than NeXT’s current license relationships and
might not provide technology as powerful and functional as the third-party technology currently licensed
by NeXT. While it may be necessary or desirable in the future to obtain other licenses relating to one or
more of NeXT's products or relating to current or future technologies, there can be no assurance that
NeXT will be able to do so on commercially reasonable terms or at all. The loss of or inability to maintain
any of these technology licenses could result in delays or reductions in product shipments until equivalent
technology could be identified, licensed and integrated, which could have a material adverse effect on
NeXT's business, results of operations or financial condition. In addition, NeXT pays royalties under its
licenses with third parties. Under the terms of the license agreements, the royalty payments are subject
to audit by the third-party licensor, and any such audit may result in additional royaities owed by NeXT,
which, if material, could have an adverse effect on NeXT's results of operations. See ‘'— Dependence on
Proprietary Technology; Intellectual Property" and ‘‘Business — Strategic Relationships’ and "— intei-
lectual Property Rights."*

Dependence on Government Market

NeXT has derived a large portion of its revenues to date from sales and services provided to federal,
state and local government agencies which accounted for approximately 8.0% and 15.2% of total
revenue for 1995 and for the nine months ended September 30, 1996, respectively. Given the scope of
the initiatives typical of a government contract, these contracts are generally large in nature and one
contract may constitute a significant portion of the Company's revenues in any given period. See
"'— Fluctuations in Quarterly Results; Seasonality.” Although NeXT believes that its new products and
expanded sales force and distribution channels will enable it to further diversify its customéer base, NeXT
expects that, for the foreseeable future, the percentage of its revenues attributable to customers in
federal, state and local government agencies will continue to be substantial.

Demand for NeXT’s product and services by federal, state and local government agencies is directly
reiated to the level of funding for such agencies. There can be no assurance that these agencies will have
the available resources to do business with NeXT, that such agencies will continue to be funded even if
resources are available or that such agencies will to continue to purchase NeXT's products or services. In
addition, NeXT's contracts with federal, state and local government agencies generally include provisions
which permit the govemment agency to terminate the contract at its convenience. The loss of
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govemment customers or a reduction in sales and services provided to govemment agencies could have
a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of operations or financial condition.

Risk of Missing Customer Project Requirements

NeXT actively consults with and supports its customers in managing and implementing their
application projects. Although it is NeXT's policy not to take responsibility for project management or for
guaranteeing the specified functionality of project deliverables, from time to time, NeXT may commit to
certain delivery schedules or specifications. in addition, NeXT’s customers could cancel their orders or
terminate their contracts for products or services with NeXT. Nonfulfiliment of delivery schedules or an
inability to meet product or project specifications by NeXT could result in, among other things,
cancellation of contracts, penalties or discounting of the purchase price or a delay in receipt of revenues,
any of which could have a material adverse effect on NeXT’s business, results of operations or financial

condition.

Product Liability

NeXT markets its products and services to customers for the development, deployment and
management of critical business applications. NeXT has included in its products an implementation of the
Secure Sockets Layer (“SSL"), a security protocol which operates in conjunction with encryption and
authentication technology licensed from RSA Data Security, inc. Despite the existence of this technology,
NeXT's products may be vulnerable to break-ins and similar disruptive problems caused by Intemet/Web
users. Such computer break-ins and similar disruptive problems would jeopardize the security of
information stored in and transmitted through the computer systems of end users of NeXT's products,
which may result in significant liability claims against NeXT and may also deter potential customers.
Alleviating problems caused by third parties may require significant expenditures of capital and resources
by NeXT and may cause interruptions, delays or cessation of service to NeXT's customers; such
expenditures and interruptions could have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of
operations or financial condition. Moreover, the security and privacy concerns of existing and potential
customers, as well as concems related to computer viruses, may inhibit the growth of the interet/Web
marketplace generally, and NeXT's customer base and revenues in particular.

NeXT's license agreements with its customers typically contain provisions designed to limit NeXT's
exposure to potential liability claims. NeXT may not, however, always be able to obtain adequate
contractual limitations on liability from its customers and end users and, in any event, such provisions
may not be effective as a result of existing or future federal, state or local laws or ordinances or
unfavorable judicial decisions. in addition, although NeXT maintains product liability insurance to protect
against these risks, there can be no assurance that such insurance will continue to be available to NeXT
on commercially reasonable terms or at all, or that such insurance will be sufficient to protect NeXT from
such rigks. Although NeXT has not experienced any material product liability claims to date, the sale and
support of NeXT's products may entail the risk of such claims, which could be significant. A successful
product liability claim brought against NeXT could have a material adverse effect upon NeXT’s business,
results of operations or financial condition.

Risks Associated with intemational Operations

In 1994, 1995 and the nine months ended September 30, 1996, NeXT derived 15.1%, 19.2% and
20.0%, respectively, of its total revenues from sales to customers outside of the United States and
Canada. NeXT intends to expand its operations outside of the United States and Canada and enter
international markets, which will require significant management attention and financial resources.
NeXT's ability to expand the acceptance and use of its core technologies internationally is limited by the
general acceptance of the Internet/Web and intranets in other countries. In addition, the use of
encryption technologies in NeXT's products could subject such products to export and/or import
restrictions. Any such export or import limitations could have a material adverse effect on the ability to sell
NeXT'’s products internationally. NeXT expects to commit additional time and development resources to
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customizing its products for selected international markets and developing international sales and
support channels. There can be no assurance that such efforts will be successful. As NeXT increases its
international sales, its total revenues may also be affected to a greater extent by seasonal fiuctuations
resulting from lower international sales that typically occur during the summer months. Furthermore,
international sales are generally made in U.S. dollars. NeXT has not engaged, and currently does not
intend to engage, in foreign currency hedging activities, and intemational revenues are currently subject
to currency exchange fluctuation risk. if NeXT's intérnational revenues increase as a percentage of total
revenues in the future, its foreign currency exposure may increase. See ‘‘Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.’

Unknown Costs Associated with Discontinued Operations

in late 1992, NeXT discontinued its workstation business, and in 1993 NeXT sold certain assets
associated with the workstation business to Canon. Aithough NeXT established a reserve of approxi-
mately $20 million (of which approximately $5.8 million is remaining) that NeXT believed was adequate
for the cost of disposing the workstation business, including any unknown contingent expenses
associated with the workstation business, there can be no assurance that unforeseen expenses will not
occur, which, if material, could have a material adverse effect on NeXT's results of operations or financial
condition. For exampie, NeXT's former manufacturing facility in Fremont, California underwent minor
environmental cleanup and there can be no assurance that there will not be further expenses arising from
NeXT's prior use of the facility. In addition, there can be no assurance that environmentat or other lawsuits
will not arise from NeXT's discontinuance of the workstation business. If any such lawsuits, individually or
in the aggregate, result in expenses or damages that are in excess of NeXT's reserve, NeXT's business,
results of operations or financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. See *‘— Environ-
mental Regulations."’

Dependence on Sole Supplier

NeXT is dependent upon Bindco Corporation (*‘Bindco”) to duplicate substantially all of its disks
and to package and assemble substantially all of its finished products for worldwide distribution. To date,
NeXT has not experienced any material difficulties or significant delays in the filling of any of its orders
due to delays by Bindco. However, if there were a significant failure by Bindco to perform duplication
services for NeXT on a timely basis or if NeXT were to lose Bindco as a supplier before NeXT could make
arrangements with alternate suppliers, which NeXT believes could take as long as ten weeks to complete,
NeXT could incur delays or reductions in the shipment of its products. These delays or reductions could
damage customer relationships or otherwise have a material adverse effect on NeXT’s business, results
of operations or financial condition.

Government Regulation and Legal Uncertainties

NeXT is not currently subject to direct regulation by any governmental agency in the United States,
other than regulations applicable to business generally, and there are currently few laws or regulations
directly applicable to access to or commerce on the Intemet/Web. Due to the increasing popularity and
use of the Intemet/Web, however, it is possible that a number of laws and regulations may be adopted
with respect to the intemet/Web, covering issues such as user privacy, pricing and characteristics and
quality of products and services. The adoption of any such laws or regulations may decrease the growth
of the Interet/Web, which could in tum decrease the demand for NeXT's WebObijects products and
increase NeXT's cost of doing business or otherwise have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business,
results of operations and financial condition. Moreover, the applicability to the internet/Web of existing
laws governing issues such as property ownership, libel and personal privacy is uncertain. See
“‘Business — Government Regulation."

Business Interruptions and Dependence on a Single U.S. Facility

NeXT’s primary operations, including product development, technical support, computer operations,
sales, marketing, distribution and general administration, are housed in a single facility in Redwood City,
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California. NeXT currently does not maintain off-site backup facilities for its computer records. Any
material disruption in NeXT's operations, whether due to computer failure, fire, earthquake, natural
disaster or otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of operations or

financial condition. See ‘‘Business — Facilities."

Environmental Regulations

NeXT is subject to a variety of federal, state and local govemmental regulations related to the use,
storage, discharge and disposal of toxic, volatile or otherwise hazardous chemicals with respect to
properties owned or leased by NeXT. Although NeXT does not currently use significant amounts of toxic
materials in the operation of its business, toxic materials could be found on the property currently
occupied by NeXT. Whether or not NeXT is responsible for any such contamination, NeXT could be found
liable as a tenant of the property and could be required to expend significant funds for the cleanup of the
contamination, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations or
financial condition of NeXT. See ‘— Unknown Costs Associated with Discontinuing the Hardware
Business' and ‘‘Business — Facilities."

Concentration of Stock Ownership

Upon completion of the offerings, Steven P. Jobs, Canon and H. Ross Perot will beneficially own
approximately %, % and %, respectively, of the outstanding Common Stock (assuming no
exercise of the Underwriters’ over-allotment options) and %, % and %, respectively, of the
outstanding Common Stock (assuming exercise of the Underwriters’' over-aliotment options). The
present directors, executive officers, holders of 5% or more of the Common Stock, and their respective
affiliates (including Mr. Jobs) will beneficially own approximately % of the outstanding Common
Stock (assuming no exercise of the Underwriters’ over-aliotment options) and % of the outstanding
Common Stock (assuming exercise of the Underwriters' over-allotment options). As a result, these
sharehoiders will be able to exercise significant influence over all matters requiring shareholder approval,
including the election of directors and approval of significant corporate transactions. Such concentration
of ownership may also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of NeXT. See
“Principal Shareholders” and “‘Description of Capital Stock."’

No Prior Public Market; Possible Volatility of Stock Price

Prior to the offerings, there has been no public market for NeXT's Common Stock, and there can be
no assurance that an active public market for the Common Stock will develop or be sustained after the
offerings. The initial public offering price will be determined by negotiation between NeXT and the
Underwriters based upon several factors. See *'Underwriting” for a discussion of the factors to be
considered in determining the initial public offering price. The market price of the Common Stock is likely
to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to quarterly variations in
operating resuits, announcements of technological innovations or new products by NeXT or its competi-
tors, changes in financial estimates by securities analysts, the operating and stock price performance of
other companies that investors may deem comparable to NeXT or other events or factors. In addition, the
stock market has experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the
market price of equity securities of many high technology companies and that have been unrelated to the
operating performance of such companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations may adversely
affect the market price of NeXT's Common Stock, regardiess of NeXT's operating performance. Further,
following periods of volatility in the market price of a company's securities, securities class action
litigation has often been instituted against such a company. Such litigation could resuit in substantial
costs and a diversion of management's attention and resources, which would have a material adverse
effect on NeXT's business, results of operations and financial condition.
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Uncertainty as to Use of Proceeds

As of the date of this Prospectus, NeXT has no specific plans to use the net proceeds from the
offerings other than for the payment of certain debt and for working capital and general corporate
purposes. Accordingly, NeXT's management will retain broad discretion as to the allocation of a
substantial portion of the net proceeds from the offerings. Pending such uses, NeXT plans to invest the
net proceeds in government securities and other short-term, investment-grade, interest-bearing securi-
ties. See “‘Use of Proceeds.”

Shares Eligible for Future Sale

Sales of a substantial number of shares of Common Stock in the public market following the offerings
could adversely affect the market price for the Common Stock. See *Description of Capital Stock" and
**Shares Eligible for Future Sale."

Anti-takeover Effects of Charter Documents; Outstanding Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors has the authority to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock and to
determine the price, rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions, including voting rights, of those
shares without any further vote or action by the shareholders. The rights of the holders of Common Stock
will be subject to, and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders of any Preferred Stock that
may be issued in the future. The issuance of Preferred Stock, while providing desirable flexibility in
connection with possible acquisitions and other corporate purposes, could have the effect of making it
more difficult for a third party to acquire a majority of the outstanding voting stock of NeXT. NeXT has no
present plans to issue shares of Preferred Stock. Further, certain provisions of NeXT's Articles of
incorporation and of NeXT’s Bylaws could delay or make difficult a merger, tender offer or proxy contest
involving NeXT. See ‘‘Description of Capital Stock — Preferred Stock” and **— Certain Anti-takeover
Provisions.”

Dilution

Investors in the offerings will incur immediate, substantial dilution. To the extent outstanding options
to purchase NeXT's Common Stock are exercised, there will be further dilution. See '‘Dilution.”
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THE COMPANY

NeXT develops, markets and supports software that enables customers to easily and quickiy
implement business applications on the Intemet/Web, intranets and enterprise-wide client/server
networks. NeXT provides customers with standards-based solutions that offer a unique combination of
functionality, scalabiiity, reliability and performance. NeXT's WebObjects product line is designed to aliow
the rapid development of dynamic, server-based applications for the Internet/Web and intranets that
enable organizations to extend their market presence, to enhance their customer interactions and to
improve worktorce productivity. NeXT's OPENSTEP product line enables the deveiopment and deploy-
ment of dynamic business applications on more traditional client/server networks, especially applications
that require sophisticated user interfaces or the ablility to support complex, high-volume transaction
processing. Both WebObjects and OPENSTEP are designed to enable organizations to integrate their
existing applications and databases, significantly reduce the time and effort spent on application
development and deployment and take greater advantage of the opportunities offered by the in-
ternet/Web, intranets and enterprise-wide client/server networks.

NeXT believes that there are significant market opportunities created by both the tremendous growth
of the Internet/Web and intranets and the continuing growth of more traditional enterprise-wide
client/server networks within organizations. NeXT’s technology enables customers to develop dynamic
business applications and NeXT believes that one of its principal competitive advantages derives from its
long-term investments in object-oriented technologies. Unlike the products offered by many In-
ternet/Web companies, NeXT's product lines share a technological foundation that has been developed,
deployed, tested and proven in the enterprise business solutions market over the past decade.
Furthermore, as the internet/Web and client/server technologies converge, NeXT believes that it is well
positioned to deliver to its customers software and services that enable comprehensive business
applications.

NeXT's objective is to become the leading provider of dynamic network application software
products and services used by organizations to provide their customers, employees and business
partners with enhanced service and greater access to business applications and information through the
internet/ Web, intranets and enterprise-wide client/ server networks. The key elements of NeXT’s strategy
are to (i) maintain technology leadership by continuing to invest significant resources in technology,
(i) target the convergence of the intemet/Web, intranet and enterprise-wide client/server markets with
product lines that integrate with customers' existing applications and databases, (i) expand direct and
indirect sales channels on a giobal basis, (iv) foster the success of customer application development
efforts through its team of highly trained software engineers providing consulting and training services
and technical support, and (v) develop complementary and value-added products based on industry
standards.

To pursue customer opportunities worldwide, NeXT employs a direct sales force and professional
services organization, augmented by the use of multiple indirect distribution channels, including VARs,
system integrators, intemet service providers and software developers. NeXT's sales strategy is aimed at
building relationships with large and mid-sized customers for continued sales and support of NeXT's
software products and services, and with VARs, system integrators, Internet service providers and
software developers to extend the market presence of NeXT and its software products and services.
NeXT is also continuing to engage in and further evaluate certain relationships with large intemet/Web
and client/server software companies, including Microsoft and Netscape, to expand its market presence
and to provide flexible and integrated solutions to such companies' customers. in addition, NeXT has
established a professional services organization in order to provide a high level of professional services
and support to its customers, including consulting engineering, training and technical support.

Since 1993, NeXT has licensed its software to over 2,000 customers, including AT&T Wireless
Services, BBN Planet, British Telecom, Cablevision Systems Corporation, Dow Jones Telerate, Inc.,
Fannie Mae, Lufthansa Technik AG, MCI, NTT, Nissan, Sabre,SwissBank and U.S. West Communications,
Inc.
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NeXT was incorporated in California as “NeXT, Inc.” in 1985, and, in 1995, NeXT's name was
changed to “NeXT Software, inc.” NeXT's executive offices are located at 900 Chesapeake Drive,
Redwood City, California 94063, and its telephone number is (415) 366-0900.

NeXT, the NeXT cube logo, NEXTSTEP and OPENSTEP are registered trademarks of NeXT and
WebObjects is a trademark of NeXT. All other tradenames and trademarks appearing in this Prospectus
are the property of their respective holders.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

Based on an assumed Initial public offering price of $16.00 per share, NeXT will receive approxi-
mately $72.0 million from the sale of shares of Common Stock to be sold by NeXT pursuant to the
offerings (approximately $83.2 million if the Underwriters' over-aflotment options are exercised in full)
after deducting the estimated underwriting discount and offering expenses payable by NeXT.

NeXT intends to use the net proceeds of the offerings for repayment of $9,000,000 of indebtedness
to Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York (*“Morgan Guaranty") (which debt bears interest at
prime rate, which was 8.25% as of September 30, 1996, is due on demand, and was incurred for working
capital and general corporate purposes), and for working capital and general corporate purposes. NeXT
may also apply a portion of the net proceeds of the offerings to acquire business, products and
technologies that are complementary to those of NeXT. Although NeXT has not identified any specific
businesses, products or technologies that it may acquire, nor are there any current agreements or
negotiations with respect to any such transaction, NeXT evaluates such opportunities from time to time.
Pending such uses, the net proceeds will be invested in govemmental securities and other short-term,
investment-grade, interest-bearing instruments.

Additional purposes of the offerings are to increase NeXT'’s equity capital, to create a public market
for the Common Stock, to facilitate future access by NeXT to public equity markets, to provide liquidity for
NeXT's existing shareholders and to provide increased visibility of NeXT in a marketplace where many of
its competitors are publicly held companies.

DIVIDEND POLICY

NeXT has not declared or paid cash dividends on its capital stock and does not intend to pay any
cash dividends in the foreseeable future. NeXT's term loan agreement dated July 27, 1992, as amended,
with Canon prohibits NeXT from paying or declaring any dividends on its capital stock. Future dividends,
if any, will be determined by the Board of Directors.
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DILUTION

The pro forma net tangible book value of NeXT as of September 30, 1996 was $(19,016,000), or
$(1.08) per share of Common Stock. *‘Pro forma net tangible book value™ per share represents the net
tangible book value (tangible assets less total liabilities) divided by the number of shares of Common
Stock outstanding. After giving effect to the sale by NeXT of the 5,000,000 shares of Common Stock in
the offerings at an assumed public offering price of $16.00 per share (after deducting the estimated
underwriting discount and offering expenses payable by NeXT), the adjusted pro forma net tangible book
value of NeXT as of September 30, 1996 would have been $52,984,000, or $2.34 per share. This

represents an immediate increase in the pro forma net tangible book value of $ per share to
existing shareholders and an immediate dilution of $ per share to new investors purchasing
shares of Common Stock in the offerings.
Assumed initial public offering price pershare ............ccvviiirennnnn.. $ 16.00
Pro forma net tangible book value per share before the offerings .......... $ (1.08)
Increase per share attributable to newinvestors............ccovvevvvinnn. $ 342
Pro forma net tangibie book value per share after the offerings............... 2.34
Dilution per share to new investors ........ccoiiiinniinirinennineeeinnnnnns $ 13.66

The foliowing table sets forth, on a pro forma basis as of September 30, 1996, the number of shares
of Common Stock purchased, the consideration paid and the average price per share paid to NeXT by
existing shareholders and by investors purchasing shares of Common Stock in the offerings at an
assumed initial public offering price of $16.00 per share (before deducting estimated underwriting

discount and offering expenses).

Shares Purchased Total Consideration Avorage
Number Percent Amount Percent Per Share
Existing shareholders ............... 17,668,015 779% §$ % $
New investors ..................... 5,000,000 22.1% 80,000,000 16.00
Total .ovvvniiiiia., 22,668,015 100.0% 100.0%

The foregoing tables assume no exercise of stock options outstanding at September 30, 1996. As of
September 30, 1996, there were options outstanding to purchase a total of shares of Common
Stock at a weighted average exercise price of $ per share, of which options to purchase
shares at a weighted average exercise price of $ per share were exercisable, and shares

reserved for grant of future options under NeXT's stock plans. To the extent that any of these options are
exercised, there will be further dilution to new investors. See "'Capitalization,"" '*Management — Stock
Plans" and Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth, as of September 30, 1996, (i) the actual capitalization and short-term
debt of NeXT, (ii) the pro forma capitalization of NeXT adjusted to reflect the automatic conversion of all
outstanding shares of Preferred Stock into 13,235,800 shares of Common Stock upon the effectiveness
of the Registration Statement of which this Prospectus is a part, the conversion of certain amounts owed
to Canon under a term loan agreement into 1,896,639 shares of Common Stock and the conversion of
certain amounts owed to MLBPS under a line of credit into 537,634 shares of Common Stock (in each
case at an assumed conversion price of $14.88 per share) and (iii) the pro forma as adjusted
capitalization of NeXT giving effect to the sale by NeXT of the 5,000,000 shares of Common Stock in the
offerings at an assumed initial public offering price of $16.00 per share (after deduction of the estimated
underwriting discount and expenses of the offerings). See *“Use of Proceeds” and ‘“'Certain

Transactions."’

September 30, 1096
Pro Forma
Actusl Pro Forma As Adjusted
(in thousands)
Notes payable, short-term(1) .......ccvvevrienrennnnn.. $ 47,252
Long-term capital lease obligations(2) ..........cc.vuuen.. $ 179 $ 179 $ 179
Shareholders’ deficit:
Preferred Stock, no par value; 26,612,000 shares authorized,
13,222,250 shares issued and outstanding, actual;
5,000,000 shares authorized, none issued and
outstanding, pro forma and as adjusted.................. 215,167 —_ -
Common stock, no par value; 100,000,000 shares
authorized, actual, pro forma and as adjusted; 1,997,933
shares issued and outstanding, actual; 17,668, 015 shares
issued and outstanding, pro forma; 22 668 015 shares
issued and outstanding, as adjusted(S) ................ 2,610 253,999 325,998
Paid-in capital —warrants ..........c..cvvvvnneerennnn. 400 400 400
Notes receivable from shareholders ..................... (10) (10) (10)
Accumulated equity (deficit) ............ccoivvininnn.. {273,405) (273,405 (273,405
Total sharehoiders’ equity (deficit) ............... $ (55,238) (19,016) 52,984
Total capitalization...........cccvvvviieenennnn.. $ s55!059) $18,840) $53,163
(1) See Note 4 to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(2) See Note 5 to Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
(3) Excludes as of September 30, 1986, shares of Common Stock issuable upon exercise of
outstanding stock options as of September 30, 1996 at a weighted average exercise price of
$ per share and shares reserved for grant of future options under NeXT's stock plans.

See “‘Management — Stock Plans” and Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’' and the consolidated financial
statements, notes thereto and other financial information included elsewhere in this Prospectus. The consolidated
statement of operations data for the years ended December 31, 1993, 1994 and 1995, and the consolidated
balance sheet data at December 31, 1994 and 1995 are derived from, and are qualified by reference to, the audited
consolidated financial statements included eisewhere in this Prospectus. The consolidated statement of operations
data for the years ended December 31, 1991 and 1992 and the consolidated balance sheet data at December 31,
1991, 1992 and 1993 are derived from NeXT's audited consolidated financial statements that do not appear herein.
The consolidated statement of operations data for the nine months ended September 30, 1995 and 1996 and the
balance sheet data as of September 30, 1995 and 1996 are derived from unaudited consolidated financial
statements included elsewhere in this Prospectus and that include, in the opinion of management, all adjustments,
consisting of only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for a fair statement of the results of the unaudited interim
periods. ghe financial results for the nine months ended September 30, 1996 are not necessarily indicative of the
results to be expected for any other interim period or the entire year. The historical results are not necessarily
indicative of the results of operations to be expected in the future.

Nine Months Ended
Year Ended December 31, September 30,
1901(1)  1982(1) 1963 1964 1895 19985 1996
(in thousands, exoept per share data) {unaudited)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues:

AT CNEING .+« v« e veeeevrnanseenes - — $10076 $ 25804 26762 § 19285  § 22498
SOIVICES ..cocvvrecusnrcracnnncccaens Sae -_— -_ 2,359 3,759 10,672 7.524 13,180
Technology licensin: s — - 17.554 7,543 75
Research and devegpmem contracts........ - -— 1,800 2.3 1,829 1,829 195

Total revenues........ccceeevnecases —_— -_ 14,273 49,597 46,806 36,148 35,895
Cost of Revenues:
Software licensing. .....cccoeeeerecrccncnas —_ - 4,007 5,136 2,895 1.992
SOIVICES . ovovvnenrcsesnsnraonnnenns ves -— - 4612 4,265 8,011 5,647 10,349
Technology Iioenstg‘g ................. —_ _— — 194 20 —
and development contracts. . . _ — 1.667 1,393 365 365 71
Total cost of revenues ...........cn.. — — 10,286 10988 11479 8,212 12,691
GrogsS MANGIN .. ..cvvvnrenonncccsesnseeanes _— -— 3,887 38,609 35,327 27.936 23,204
Operating Expenses:
Research and development ................ -— —_— 8,944 10,655 12,412 9,074 9,367
Sales and marketing........ccoovncersonces - _ 26,15 20,582 17.158 12,190 18,334
General and administrative ................. - — 5,240 4,7 5,628 4,142 4,184
Total operating expenses ............ — —_ 40,334 35,981 35,198 25,406 31,885
Operating income (loss) from continuing
0 g UL 223 5 I S e L -— - (36.347) 2,628 129 2530 (8.681)
Other income (expense):
Interest, MeL ........oereemnnencnsnnesannns — -_— (3,107 (1.595) (2,089 (1523 (2,136
Foreign exchange gain (loss) .............. - - 643 54 48 (43 (246
Other, NBl....ceecevecesseracsensosanasssse - - 122 17 67 11 8
Income (loss) from continuing operations
before income taxes ........cccoceuees —_— — (40,219) 1,104 (1,541) a75 (11,055)
INCOMB tAXBS ..o vvvverrerenncerancnncssasons - - 3 74 9 53 5
Income (loss) from continuing operations . . -_— -_— 40,222 1.030 1.550 9 11
Disoonﬂnued(opet)aﬁons: 9 ( ! ( ) 2 (11.060)
Operating ()locs) Rl T e T, 8 $(64,024) $(46,081) - - — —_ —_
Gain (loss) on disposal of discontinued
OPBAtONS ......ccvoccecnevnncncaconsas — ‘19.996) - — 750 —_— —
Net income (1088) ........coeovenen. $(64.024) 566.0 ) 5;40.222) $ 700 § (800) § 921 §g11 060)
Pro forma net income (loss) per share(2) ..... § 010 § 005 § (0.72)
Pro forma weighted average number of shares
outslmdmgiZ) ........................... 14,948 17,7563 15,220
Balance Sheet Dats
(at period end):
and cash equivalents. .......cocveeevens $ 13982 $ 266862 $ 8073 $ 2310 $ 2903 $ 2088
{?J&‘:{H;" capits el | e T 18 gg? 1(11';39 (16 ?%) (12 gég (443.1:5 4 338 58 533
Tosmoate ol e e e %3:476) 14.3;;’ ‘15:%3’ ‘153.;;;’
Toral. Coquity (QERGIy o+ rvri.. 6473  (58532) (7B585) (47.342) (47541) (459980)  (55.238)

(1) All activities in 1991 and 1992 were associated with NeXT's former workstation business, which was discontinued in the
fourth quarter of 1992. Accordingly, all results in 1991 and 1992 have been presented as discontinued operations.

15,670,082 shares of Common Stock resulting from the conversion of convertible preferred stock and debt. Historical net
income (loss) per share has not been presented as it is not meaningful.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

This *‘Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’’ and
other parts of this Prospectus contain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties.
NeXT’s actual results may differ materially from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements.
Factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to, those discussed below and
under the captions ‘‘Risk Factors" and *‘Business."’

Overview

NeXT develops, markets and supports software that enables customers to easily and quickly
implement business applications on the Intemet/Web, intranets and enterprise-wide client/server
networks. Originally founded as a hardware company in 1985, NeXT released the first NeXT Computer in
1989, which operated using NeXTStep, the Company's proprietary operating system and object oriented
development environment. in the fourth quarter of 1992, NeXT discontinued its workstation business to
focus solely on the development and marketing of its object-oriented application development environ-
ment. In connection with this decision, NeXT incurred losses from discontinued operations of $46.1 million
and recorded a $20 million loss associated with the disposal of the exited business. This loss included
charges associated with future potential liabilities.

Beginning in 1993, NeXT's new focus and strategy was to make its proprietary NEXTSTEP operating
system and object-oriented application development environment available on all major UNIX platforms.
By supporting industry standards, the NeXTStep software product line (used to develop and deploy
complex enterprise-wide business applications) could be more easily integrated with businesses’
existing technology. Towards this end, NeXT formed technology and marketing relationships with
Hewlett-Packard, Sun and Digital in 1983 and 1994. One of the most significant of these technology
licensing agreements was entered into in November 1993 with Sun Microsystems. Sun licensed the right
to port NeXTStep to the Solaris UNIX-based operating system. NeXT recognized, in connection with this
agreement, $17.5 million in 1984 and $7.5 million in 1995 in license and distribution fees. These strategic
partnerships in addition to a previous relationship with Intel Corporation (*'Intel”) where both NeXT and
the hardware providers shared in the cost of porting and development, resulted in NeXTStep becoming
avallable on many major platforms including HP-UX and Solaris Operating systems and the Sparc PA-
RISC and Intel's 486 and pentium processors.

In August 1995, NeXT announced two planned additions to its product line and further refined the
Company’s focus. First, NeXTStep would be made available on Microsoft's Windows NT operating
system. This product was commercially released under the name OPENSTEP for Windows NT on June
30, 1996. NeXT aiso announced plans for the WebObijects product line. WebObijects, which is based on
the same technological foundation that underlies the NeXTStep and OPENSTEP product lines, is used to
build dynamic interet/web-based applications that integrate with existing business logic across the
enterprise. WebObjects was released on March 31, 1986. From commercial release of WebObjects in the
first quarter of 1996 and OpenStep in the second quarter of 1996, NeXT has recognized a total of $10.1
million in software revenues or 45% of total software licensing revenue through September 30, 1996.

Factors Affecting Operating Resuits

NeXT’s OPENSTEP and WebObjects product lines provide a platform for NeXT to address the
changing requirements of companies that are developing applications for use within client/server
computing environments as well as on the intemet/Web and intranets. As a result of NeXT's emphasis on
the commercialization of open software, NeXT expects to dedicate less time and resources to developing,
distributing and marketing its proprietary NEXTSTEP product line than it has in the past, and further
expects revenues relating to NEXTSTEP products and related services to decline. From 1993 through
1895, revenues relating to NEXTSTEP products and related services accounted for all of NeXT’s total
revenues. in the nine months ended September 30, 1896, NEXTSTEP products and services accounted
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for 38.7% of total revenues. if NeXT does not receive revenues from its OPENSTEP and WebObijects
product lines and related services sufficient to offset the expected decline in revenues attributable to its
NEXTSTEP products and related services, NeXT’s revenues and net income will decline from historical
levels, and NeXT's business, operating results and financial condition will be materially and adversely
affected.

NeXT believes that the client/server software.business served by its NEXTSTEP and OPENSTEP
product lines has a number of significant differences from the internet/Web-based software business
served by NeXT's WebObijects product line. NeXT's client/server software business has been historically
characterized by long sales cycles, large initial sales orders, more complex applications, a limited number
of customers per quarter, a very high mix of software revenues versus services revenues, long product
development cycles of typically nine months to one year and higher royalty payments to third parties for
embedded technology. Further, sales of NeXT's client/server software have been predominantly made to
large institutions and the United States govemment. Conversely, the Internet/Web-based software
business is characterized by relatively shorter sales cycles, lower prices per product with profitability
more dependent on achieving volume sales, smaller initial sales orders per customer, less complex
applications, a higher number of customers per quarter, a higher services component of revenues for the
initial installation, short product development cycles of typically three months and lower royalty payments
to third parties for embedded technology. in addition, although NeXT has only sold its WebObjects
product line since March 1996, sales during that time have been made to companies of many different
sizes in a variety of industries. The intranet software business is a combination of the client/server and
intemet/Web-based software businesses. In certain circumstances, depending upon the complexity of
the application, the transactional volume and the sophistication of the user interface, the intranet software
business has characteristics that more closely resemble the client/server software business, and in other
instances, the intranet software business has characteristics that more closely resemble the In-
termet/Web-based software business.

NeXT believes that the market for client/server software products and the market for Internet/Web-
based solutions will eventually converge as enterprises adopt HTTP-based software intranet information
systems for most internal and external communications. if the markets for these products converge, sales
of NeXT's OPENSTEP product lines could be materially and adversely affected. If the markets for these
products do not converge and NeXT is required to focus its resources on one market, NeXT's business,
operating results or financial condition couid be materially and adversely affected if the market on which it
does not focus its resources becomes the predominant market.

To date, only a limited number of NeXT's customers have developed and deployed Internet/Web
applications using NeXT's WebObjects software. NeXT expects that its future revenues will depend to a
significant degree on the market acceptance of its recently introduced products and enhanced versions
of its products, and its ability to successfully develop, introduce and obtain market acceptance for new
and enhanced versions of products within the WebObjects and OPENSTEP product lines. NeXT began
shipping Release 3.0 of its WebObjects product line in October 1996. in addition, by the end of 1996,
NeXT intends to offer an add-on to WebObjects to enable Java developers to write server-based
WebObjects applications entirely in Java to take advantage of the scalability, database access and
performance available in WebObjects. There can be no assurance that this product, or any of NeXT's
recently introduced or future products and product enhancements will achieve market acceptance, and
any failure to do so could have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of operations and
financial condition.

For the reasons set forth above, in particular the limited history of NeXT in its targeted markets, the
lengthy and uncertain sales cycle for many of NeXT’s products and the expected increase in revenues
derived from sales of WebObjects products as a percentage of total revenues, NeXT's future revenues
are difficult to predict. NeXT's expense levels, which are to a large extent fixed, are based in part on
NeXT's expectations as to future revenues. NeXT may be unable to adjust spending in a timely manner to
compensate for any unexpected revenue shortfall. As a result, any significant shortfall of demand for
NeXT’s products and services in relation to NeXT's expectations would have an immediate material
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adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of operations and financial condition. NeXT believes that
period-to-period comparisons of its results of operations are not necessarily meaningful and should not be
relied upon as any indication of its future performance. There can be no assurance that NeXT will be able
to achieve significant revenues or that the level of revenues in the future will not decrease from past

levels.

NeXT'’s overall gross margins have been and may continue to be impacted by the mix of software
licensing revenues, services revenues, technology licensing revenues and research and development
contracts revenues, the mix of software products and services sold, the mix of distribution channels used
by NeXT, and the mix of intemational versus domestic revenues. NeXT typically realizes higher gross
margins on direct sales than on sales through indirect channels, higher gross margins on technology
licensing revenues than on software licensing revenues, higher gross margins on software licensing
revenues than on services revenues and higher gross margins on domestic sales than on international
sales. If revenues through indirect channels and intemational sales increase as a percentage of total
revenues, as NeXT anticipates, or if software licensing revenues or services revenues increase as a
percentage of total revenues, NeXT's overall gross margins will be adversely affected. Gross margins in
the future may also be adversely affected due to price reductions, especially those made as a resuit of
competitive pressures. NeXT also does not anticipate that it will continue to generate significant
technology licensing revenues, which disproportionately contributed to NeXT’s overall gross margins in
1994 and 1995. In addition, there can be no assurance that any future products introduced by NeXT will
have gross margins equal to or better than NeXT's existing products.

NeXT’s operating expenses have generally increased in absolute dollar amounts each quarter since
January 1, 1995. This trend reflects NeXT's investment in the infrastructure required to be a complete
enterprise solution provider. NeXT plans to increase its operating expenses to expand its sales and
marketing operations, diversify its distribution channels, fund greater levels of research and development,
broaden its customer support and consulting services capabillities, expand its administrative infrastruc-
ture and incur other significant costs related to being a public company. In addition, since 1994, NeXT's
Chief Executive Officer, Steven P. Jobs, has received an annual salary of only one dollar. As it is likely that
NeXT will seek to hire another person to perform the functions of this position, it is likely NeXT will incur
significant additional costs in future periods. Furthermore, NeXT's current operating expense levels are
based in part on its expectations of future revenues. Accordingly, to the extent that any such expenses
precede or are not subsequently followed by an increase in revenues, NeXT's business, operating results
and.financial condition will be materially and adversely affected.

Significant Accounting Policies

Software licensing revenues are generally recognized upon shipment, provided that no significant
obligations of NeXT remain and coilection of the resulting receivable is deemed probable. Product returns
and sales allowances (which have not been significant through September 30, 1996) are estimated and
provided at the time of sale. Revenues attributable to ongoing maintenance and support are recognized
ratably over the term of the maintenance agreement, which is typically twelve months. Payments for
maintenance fees are generally made in advance and are non-refundable. Services revenues from training
and consulting are recognized when the services are performed or ratably over the life of the agreement.
Revenues from technology licensing are recognized upon release of the rights to the technology or
achievement of agreed-upon milestones or contractually committed dates. Research and development
contracts revenues, which are generally nonrefundable, are recognized upon achievement of agreed-
upon milestones. See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Research and development expenditures have been charged to operations as incurred. Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“‘FAS") 86 requires capitalization of certain software development
costs subsequent to the establishment of technological feasibility. Based on NeXT’s product develop-
ment process, technological feasibility is established upon completion of a working modet. Costs incurred
by NeXT between compiletion of the working model and the point at which the product is ready for
general release have been insignificant.
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in October 1995, FAS 123, Accounting for Stock Based Compensation, was issued and was adopted
by NeXT on January 1, 1996. NeXT intends to continue to account for employee stock options in
accordance with APB Opinion No. 25 and provide footnote disclosure of the pro forma amounts of
compensation expense using the guidance in FAS 123. See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements.
Resuits of Operations
The following table sets forth certain operational data as a percentage of total revenues.
Nine Months
Year Ended Ended
— December 31, September 30,
1963 1004 1008 1905 1623
Revenues:
Software HCensiNg .......couvevieeierercencancasacressrasscensassnas 706 % 522% 572 % 534% 627 %
SBIVICBE . . e vvenrnennesinnsnstaresatstorasanctorasasossnscorsons 165 76 28 208 368
Technology leenBINg . .. ..o oivnniiniercetincancssossenronscessonnons 0.3 35.4 16.1 20.7 —_
Research and development CONtracts ........c.c.veievvecerserronnanans 12.6 4.8 3.9 5.1 0.5
TOlA) FEVBNUBS . ....viiiieieriieraeneensnseneeecsconasnenssnsanss 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
Cost of revenues:
SoRware HCenBING ......coouverviiiirnrenerencereccccanncaarescnons 28.1 104 6.2 55 6.3
SeIVICBS . . ..oiiorvnrnnnnctacrsatocnnononan Gasressssssstecssaancanns 323 8.6 17.1 15.6 289
Technology CeABING . .. ..coveeneiireeietniieereennsrereeennnnnnnn - 0.4 0.4 0.6 -
Research and development CONrBCES .......covvverevnernevrenconennns 11.7 2.8 0.8 1.0 0.2
Total COSt Of FEVeNUES ........covveievininnennenenenranensanns 72.1 22.2 24.5 22.7 354
GrOSS MANGIN . ...vvititieiinieeitinieeessareenasarocscsesasnneenns 279 77.8 75.5 77.3 64.6
Operating expenses:
Research and developmMent . ....ccvvereeieneinerneancereeencnsensnsen 62.7 215 26.5 251 26.1
Sales and MABKOUNG . .....ocveeiererninreineernnnsarosnescssanssneas 183.2 415 36.7 337 51.1
General and adminiStrative ........c.coveeeneiveiinnrnieiennenennennes 36.7 9.5 12.0 11.5 11.6
Total operating @XPensBs ..........cvvvvveienennrneaninnennnnns 282.6 725 75.2 70.3 88.8
Operating income (loss) from continuing operations .................. (254.7) 5.3 0.3 70 (24.2)
Other income (expense):
INBIBBE, MEL. ... ceeretntene et eeeereseesiasreereeseessnnnnnnns (218) (32) (45) (4.2) (59)
Foreign exchange Gain (1088) .............cveeeeeennnreereernneeenns (45) 0.1 (0.1) (o.) (0.7)
O, ML ... itiiiiiiitiiiiiaaeeeeeeseenennsecsssascnscravansnnas (0.8) — 1.0 — —
Income (loss) before income taxes from continuing operations ........ (281.8) 22 (3.3) 27 (30.8)
INCOME RXBS .. ...ueniiiieiiinaniarocasnrererneocnconeeesecncesnans _— 0.1 —_ 0.2 —
Income (loss) from continuing operations .............oeevevnenninas (281.8) 2.1 (3.3) 25 (30.8)
Discontinued operations
OPEMBUNG QAN ....uviitttietenenernneniennnnreerrannnnnseseaenans -— - 16 - -
Gain on disposal of discontinued OPerAUONS ............oevuernvecnes.. — —-— 1.6 - —
NBLINCOME (I088) ......cciiurineirenennireereerovecesrerasnncnnnn (2818)% _21% _(1.7)% _25% (30.8)%

Nine Months Ended September 30, 1995 and 1996
Revenues

Total revenues were $36.1 million and $35.9 million in the nine months ended September 30, 1995
and 1996, respectively. Total revenues reflect the recognition of $7.5 million of revenues under a
technology licensing agreement with Sun in the first nine months of 1995. Technology licensing revenues
recognized in the first nine months of 1986 were immaterial. Total revenues, excluding technology
licensing revenues, increased by $7.2 million, or 25.3%, in the first nine months of 1996 from the same

period of 1995.

Software Licensing Revenues. Software licensing revenues consist of fees from licenses of NeXT's
software products, predominantly in the NEXTSTEP, OPENSTEP and WebObjects product lines. Software
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licensing revenues were $19.3 million and $22.5 million in the nine months ended September 30, 1995
and 1996, respectively. Software licensing revenues increased in the first nine months of 1996 over the
same period in 1995 due primarily to the commercial releases of NeXT's WebObjects product line in
March 1996 and OPENSTEP for Windows NT in June 1996. Prior to 1996, software licensing revenues
consisted almost entirely of licensing fees attributable to the NEXTSTEP product line.

Services Revenues. Services revenues consist of fees for consulting, maintenance, support and
training services. Services revenues were $7.5 miliion and $13.2 million in the nine months ended
September 30, 1995 and 19896, respectively. Services revenues increased in the first nine months of
1996 over the same period in 1995 due primarily to increased consulting, maintenance, support and
training provided to a larger installed base, as well as the introduction in 1996 of new products which
resulted in more services provided.

Technology Licensing Revenues. Technology licensing revenues consist of licensing fees from the
licensing of certain of NeXT's technology to third parties. Technology licensing revenues were $7.5 million
and $11,000 in the nine months ended September 30, 1995 and 1996, respectively. Technology
licensing revenues in the first nine months of 1995 reflect the revenues recognized under the technology
licensing agreement with Sun. NeXT does not anticipate that it will continue to generate significant
technology licensing revenues.

Research and Development Contract Revenues. Research and development contracts revenues
consist of fees generated for the provision of research and development services by NeXT's engineering
department. Research and development contracts revenues were $1.8 million and $195,000 in the nine
months ended September 30, 1995 and 1996, respectively. Research and development contracts
revenues decreased in the first nine months of 1996 over the same period in 1995 since contract work
related to porting NEXTSTEP to major UNIX platforms was substantially completed in 1995. NeXT does
not anticipate that it will continue to generate significant research and development contracts revenues.

International Revenues. Intermational revenues (sales to customers outside of the United States and
Canada) were 19.8% and 20.0% of total revenues in the nine months ended September 30, 1995 and
1996, respectively. intemational sales are generally made in U.S. dollars. NeXT has not engaged in, and
does not intend to engage in, foreign currency hedging activities, and, accordingly, international revenues
are currently subject to currency exchange fluctuation risk. NeXT anticipates that international revenues
will increase as a percentage of total revenues in the future, and, as a result, foreign currency exposure
may increase.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of Software Licensing Revenues. Cost of software licensing revenues consists primarily of the
costs of product media and duplication, manuals, packaging materials and royalties paid for licensed
technology. Cost of software licensing revenues was $2.0 million and $2.3 million in the nine months
ended September 30, 1995 and 1996, respectively, representing 10.3% and 10.1%, respectively, of the
related revenues.

Cost of Services Revenues. Cost of services revenues consists primarily of salaries and other
personnel-related costs incurred in providing maintenance and support, consulting services and training
to customers. Cost of services revenues was $5.6 million and $10.4 million in the nine months ended
September 30, 1995 and 1996, respectively, representing 75.1% and 78.5%, respectively, of the related
revenues. Cost of services revenues increased in dollars and as a percentage of the related revenues in
the first nine months of 1996 over the same period in 1895 due primarily to a significant increase in the
number and training of consulting personnel.

Cost of Technology Licensing Revenues. Cost of technology licensing revenues consists primarily of
the cost of salaries and overhead associated with providing technical assistance. Cost of technology
licensing revenues has been relatively insignificant in all periods.
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Cost of Research and Development Contract Revenues. Cost of research and development
contracts revenues consists primarily of the cost of salaries and overhead associated with the research
and development contracts work. Cost of research and development contracts revenues was $365,000
and $71,000 in the nine months ended September 30, 1995 and 1996, respectively, representing 20.0%
and 36.4%, respectively, of the related revenues.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses consist primarily of
salaries and other personnel-related costs, associated equipment and overhead costs and consulting
fees to support product development. Research and development expenses were $9.1 million and
$9.4 million in the nine months ended September 30, 1995 and 1996, respectively, representing 25.1%
and 26.1%, respectively, of total revenues. Research and development expenses increased in dollars and
as a percentage of total revenues in the first nine months of 1996 over the same period in 1995 due to an
increase in the number of personnel and associated equipment costs to support the concurrent release of
WebObjects and OPENSTEP for Windows NT. NeXT intends to increase the level of research and
development expenses in future periods as NeXT adds additional personnel and related support for the
development of new products and enhancements to existing products.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries (inciud-
ing sales commissions and bonuses) and other personnel-related costs, consulting fees, trade show
expenses, advertising and cost of marketing literature. Sales and marketing expenses were $12.2 million
and $18.3 million in the nine months ended September 30, 1995 and 1996, respectively, representing
33.7% and 51.1%, respaectively, of total revenues. Sales and marketing expenses increased in dollars and
as a percentage of total revenues in the first nine months of 1996 over the same period in the prior year
due to an increase in direct sales personnel, systems engineers and marketing personnel. NeXT believes
that sales and marketing expenses will increase in absolute dollars in future periods.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses consist primarily of
salaries for management and administrative personnel, professional fees and insurance costs. General
and administrative expenses were $4.1 million and $4.2 million in the nine months ended September 30,
1995 and 1996, respectively, representing 11.5% and 11.6%, respectively, of total revenues. General
and administrative expenses were flat in the first nine months of 1996 versus the same period in the prior
year, although ihere was a slight decrease in personnel in the first nine months of 1996, which was offset
by higher legal fees. NeXT expects general and administrative expenses to increase in absoclute dollars in
future periods as NeXT hires for currently unfilled positions and incurs additional costs related to being a
public company, such as expenses related to increased amounts for directors’ and officers’ insurance,
investor relations programs and increased professional fees, and expansion of its administrative staff and
facilities.

Other income (Expense). Other expense consists primarily of interest expense on lines of credit and
leases payable and foreign exchange gains and losses. Other expense was $1.6 million and $2.4 million
in the nine months ended September 30, 1995 and 1996, respectively. Other expense increased in the
first nine months of 1996 as compared to the same period of the prior year due to increases in the
utilization of lines of credit to fund operations. See Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Taxes. income taxes were $53,000 and $5,000 in the nine months ended September 30,
1995 and 1996, respectively. Income tax expense in each of these periods represents federal and state
alternative minimum taxes after utilization of net operating loss camryforwards.

As of December 31, 1995, NeXT had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $210 million
and $135 million for federal and state income tax purposes, respectively. In addition, NeXT had research
and development credit carryforwards of approximately $9 million and $3 million for federal and California
income taxes, respectively. if not utilized, these carryforwards will expire beginning in 2001 through 2010.
The ability to utilize these net operating loss carryforwards may be limited should NeXT have an
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“ownership change" as defined by Section 382 of the Intemal Revenue Code. See Notes 2 and 6 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Years Ended December 31, 1993, 1994 and 1985
Revenues

Total revenues were $14.3 million, $49.6 million and $46.8 million in 1993, 1994 and 1995,
respectively. Total revenues increased from 1993 to 1994 due primarily to an increase in software
licensing revenues in 1994 and the recognition of $17.5 million in scheduled technology licensing
revenues in 1994 pursuant to a technology licensing agreement with Sun. Total revenues decreased from
1994 to 1995 due primarily to the recognition in 1995 of lower scheduled revenues under NeXT's
technology licensing agreement with Sun. Total revenues, excluding technology licensing revenues,
increased by $17.8 million, or 125.1%, from 1993 to 1994 and by $7.2 million, or 22.5%, from 1994 to
1995, primarily due to an increase in the number of software licenses sold.

Software Licensing Revenues. Software licensing revenues were $10.1 million, $25.9 million and
$26.8 million in 1993, 1994 and 1995, respectively. Software licensing revenues increased from 1993 to
1994 primarily due to an increase in the number of software licenses sold and, to a lesser extent, the
release in December 1994 of a new release of NEXTSTEP. in addition, NeXT sold software licenses for a
full twelve months in 1994 as compared to only seven months in 1993. Software licensing revenues
increased modestly from 1994 to 1995, primarily due to revenues associated with increased sales of
server-based components of the NEXTSTEP product line.

Services Revenues. Services revenues were $2.4 million, $3.8 million and $10.7 million in 1993,
1994 and 1995, respectively. Services revenues increased from 1993 to 1994 due primarily to the
introduction of a formal consulting services program in August 1994, Services revenues increased from
1994 to 1995 due primarily to increased consulting, maintenance, support and training provided to a
larger installed base.

Technology Licensing Revenues. Technology licensing revenues were $38,000, $17.6 million and
$7.5 million in 1993, 1994 and 1995, respectively. in November 1983, NeXT and Sun entered into a
technology licensing agreement under which Sun licensed the rights to port NEXTSTEP to the Solaris
operating system and distribute the ported product. As a result, NeXT recognized revenues of $17.5
million in 1994 and $7.5 million in 1985 in license and distribution fees.

Research and Development Contract Revenues. Research and development contracts revenues
were $1.8 million, $2.4 million and $1.8 million in 1993, 1994 and 1985, respectively. Research and
development contracts revenues increased from 1993 to 1994 due primarily to research and develop-
ment contracts work for the porting of NEXTSTEP to the Sun Sparc platform. Research and development
contracts revenues decreased from 1994 to 1995 due to the completion of several significant contracted
research and development projects by early 1995.

International Revenues. International revenues were 17.2%, 15.1% and 19.2% of total revenues in
1993, 1994 and 1995, respectively.

Cost of Revenues

Cost of Software Licensing Revenues. Cost of software licensing revenues was $4.0 million,
$5.1 milion and $2.9 million in 1993, 1994 and 1995, respectively, representing 39.8%, 19.8% and
10.8%, respectively, of related revenues. Cost of software licensing revenues decreased as a percentage
of the related revenues from 1993 to 1994 due primarily to increased revenues from sales of lower
royalty-bearing products in 1994. in 1993, in connection with a new release of NEXTSTEP, NeXT also sold
starter kits of its NEXTSTEP products at a lower price than in 1994. Cost of software licensing revenues
decreased as a percentage of the related revenues from 1894 to 1995 due to a non-recurring credit on
third party royalties, reduced ongoing royalty rates and increased revenues in 1995, including revenues
from sales of higher margin products.
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Cost of Services Revenues. Cost of services revenues was $4.6 million, $4.3 million and $8.0 million
in 1993, 1994 and 1995, respectively, representing 195.5%, 113.5% and 75.1%, respectively, of the
related revenues. Cost of services revenues decreased as a percentage of the related revenues from
1893 to 1994 primarily due to the increase in services revenues in 1994, somewhat offset by start-up
costs associated with NeXT's consulting organization. Cost of services revenues decreased as a
percentage of the related revenues from 1894 to 1995 primarily due to the increase in services revenues.

Cost of Technology Licensing Revenues. Cost of technology licensing revenues has been relatively
insignificant in all periods.

Cost of Research and Development Contract Revenues. Cost of research and development
contracts revenues was $1.7 million, $1.4 million and $365,000 in 1993, 1994 and 1995, respectively,
representing 92.6%, 58.3% and 20.0%, respectively, as a percentage of the related revenues. The
decrease in cost of research and development contracts revenues as a percentage of the related
revenues reflects increased use of cost plus contracts as opposed to cost recovery contracts.

Operating Expenses

Research and Development. Research and development expenses were $8.9 million, $10.7 million
and $12.4 million in 1993, 1994 and 1995, respectively, representing 62.7%, 21.5% and 26.5%,
respectively, of total revenues. Research and development expenses increased in dollars from 1993 to
1994 primarily due to an increase in the number of personnel and associated costs, but decreased as a
percentage of total revenues, due to increased total revenues in 1994. Research and development
expenses increased in both dollars and percentage of total revenues from 1994 to 1995, primarily due
to increased costs incurred for the development of the OPENSTEP and WebObjects product lines.
Research and development expenses as a percentage of total revenues also increased due to a
decrease in total revenues in 1995.

Sales and Marketing. Sales and marketing expenses were $26.2 million, $20.6 million and
$17.2 miliion in 1993, 1994 and 1995, respectively, representing 183.2%, 41.5% and 36.7%,
respectively, of total revenues. Sales and marketing expenses decreased in dollars and as a
percentage of revenues from 1993 to 1994 primarily due to a decrease in staffing and lower associated
costs as part of cost containment measures. Sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of total
revenues also decreased from 1993 to 1994 due to an increase in total revenues in 1994. Sales and
marketing expenses decreased in dollars and as a percentage of revenues from 1994 to 1995 primarily
due to a decrease in staffing and lower associated costs.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses were $5.2 million, $4.7 million
and $5.6 million in 1993, 1994 and 1995, respectively, representing 36.7%, 9.6% and 12.0%,
respectively, of total revenues. General and administrative expenses decreased from 1993 to 1994
primarily due to lower legal expenses in 1994. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of
total revenues also decreased from 1993 to 1994 due to an increase in total revenues in 1994. General
and administrative expenses increased in both dollars and as a percentage of total revenues from 1994
to 1995 due primarily to an increase in staffing. General and administrative expenses as a percentage
of total revenues also increased from 1984 to 1995 due to a decrease in total revenues in 1995.

Other Income (Expense), Net. Other expense was $3.9 million, $1.5 million and $1.7 million in
1993, 1994 and 1995, respectively. Other expense decreased from 1993 to 1994 due to lower service
on debt as a resuit of conversion by Canon to equity of $25 million in debt in January 1994. Other
expense for 1995 as compared to 1994 reflects increased debt servicing offset by a credit from a value
added tax matter in Europe that was resolved favorably for NeXT.

Income Taxes. Income taxes were $3,000, $74,000 and $9,000 in 1993, 1994 and 1995,
respectively. Income tax expense in each of these periods represents federal and state alternative
minimum taxes (after utilization of net operating loss carryforwards ).
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Discontinued Operations. NeXT recorded a loss on disposal of discontinued operations upon its
decision to exit the workstation business in 1992. This $20 million charge, of which $5.8 million remains
as of September 30, 1996, was associated with future lease commitments relating to real estate and
equipment no longer used in continuing operations, the excess of cost over net realizable value for
certain materials, the writedown of certain leasehold improvements and their property and equipment,
and other estimated legal, tax and accounting expenses to be incurred in connection with NeXT's
departure from the workstation business. Results of operations for 1995 include a $750,000 gain from
the resolution of an Inventory-related exposure which had been accrued in 1992 as part of the
estimated loss on disposal of discontinued operations. See Note 11 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Selected Quarterly Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain unaudited quarterly consolidated statement of operations data, both in doliar
amount and as a percentage of total revenues, for each of the seven quarters ended September 30, 1996. In the opinion
of management, this information has been presented on the same basis as the audited consolidated financial statements
appearing elsewhere in this prospectus, and all necessary adjustments, consisting of only normal recurring adjustments,
have been included in the amounts stated below to present fairly the unaudited quarterly results when read in conjunction
with the audited consolidated financial statements of NeXT and related notes thereto. The operating results for any
quarter should not be relied upon as any indication of results for any future period.

o = __Theeo Months Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31, March 31, June 30, September 30,
1988 1008 1908 1888 1696 1990 1096
{in thousands)
Revenues:
SOftWBrNs HoONBING. .. .covovreieiieriieesraiessserasceccssnsesnsarannen $ 5802 $6363 $ 7,00 $ 7.467 $ 5287 $8573 $ 8,658
SOIVICOS .......civueueriretranescssnraiaesrssnssessnsosssoseancnasans 1,752 2,865 2,907 3,148 3,450 4,309 5,431
Technology ICONSING ......ccimurosiiniienncneeeacnnevenereisnansaceens 7.500 - — 43 _ 10 2
Research and development CONtACES........cocvveeerecnenconreanronaeens 879 825 125 — 83 N 101
16,033 10,053 10,062 10,6858 8,780 12,923 14,192
421 785 786 903 721 723 827
1 g 2,080 2,051 2,364 2,849 3,247 4,153
290 75 a p 27 26 16
2,425 2,850 2837 3,287 3,697 3,998 4,996
13,608 7,103 7,225 7.391 5,083 8,925 9,196
A GOVBIOBIMENE < ...eeeueeeernnrnannrrenrneenennsenaenns 2848 2908 3,228 3338 3563 3,118 2,688
Sales and MBrKOUNG. .. .....coovviitrniienrnieriiecrttincerenerosnesenns 3,861 3,999 4,380 4,968 5,404 8,267 6.663
General and admINIBITAtVE ..........c.civriieniiieerencinseoarecronsas 1,443 1,327 1,372 1,486 1,297 1,497 1.390
Total 0penating eXpenses ............couvviiiiiiioneioricarraronns 8,152 8,264 8,990 9,792 10,264 10,880 10,741
Operating income (loss) from continuing operations .................... 5,456 {1.161) (1,785) (2,401) (5,181) (1,955) (1.545)
Other income (expense):
INOrest, NBE ... ... . ettt e e aans (567) (457) (499) {566) (618) (693) (825)
Foreign exchange gain (loss) 1 (e8) (18) (5) (60) (80) (106)
ot t 1 2 456 1 — 7
Income (loss) from continuing operations betore incoms taxes ....... 4938 (1,683) {2,280) (2,516) (5.858) (2,728) (2,469)
INCOME LAXNAS . .....iiiiaenrieieniciensirsserontossansasaseasasescsasanons 3 16 (44) (4) ] —
i income (loss) from continuing OPerations ...........cccceveuvnnann.. 4,931 (1.714) (2,295) (2,472) (5854) (2.7371) (2,469)
Discontinued operations
L O T — -— - 750 — — —_
Net inCOme (J0BS) ........ocovviiniiiiiariacnceneneresennnrenens $ 4,931 $(1,714) $(2,285) $(1,722) $(5854) $(2,737) $(2.4689)
Theeo Months Ended
March 31, June 30, Seplember 30, Desember 31, Merch 31, June 30, r 30,
1905 1008 1988 1908 1908 1908 ..%
Revenues:
SONWRIG HOBNSING - ......oiviiiirrnirerrernrernereonononnsnnsnsnnranas 38.8% 63.3% 69.6% 70.1% 60.0% 66.4% 61.0%
SBIVICES ... ... iiiriiiiiteii ittt iceaeneaacrerneraarennrronns 109 28.5 289 295 39.3 333 383
Technology ICBNBING .......oooivuiiaeieieenneeeneeraererateerenennnnss 468 — — 04 — 0.1 —_
Research and development CONtTACES .........occevveveernreneeronnnannn 55 _82 12 - — _o7 0.2 0.
TOWI MOVENUBS .........ciiiviinrecennrrennnenerernvovesnonnones 100 1000 1000 loo.0 100.0 100.0 100.0
Cost of revenuss: - -
SONWENe ICENSING ..........ccoiiiicrnerionneceencnrracenesrernnensonns 26 7.8 78 8.5 8.2 5.6 58
SBIVICOS . ..ttt eiiirii it i ieiiatecterieaeereaneaeaerarnananns 9.4 208 204 22 33.6 25.1 28.3
Tochnology HCBNBING .. .....civirriiiierutenncseesernseranessesencrennns 13 —_ - - - —_ -_—
Research and development contracts ..........c...coevvnnveencnniennnnnns 1.8 0.8 — — 0.3 0.2 0.1
Total COBL Of IBVBNUBS .. ... ...vviientnnercnnncnrennnenennsnenanes 15.1 29.4 28.2 30.7 42.1 30.9 35.2
G088 MBIGIN. . . .ooeiiieiiiirtieineeeneresnnnrensssnonenenenes 84.9 70.6 71.8 60.3 57.9 69.1 .8
Operating expenses:
Ressarch and development . ...........ccoeeveeeneereenaeienennnecnnenns 17.8 258 321 313 40.8 24.1 189
Sales and marke e eetiete et st e erracteaisaranttsesenesansananns 24.1 309.2 436 46.6 61.5 48.5 470
AN SOMINBITAtvE . ..ot iiiiiiiiii i cii e e rinee s 8.0 13.2 13.6 13.9 14.8 11.6 9.8
Total Operating expenses . .............ooviuiinreunniinrenenonran 509 82.2 89.3 91.8 116.9 84.2 75.7
loss) from operations ................. 340 1.6 175 225 X X
Otre ncame (experae) {loet) rom continuing 116  (175) (225) (%0) (1)  (108)
. (3.5) 4.5 50 5.3 7.0 5.4 58
e 0.3 50.7; fo.z 2; ; ‘OJ; io.s; §0.7
income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes ....... 0.8 (16.8) 22.7 23.8 68.7 211 174
L _— .ﬁ ¢ ) ( 0.4) ( —) (01) ( —)
Income (1088) from coNtinuUINg OPErBHONS .. .........¢covveevennereecannnsns 30.8 174 A
Discontinued operations ) (228) (23.2) (68.7) (21.2) 17.4)
Lo e I T — - 7.0 -_ [, —_
NSt inCOmMO (I088) ......overiiieraerrrrnnrernennesesunnsasannnns 308% (17.1)% (228)% {16.2)%  (66.7)% (21.2)% (17.4)%
= E— = —— —_— ——
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Software licensing revenues increased in each quarter of 1995, primarily as existing customers
purchased upgrades and maintenance of products in the NEXTSTEP product line and, to a lesser extent,
as new customers purchased NEXTSTEP. in August 1995, NeXT also notified these customers that they
would be able to deploy OPENSTEP for Windows NT upon its release in 1996. In the first quarter of 1996,
NeXT believes that revenues declined from the fourth quarter of 1995 because customers deferred
purchases of NEXTSTEP until the release of OPENSTEP. However, software licensing revenues increased
in the second and third quarters of 1996 following the introduction of NeXT's WebObjects product lines in
the first quarter of 1996 and OPENSTEP in the second quarter of 1996. Services revenues were generally
higher in the first three quarters of 1996 than in the four quarters of 1995. This increase resulted from a
rise in consulting and training engagements, as customers developed applications using its new
WebObjects and OPENSTEP product lines. Cost of software licensing revenues decreased as a percent
of the related revenues in the second and third quarters of 1996 as compared to the two prior quarters
due to increased sales of lower royalty-bearing products. Cost of services revenues increased in each
quarter of 1995 and 1996 due to staffing increases.

Operating expenses have generally increased in dollar amount quarter to quarter due to increased
staffing related expenses. Research and development expenses as a percent of total revenues increased
in the first quarter of 1996 due to a decline in total revenues and the hiring of new engineers to support
NeXT's late-stage development and release of its new WebObjects and OPENSTEP product lines. During
the second and third quarters of 1996, research and development expense as a percentage of total
revenues declined due to an increase in total revenues and due to costs associated with the concurrent
release of the WebObjects and OPENSTEP for Windows NT products incurred in the last quarter of 1995
and the first quarter of 1996. Sales and marketing expenses were higher in the first three quarters of
1996 as NeXT aggressively expanded its sales, sales support and marketing capabilities and increased
its advertising and public relations expenditures. [ Insert to come from JNS]

NeXT's quarterly operating results have varied significantly in the past and are likely to continue to
vary significantly in the future. Such fluctuations may be caused by many factors, including demand for
NeXT's products, introduction, enhancement or announcement of products by NeXT and its competitors,
market acceptance of new products, size and timing of significant orders, budgeting cycles of its
customers, variability of the receipt of orders from government customers, mix of distribution channeis,
mix of products and services sold, announcements or enactments of pricing changes by NeXT or its
competitors, changes in the level of operating expenses, mix of international and domestic revenues, the
effect of, and changes in, NeXT's sales incentive plans, customer order deferrals in anticipation of
enhancements of new products offered or announced by or changes in pricing policies of, NeXT or its
competitors and general economic conditions. In particular, NeXT plans to increase its operating
expenses to expand its sales, marketing and consulting operations, expand its distribution channels, fund
greater levels of research and development, broaden its customer support and consuiting services
capabilities and increase its administrative infrastructure. The timing of such expansion and the rate at
which NeXT's new salespeople or consultants become productive could also cause material fluctuations
in NeXT's quarterly financial condition or results of operations.

The operating results of many software companies reflect seasonal trends, and NeXT expects to be
affected by such trends in the future. NeXT believes that the capital spending cycles of its customers as
well as the efforts of NeXT's direct sales force to meet year-end sales quotas will result in NeXT
experiencing relatively higher revenues in the second half of a year than in the first half of such year. In
addition, to the extent international operations constitute a higher percentage of NeXT's total revenues,
NeXT anticipates that it may also experience relatively weaker demand in the quarter ending Septem-
ber 30 as a result of reduced intemational sales activity during the summer months.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

NeXT has financed its operations primarily through private sales of equity securities and borrowings
from banks and shareholders and, to a lesser extent, through technology licensing fees, deferred revenue
and funding for contract research and development work.
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Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities was $(6.6) million, ($5.0) million and
$(3.0 million) in 1993, 1994 and 1995, respectively, and $1.1 million and $(12.2) million in the nine
months ended September 30, 1995 and 1996, respectively. Net cash used in operating activities in 1993
reflects the substantial losses incurred and charges taken upon exited the workstation business as is
evidenced from accounts payable, accrued expenses, and accrued discontinued operations. Net cash
used in operating activities in fiscal 1894 and 1995 reflects an increase in accounts receivable associated
with increased revenues, accounts payable, accrued liabilities, and charges taken to accrued discontin-
ued operations for expenses to be incurred as a result of NeXT's departure from the workstation
business. Net cash provided in the nine months ended September 30, 1995 resulted primarily from the
increase in net income. Net cash used in the nine months ended September 30, 1996 reflected lower net
income and lower deferred revenue. Deferred revenue represents amounts received from customers for
support, software maintenance, and software in advance of revenue recognition by the Company.
Deferred revenue will fluctuate based on the level of sales, as well as, the timing of product shipments.

Net cash used in investing activities was $88,000, $500,000, and $1.5 million in 1993, 1994 and
1995, respectively, and was $(1.4) million and $(1.4) million in the nine months ended September 30,
1995 and 1996, respectively. In fiscal 1993, 1994, 1995 and for the nine months ended September 30,
1996, NeXT's investing activities have consisted primarily of purchases of property and equipment,
primarily computer hardware, to support NeXT's development efforts and growing employee base.
Capital expenditures in fiscal 1993, 1994 and 1995 totaled $1.3 million, $0.9 million, $1.6 million,
respectively. For the nine months ended September 30, 1996, capital expenditures were $1.2 miliion. At
September 30, 1996, NeXT did not have any material commitments for capital expenditures.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $11.9 million, $100,000 and $2.3 million in 1993, 1994
and 1995, respectively, and was $0.4 million and $15.3 miliion in the nine months ended September 30,
1995 and 1996, respectively. Net cash provided by financing activities in 1993 was primarily attributable
to equity issuances. Net cash provided by financing activities in 1994 was primarily attributable to notes
receivable from shareholders offset by repayments on borrowings. Net cash provided by financing
activities in 1995 and the nine months ended September 30, 1996 was primarily attributable to the
issuance of short term notes.

At September 30, 1996, NeXT had $2.1 million in cash and cash equivalents and in October 1996,
the Company increased the available line with Morgan Guaranty by $4 million.

At September 30, 1996, NeXT's material debt obligations consisted of the following:

Canon Loan Agreement. As of September 30, 1996, NeXT had a remaining balance of approxi-
mately $28.2 million outstanding under the term loan agreement with Canon dated July 27, 1992, as
amended (the “‘Canon Loan Agreement’). Principal amounts outstanding under the Canon Loan
Agreement accrue interest at LIBOR plus 20 basis points, determined on a periodic basis depending on
the date of the particular advance. Of such principal amounts, $20.0 million of the outstanding balance
bore interest at 6.39% as of September 30, 1996 and matures on April 27, 1997 and $8.2 million of the
outstanding balance bore interest at 6.08% as of September 30, 1996 and matures on May 20, 1997.
Accrued interest aggregated approximately $300,000 as of September 30, 1996, all of which was
subsequently paid in July and August. Amounts outstanding under the Canon Loan Agreement are
collateralized by certain intangible assets, including certain patents and patent applications. Pursuant to
the Canon Loan Agreement, NeXT's accounts receivable may also become collateral for such amounts.
Either NeXT or Canon may convert any or all of the then outstanding principal into NeXT Common Stock
upon a firm commitment public offering aggregating $75 million or greater of NeXT's equity securities at a
per share price equal to NeXT's initial public offering price. In October 1996, NeXT notified Canon that it
intends to convert all principal amounts outstanding under the Canon Loan Agreement into shares of
Common Stock upon consummation of the offerings. The Canon Loan Agreement prohibits NeXT from
paying cash dividends on any of its preferred or common stock and also prohibits, among other things,
any redemption, purchase or other acquisition of NeXT's outstanding shares other than repurchases
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under employee benefit plans. See "'Certain Transactions — Relationship with Canon inc.” and Note 4 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Morgan Guaranty Note. NeXT also has a unsecured demand promissory note with Morgan
Guaranty (‘The Morgan Guaranty Note'') which is personally guaranteed by NeXT's Chief Executive
Officer. The Morgan Guaranty Note, which was increased to $15 million in October 1996 from $11 million
in September 1996 bears interest at the prime rate. Borrowings under the Morgan Guaranty Note were
$11 million as of September 30, 1996. The prime rate was 8.25%. Amounts outstanding under the
Morgan Guaranty Note are due on demand. NeXT agreed to pay $9 million of the outstanding principal
amount of the Morgan Guaranty Note with the net proceeds of the offering pursuant to an agreement
entered into in connection with the agreement of NeXT's Chief Executive Officer to personally guarantee
increases in the Morgan Guaranty Note.

Merrlill Lynch Business Financial Services Line of Credit. NeXT has a line of credit (the “MLBFS
Line of Credit") of $8.0 million with MLBFS. Borrowings under the MLBFS Line of Credit were fully utilized
as of June 30, 1996. Of the total amounts outstanding under the MLBFS Line of Credit, 20% (up to a
maximum of $2.0 million) are personally guaranteed by NeXT’s Chief Executive Officer. interest accrues
at the 30-day commercial paper rate plus 2.50% (8.0% as of September 30, 1996). The maturity date for
the principal amount outstanding under the MLBFS Line of Credit is March 1997 or upon completion of an
initial public offering. Pro forma balance sheet and Shareholder Equity Statements reflect Merrill Lynch’s
conversion of $8.0 million in debt into common stock at the IPO. See “'Certain Transactions” and Note 4
of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Deferred revenues consist of the unrecognized portion of software licensing and services revenues
received pursuant to maintenance and support contracts and payments received in advance for
unreleased products. Significant obligations resulting in the deferral of revenues relate primarily to
software upgrades and maintenance and support yet to be provided. Deferred revenues were $11.6 mil-
lion, $11.7 million and $11.3 million as of December 31, 1993, 1994 and 1995, respectively, and
$8.8 million as of June 30, 1996. As of December 31, 1995, Deferred Revenue was comprised of $6.7
million in software licensing prepayments, $2.8 million in Software Maintenance, and $1.8 million in
support. As of September 30, 1996, Deferred Revenue was comprised of $4.6 million in Software
maintenance, $2.9 million in software licensing revenue prepayments, and $0.8 million in support and
training. NeXT expects deferred revenues to decrease in future periods.

Capital expenditures were approximately $1.3 million, $506,000 and $1.6 million in 1993, 1994 and
1995, respectively, and $928,000 in the six months ended September 30, 1996. NeXT has no material
commitments other than the debt arrangements described above and obligations under capital and
operating leases for equipment and facilities. See Notes 4 and 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

At September 30, 1996, NeXT's principal source of liquidity was approximately $2.1 million in cash
and cash equivalents and $724,000 in short term investments. NeXT believes that the net proceeds from
this offering, together with available funds and cash flows expected to be generated by operations, will
be sufficient to meet its anticipated cash needs for working capital and capital expenditures for at least
the next twelve months. Thereafter, if cash generated by operations is insufficient to satisfy NeXT’s
liquidity requirements, NeXT may sell additional equity or debt securities or obtain additional credit
facilities. The sale of additional equity or convertible debt securities will result in additional dilution to
NeXT's sharehoiders.
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NeXT develops, markets and supports software that enables customers to easily and quickly
implement business applications on the Internet/Web, intranets and enterprise-wide client/server
networks. NeXT provides customers with standards-based solutions that offef a unique combination of
functionality, scalability, reliability and performance. NeXT's WebObjects product line is designed to aliow
the rapid development of dynamic, server-based applications for the Intemet/Web and intranets that
enable organizations to extend their market presence, to enhance their customer interactions and to
improve workforce productivity. NeXT's OPENSTEP product line enables the development and deploy-
ment of dynamic business applications on more traditional client/server networks, especially applications
that require sophisticated user interfaces or the abllity to support complex, high-volume transaction
processing. Both WebObjects and OPENSTEP are designed to enable organizations to integrate their
existing applications and databases, significantly reduce the time and effort spent on application
development and deployment and take greater advantage of the opportunities offered by the In-
temet/Web, intranets and enterprise-wide client/server networks. Since 1993, NeXT has licensed its
software to over 2,000 customers, including AT&T Wireless Services, BBN Planet, British Telecom,
Cablevision Systems Corporation, Dow Jones Telerate, Inc., Fannie Mae, Lufthansa Technik AG, MCI,
NTT, Nissan, Sabre, SwissBank and U.S. West Communications, Inc.

NeXT believes that it is a technology leader in enabling customers to develop dynamic business
applications and that one of its principal competitive advantages derives from its long-term investments
in object-oriented technologies. Unlike the products offered by many Iinteret/Web companies, NeXT's
product lines, OPENSTEP and WebObjects, share a technological foundation that has been developed,
deployed, tested and proven in the enterprise business solutions market over the past decade.

The Market Opportunities and NeXT’s Solutions

Organizations are increasingly relying on information technology to provide a strategic competitive
advantage by improving access to existing and potential customers, by providing the data and analyses
necessary to make more timely, better informed business decisions and by increasing workforce
productivity. The advent of the intemet/Web and intranets has dramatically altered the information
technology landscape, which had traditionally been dominated by centralized mainframes and, subse-
quently, distributed enterprise-wide client/server networks. The proliferation of web browsers and the
implementation of standards and protocols that are not dependent upon specific hardware or operating
systems have significantly increased the potential for organizations to exchange a broad range of
information with customers, employees and business partners on a timely basis.

NeXT believes that there are significant market opportunities created by both the tremendous growth
of the Intemet/Web and intranets and the continuing growth of more traditional enterprise-wide
client/server networks within organizations. NeXT's WebObjects and OPENSTEP enterprise solutions,
which operate on Windows NT or UNIX-based operating systems, are designed to enable organizations to
develop and deploy dynamic business applications on the Internet/Web, intranets and enterprise-wide
client/server networks. WebObjects is designed specifically for the Internet/Web and intranet environ-
ments which are characterized by "thin’ clients (clients with little or no business application logic), "'fat"
servers (servers with substantial business application logic) and accelerated development cycles.
OPENSTEP is designed to allow developers to take advantage of the more sophisticated user interfaces
and large-scale deployments enabled under traditional enterprise-wide client/server environments.
Organizations using WebObjects or OPENSTEP can easily migrate their business applications between
and among the Intemet/Web, their intranets and their enterprise-wide client/server networks. Further-
more, as these technologies converge, NeXT believes that it is well positioned to deliver to its customers
software and services that enable comprehensive business application solutions.
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The Intemnet/World Wide Web Market Opportunity

NeXT believes that the emergence of the Internet/Web infrastructure can provide organizations with
significant new business opportunities by improving access to existing and potential customers, by
improving customer service through better communication and by enhancing workforce productivity
through easier access to business applications and information across the enterprise. However, most
organizations have been unable to capitalize fully on these opportunities because of the lack of high-
performance, dynamic, scalable Intemet/Web software applications that provide more than static
information.

Today, the Internet/Web is primarily a medium for publishing information. A publishing server
(running software from Netscape, Microsoft or other vendors) resides on top of an operating system,
such as Windows NT or UNIX-based operating systems, and is accessed from the client desktop using a
web browser. The browser displays the accessed web page, which usually consists of static information
that needs to be manually updated and is unlikely to be readily customizable to the user. Many
companies provide filtering and searching software, but this software only accesses pre-built pages of
information. As the number of web pages and the information contained in them increases, the inability of
existing web development tools to enable the creation and customization of the web page content “‘on
the fly'’ can be a serious impediment to an organization’s ability to maximize the opportunity to deveiop
and deploy Internet/Web-based business solutions. Dynamic web pages, however, allow organizations
to provide better access to information through customized responses to users' requests, while at the
same time greatly reducing the time and effort required to keep that information available and up-to-date.

NeXT believes that the publishing of information and accessing of applications on the Intemet/Web,
intranets and enterprise-wide client/server networks is rapidly evolving. Information published on the
Internet/ Web and intranets has been primarily static, and dynamic applications are needed to create web
page content ‘on the fly" in response to specific user requests for information in existing applications
and databases. While dynamic Internet/Web applications represent a significant improvement in
interactivity over static publishing applications, traditional client/server networks still remain better suited
to running certain applications, especially those handling high-volume, complex transactions or requiring
sophisticated user interfaces. NeXT belleves, however, that as Intemet/Web and intranet technologies
mature, they will acquire more of the capabilities of existing client/server technologies.

WebObjects

WebObijects is designed to enable organizations to develop and deploy high-performance, dynamic,
scalable intemet/Web applications quickly, easily and at reduced cost. WebObijects is a server-based
technology that connects an organization’s existing data and applications directly to a web server while
automatically building HTML pages in response to customer requests made through any standard web
browser.
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WebObjects significantly shortens and simplifies development cycles by allowing developers to
focus on the creation of relevant business logic. WebObjects handles the complexities associated with
accessing data and generating HTML to form a complete, dynamic Internet/Web application.

WebObjects provides the following benefits:

Flexible, Dynamic internet/Web Applications. WebObjects enables organizations to create
dynamic Internet/Web applications in which web pages are built “‘on the fly" in response to user
requests. These dynamic Intemet/Web applications can be programmed to access enterprise databases
and information, as well as link with other web sites, to update the information displayed in the web
browser. WebObjects applications are able to draw on a variety of data sources, thereby reducing the
need to employ significant resources to manually update static web pages. This is particularly important
for those applications that contain or access information that changes frequently. In addition,
WebObjects provides developers with a significant degree of flexibility in bullding applications by allowing
the reuse, editing and integration of pre-built and customized objects.

Significantly Reduced Development Times. By employing WebObjects, NeXT'’s object-based
technology enables customers to significantly reduce development times by allowing developers to
integrate a wide range of software components. Many pre-built, customizable modules are included in
NeXT's products to reduce application development time. in addition, WebObjects supports many
specialized components offered by third parties and components built by customers. Object-oriented
development also provides a parallel and iterative development process enabling a division of labor for
building applications. Programmers can break down complex applications into manageable pieces, or
objects, and develop and test them separate from the entire system. When objects are completed, they
can be easily integrated into a final application.

Improved Scalability and Performance. WebObjects enables organizations to significantly im-
prove the scalability and performance of applications by optimizing existing hardware and supporting a
distributed application environment. WebObjects allows muitiple application processes running on a
single application server to handle large volumes of requests and utilize the full capacity of the hardware.
When the number of requests exceeds the capabilities of the machine, WebObijects is easily configured,
without additional programming, to dynamically distribute the load across a pool of application servers for
parallel processing.

Integration of Applications, Databases and Legacy Systems. WebObjects enables an organiza-
tion to integrate its applications, databases and legacy systems with new and existing applications. This
allows organizations to preserve the value of their investment in information technology while potentially
revitalizing existing applications and preserving business rules by readily transitioning them to the
intemet/Web and intranet environments. WebObjects enables integration with data residing in Oracle,
Sybase, Informix and ODBC-compliant databases, Windows applications through OLE and, through third-
party offerings, a number of mainframe systems.
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Support for Dominant Industry Platforms and Technologies. WebObjects works with industry
standard platforms and technologies, such as the Windows NT, Solaris and HP-UX operating systems,
Microsoft's, Netscape's and other vendors’ publishing servers and standard web browsers. in addition,
WebObjects allows developers to take advantage of client-side technologies, such as Java, ActiveX and
third-party plug-ins. WebObjects is also designed to interoperate with new Iinternet/ Web standards as

they emerge.

Ease of Maintainability. WebObjects allows developers to isolate an application’s business logic
from surrounding technologies and store it centrally on an application server. The business logic can
access multiple data sources and be reused in other appliications while remaining separate from both the
underlying data sources and the user interface. Any changes in business logic, therefore, are made in
isolation and automatically reflected in any applications that subsequently access it. Consequently,
organizations can save both time and effort when changes in business logic are required to be reflected
across the enterprise and thereby avoid the high cost of maintaining applications whose code is
duplicated throughout the network.

Products

The WebObjects product line includes WebObjects Enterprise and WebObjects Pro. The
WebObijects product line was announced in August 1995. Release 1.0 was first shipped in March 1996,
Release 2.0 was first shipped in June 1996, and Release 3.0 was first shipped in October 1996. An
introductory version of WebObjects is available for free by downloading it from the NeXT web site and is
intended for basic applications that do not require scalability or integration with existing applications or
data.

WebObjects Enterprise. WebObjects Enterprise is NeXT's complete solution for building enterprise-
wide dynamic web applications. Among its significant features:

* WebObjects integrates with data residing in Oracle, Sybase, Informix and ODBC-compliant
databases and, through third-party offerings, a number of mainframes:;

* WebObjects provides a true multi-tier architecture that separates business logic from data
sources and the user interface, promoting improved reusability, allowing the integration of
multiple data sources and enhancing application scalability and performance;

» WebObijects is based on an open architecture that is compatible with client-based web
technologies for enhanced multimedia user interfaces, such as Java, ActiveX and plug-ins;

= WebObjects applications run on both Windows NT and UNIX servers and interface with
existing web servers through the Common Gateway Interface, as well as server-specific
application programming interfaces ("APIs’) from Microsoft and Netscape;

* WebObjects can access OLE automation capabilities, whether on the same server or across
the network;

* WebObjects supports both scripted and compiled languages, including Java Script,
VisualBasic Script, C, C-++ and Objective C; and

* WebObjects supports current security standards, such as S-HTTP and SSL, and provides
enhanced security with user authentication capabilities. WebObjects is also compatible with
standard network firewall systems.

in September 1996, WebObjects Enterprise was awarded the PC Magazine Editor's Choice Award.
The price for WebObjects Enterprise starts at $30,000.

WebObjects Pro. WebObijects Pro is a mid-level product suitable for less complex applications that
need to work with existing applications and ODBC databases. Developers can use WebObijects Pro to
build robust commercial applications for the Intemet/Web or “webbify’’ existing applications for an
intranet. The price for WebObjects Pro starts at $6,000.
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Release 3.0. NeXT began shipping Release 3.0 of its WebObijects product line in October 1996.
Release 3.0 is designed to increase the interactivity of web applications by allowing Java applets on the
client to communicate directly with the server, so that data in web pages can be refreshed without having
to reload the entire page. Release 3.0 aiso incorporates WebObjects Builder, a complete graphicai
development environment designed for rapid development of WebObjects applications, providing drag
and drop integration of data and Java applets onto HTML pages. in addition, by the end of 1996, NeXT
intends to offer an add-on to Release 3.0 to enableé Java developers to write server-based WebObjects
applications entirely in Java allowing such developers to take advantage of the scalability, database
access and performance available in WebObjects.

Customers
The following is a representative list of NeXT's customers that have licensed WebObjects Enterprise:
Communications Solution Provider/Distributor
Bellsouth Telecommunications, Inc. Digital Equipment Corporation
British Telecom intemet Systems, Inc.
Hearst New Media & Technology Memphis Online, Inc.
Financial/Insurance Foweragent
Abeille Vie Transportation
General Electric Capital Corp. Sabre
Merrill Lynch & Co., inc. Skyway Freight Systems, inc.
Lufthansa Technik AG
Government 1 .
City of Baltimore Marine Terminals Inc.
Fannie Mae Other
NASA Goddard Space Flight Center Bozell, Jacobs Kenyon and Eckhardt, Inc.
NCCOSC RDTE (U.S. Navy) Capital Radio PLC
U.S. Department of Agriculture Cyberslice
U.S. Postal Service Gage Marketing Group, LLC
Manufacturing :ztlersmountam Health Care, Inc.
Bosch nergy, inc. .
Dell Computer Corporation Sharper image Corporation
Hitachi, Ltd.
Motorola, Inc.
Nissan

Raychem Corporation
Toyota Motor Corp.
UB Networks, Inc.

WebObjects has been used in the development and deployment of many web-based applications,
including the following:

Dell Computer Corporation. Dell Computer, a personal computer manufacturer, uses
WebObjects for the Dell Store, an Intemet/Web-based application. Built in four weeks, it provides
up-to-the minute pricing, configuration information, and online ordering capabilities to Dell Com-
puter's customers. The Dell Store aiso provides secure payment, financing options and order
delivery status. Dell Computer chose WebObjects to provide synchronization of corporate data with
the information customers see on the intemet/Web which is critical in a market where prices change
daily. Dell Computer plans to expand its offering to address business-to-business needs such as
corporate discounts, pre-aranged payment terms, approved system configurations and manage-
ment reports.
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KN Energy. KN Energy, a public pipeline and utility service company, is the first natural gas
transmission company to provide its customers with an interactive pipeline management system on
the Internet/Web. KN Energy uses WebObjects to improve customer service to shippers and
operators that transport natural gas through its various pipelines and companies. The application
manages the nomination process for pipeline capacity and delivery locations to determine availability
and scheduling for over 200 customers. The WebObjects application, which was developed and
deployed in two months; allows KN Energy to decommission its previous legacy application, and
thereby will significantly reduce its ongoing systems maintenance costs.

KPMG Peat Marwick LLP/Sanctuary Woods. KPMG Peat Marwick LLP (“KPMG™) has been
contracted by Sanctuary Woods, an educational software development company, to implement an
interactive website targeted toward children. Using WebObjects, educational software titles with
multimedia content will be showcased online. The application s built on top of a Netscape web
server and an Oracle database and utilizes client-side plug-ins, such as Macromedia’s Shockwave,
to provide a high-quality multimedia experience with “thin clients.” WebObjects was chosen by
KPMG for its flexibility in integrating other web technologies and its ability to facilitate the rapid
application development environment which enables them to deploy their site quickly.

The Sharper Image. The Sharper Image, a leading specialty retailer, has replaced its previous
online catalog with a dynamic, customizable WebObjects-based application that provides significant
benefits in terms of enhanced flexibility and maintainability and that substantially reduced develop-
ment and deployment times. The previous online catalogue was based on static HTML pages that
required time-intensive manual updating to incorporate frequent product information additions or
changes. With the new online catalog, product information is readily updated by Sharper image
personnel who are not programmers. In addition, WebObjects enabled The Sharper image to
construct the GiftFinder, which allows customers to state their product preferences and, in response,
creates a customized catalog based on those preferences. NeXT technology has enabled The
Sharper Image to both streamline operations and enhance customer interaction.

The Client/Server Market Opportunity

While many organizations are developing and deploying applications on the internet/Web and
intranets, NeXT believes that enterprise-wide client/server networks will continue to play significant roles
for organizations for the foreseeable future. In particular, the distributed client/server environment
currently enjoys some advantages relative to the Internet/Web, including:

+ more sophisticated user interfaces,
+ more robust enterprise-wide development tools, and
» proven scalability and reliability in high volume, complex transaction environments.

Nevertheless, distributed enterprise-wide client/server networks are posing significant challenges to
information technology managers. The use of different hardware platforms, operating systems, software
applications and databases has fostered the development of islands of information within organizations
and has jeopardized the ability of many of these organizations to access information resources across
departmental or divisional boundaries.

With respect to enterprise-wide client/server networks, NeXT views Microsoft's latest offerings of
Windows 95, Windows NT and the BackOffice suite as the target platforms upon which NeXT will add
value. NeXT’s products are developed to complement Microsoft's offerings and expand their capabilities
so that developers can rapidly build dynamic applications that span the enterprise. In addition, NeXT also
views the UNIX operating system as a platform with growth potential for application development.
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OPENSTEP

OPENSTEP is an object-oriented development environment for developing and deploying enterprise-
wide, dynamic business applications across Windows NT and UNIX-based platforms. OPENSTEP
includes sets of pre-assembled, compiled objects that provide common application functionality. This
allows developers to focus primarily on building core business logic, which can then be reused to achieve
significant savings in time and effort. .

OPENSTEP provides in the client/server environment many of the same benefits that WebObjects
provides in the Intemet/Web or intranet environments, including the ability to build fiexible, dynamic
business applications; significant reductions in development time; integration of existing applications,
databases and legacy systems; and support for dominant industry platforms and technologies. OPEN-
STEP also provides these additional benefits:

Supports Large-Scale, Enterprise-Wide Deployments. OPENSTEP has been used successtully to
develop and deploy applications that support thousands of users in high volume, complex transaction
environments. OPENSTEP's object-oriented design facilitates the use of application partitioning and other
methods of promoting scalability and enhancing performance. Business applications built using
OPENSTEP are designed to scale across their networks and maintain performance levels even in the face
of significant increases in uger activity.

Creation of Customized User Interfaces. The level of sophistication of client/server user inter-
faces exceeds those currently availabie on the intemet/Web and intranets, even with the advent of such
technologies as Java, ActiveX and plug-ins. OPENSTEP is designed to enable developers to create
customized user interfaces that provide for real-time interaction, easy-to-use ergonomic design, quick
navigation of the network, access to multiple screens simuitaneously and the ability to tie into other
applications.

Quick Deployment on the Internet/Worid Wide Web. Applications developed with OPENSTEP
can be quickly deployed on the Internet/Web and intranets using WebObjects because the client/server
applications can share business logic with the WebObjects applications and the back-end functionality
and connectivity do not need to be significantly rewritten. This provides an opportunity for organizations
to move their OPENSTEP applications to these new media with minimal development time and effort.

Products

The OPENSTEP product line includes OPENSTEP Enterprise and OPENSTEP for Mach. OPENSTEP
for Mach, formerly known as NEXTSTEP, was introduced in late 1989 and has gone through four major
product releases. OPENSTEP Enterprise was announced in August 1996 and was first shipped in
September 1996. OPENSTEP Enterprise includes an updated version of OPENSTEP for Windows NT,
which was first shipped in June 1996, and other bundled software. OPENSTEP applications are
compatible across all OPENSTEP platforms, providing a migration path for those customers wishing to
move to OPENSTEP Enterprise from OPENSTEP for Mach.

OPENSTEP Enterprise. OPENSTEP Enterprise is the OPENSTEP solution for Windows-based
client/server systems. It incorporates a Windows NT application development environment and is
deployable on Windows NT, Solaris and HP-UX servers as well as Windows NT clients. It supports
integration with major relational databases, mainframe data and applications (through third-party
programs ) and Microsoft OLE-based applications. Used in conjunction with WebObjects, developers can
build applications that span the intemet/Web, intranet and enterprise-wide client/server networks. The
price of OPENSTEP Enterprise starts at $5,000.

OPENSTEP for Mach. OPENSTEP for Mach is a UNIX application development environment running
on Mach, a proprietary UNIX-based operating system. it supports deployment on Windows NT, Solaris,
HP-UX and NEXTSTEP servers as well as Windows NT and NEXTSTEP dlients. The price for OPENSTEP
for Mach starts at $6,000. OPENSTEP for Mach is primarily intended for existing NEXTSTEP customers
transitioning to Windows NT, although certain components continue to be sold on a stand-alone basis.
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Customers
The following is a representative list of NeXT's customers that have licensed OPENSTEP products:
Communications Government
AT&T Wireless Services County of Los Angeles
British Telecom Fannie Mae
France Telecommunications - NCCOSC RDTE (U.S. Navy)
LA Cellular U.S. Postal Service
MCI
Southwestem Bell Mobile e
U.S. West Communications, Inc. Prefer;ed I:ealth Car;t Lt
Worldcom Inc. Fush Bresbytafion ;eStalike
Distributor/OEM Partner g
Bifrost workstations T
Motorola, Inc.
Computer 2000 Stratus Computer Inc
Data General Corporation ¥
DArt System integrators and Software
Fidelity Investment Co. Developers
Logibec Advanced Information Systems
Microage Corporate Systems BDM International, Inc.
NEC Technologies, inc. Lockheed Martin
What! Software Perot Systems Corporation
Workstation AG PSW Technologies
Financial/Insurance TridentData;Systems
Dow Jones Telerate, Inc. Other
First National Bank of Chicago Cablevision Systems Corporation
Industrial Indemnity Company Linklaters & Paines
Merrill Lynch & Co., inc. Pancanadian Petroleum Limited
NationsBank-CRT Bozell, Jacobs Kenyon and Eckhardt, Inc.
Phibro Energy USA, Inc. Trilobyte, Inc.
SHL Systemhouse, Inc. VirtualWare Corp.
SwissBank Entex
Ticino Vita Skyway Freight Systems, Inc.
Trimark Investment Management William Morris Agency Inc.

UBS Securities Inc.
Union Bank of Switzeriand

Value Added Resellers

ALl Technologies, Inc.

AMG Industries Inc.

Comnetix

Filoli iInformation Systems

International Business Machines
Corporation

LAM Research Corporation

Mitsubishi Electric U.K.

intemet Service Providers
BBN Planet

Multicom Publishing
ThoughtPort Authority
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OPENSTEP has been used in the development and deployment of many enterprise-wide cli-
ent/server applications, including the following representative appiications:

AT&T Wireless Services. AT&T Wireless, formerly McCaw Cellular, is one of the largest
providers of cellular telephone services in the United States. Using OPENSTEP, AT&T Wireless
reengineered its customer service applications and realized significant productivity improvements.
For example, these applications have enabled AT&T Wireless to electronically sign up new
customers, verify credit, suggest appropriate billing terms and quickly activate cellular service,
reducing celiular activation time from over one hour to under seven minutes. AT&T Wireless has also
utilized NeXT's technology to develop and maintain a billing software application. This application is
avallable across the entire AT&T Wireless enterprise and handles the billing of millions of calls per
day in over 100 markets.

Nippon Telephone and Telegraph. NTT is one of the world's largest telecommunications
companies. Using NeXT's technology, NTT developed a suite of applications for Intel-based PCs that
provide its operators and technicians in local telephone offices with easy access to its telecommuni-
cations network information, stored in Sybase databases. For example, its investment planning
application allows managers to make planning decisions for upgrading their networks from copper
cable to fiber optics. NTT chose NeXT’s technology because of the robustness of the application
environment and the speed at which they could develop new applications based on previous
projects. lts network management system, developed using NEXTSTEP technology, aiso enabled it
to quickly restore portions of its phone networks after the 1995 Kobe earthquake. This application
earned them the NTT President's Award in Japan.

[Swissbank. Swissbank is one of the leading derivatives trading firms in the world. Time to
market is critical in their business as they model high-end investments. Their competitive advantage
is to be the first to market with new forms of securities. Their experienced staff had planned their first
development effort to last over one year using competing development tools. NeXT's rapid
application development tools enabled their developers to build the application in just weeks.
Swissbank'’s first application using NeXT technology netted them hundreds of millions of dollars in
trading profits in the first year alone. Swissbank achieves performance goals with NeXT's distributed
application environment. In production since 1993, their global trading system now has thousands of
traders using NeXT technology 24 hours a day providing instant response times to their traders in
New York, Chicago, London and Tokyo.]

The NeXT Strategy

NeXT's objective is to become the leading provider of dynamic network application software
products and services used by organizations to provide their customers, employees and business
partners with enhanced service and greater access to business applications and information through the
Internet/Web, intranets and enterprise-wide client/server networks. NeXT's strategy includes the
following key elements:

Maintain Technology Leadership

NeXT believes that it is the technology leader in enabling customers to develop dynamic business
applications and that one of its principal competitive advantages derives from its long-term investments
in these technologies. Unlike the products offered by many companies in the internet/ Web environment,
the products in NeXT's product lines, OPENSTEP and WebObjects, share a technological foundation that
has been developed, deployed, tested and proven in the enterprise business solutions market over the
past decade. NeXT's solutions are designed to provide the functionality, scalability, reliability and
performance required by customers. NeXT believes that its ten-year investment in technology provides a
significant advantage over its potential competitors and, therefore, NeXT intends to continue to invest
significant resources in technology to maintain its technology leadership position. NeXT also believes that
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the ability of its product development team to rapidly design and develop innovative software solutions is
a competitive advantage in maintaining technological leadership.

Target the Convergence of the Internet/World Wide Web, intranets and the Enterprise-Wide
Client/Server Markets

NeXT believes that Intemet/Web, intranet and enterprise-wide client/server markets are converging
and that this trend presents a significant business opportunity for NeXT. NeXT's WebObjects and
OPENSTEP product lines are designed to enable organizations to integrate their existing applications and
databases, significantly reduce the time and effort spent on application development and deployment
and take greater advantage of the opportunities offered by the Intemet/Web, intranets and enterprise-
wide client/server networks. These product lines also aliow applications developed for one environment
to be quickly deployed on another. NeXT believes that this capability is unique and positions NeXT well to
take advantage of this convergence.

Expand Direct and Indirect Sales Channels on a Global Basis

NeXT belleves that its 85-person direct sales force provides NeXT with a significant competitive
advantage relative to smaller start-up companies. NeXT intends to continue to invest in building a global
direct sales force by hiring experienced software professionals, including enhancing its presence in
European and Asian markets. in addition, NeXT plans to continue to leverage its direct sales efforts
through the expanded use of indirect channels, including VARs, systems integrators, Internet service
providers and software developers.

Foster the Success of Customer Application Development Efforts

NeXT recognizes that the power and sophistication of NeXT's products alone is not sufficient to
ensure the success of their customers' application development efforts. Consequently, NeXT has
assembled a team of highly trained software engineers to provide consulting and training services, as well
as product support, in order to foster the success of customers’ application development efforts. As of
September 30, 1996, 86 NeXT personnel were dedicated to these efforts and it is expected that they will
remain a critical aspect of NeXT's strategy.

Develop Complementary and Value-Added Products Based on Indusiry Standards

NeXT is committed to developing products that complement and add value to de facto industry
standard platforms and technologies offered by vendors such as Microsoft, Netscape and Sun. The
technologies that support dynamic network applications are emerging rapidly. New technologies such as
Java, ActiveX and plug-ins are expected to have a significant impact on the type and sophistication of
applications that organizations will be able to develop and deploy. NeXT's products currently support and
complement these technologies and it is NeXT's intention to continue to support them, as well as the
technologies that follow.

Technology

Over the past decade, NeXT has developed an object-oriented application software system
architecture that is the foundation of both its WebObjects and OPENSTEP product lines. NeXT believes
that its technology, which has been market-tested over the last several years, is a significant competitive
advantage. Key aspects of NeXT's technology include:

Isolated Application Logic

NeXT customers build applications that separate core business logic from both the database on the
server and the user interface on the client. Applications gather data from diverse data sources, such as
relational databases or mainframes, and integrate them with the developer’s business logic. Developers
can reuse business logic both within a single application and across applications, even if the database or
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user interface is different for each application. Developers can also dynamically replace pieces of an
application without having to replace the whole application. For example, developers can modify business
logic without altering the user interface or data sources, or they can change underlying data sources
without modifying the business logic or the user interface.

Dynamic Object Model

An object model defines the way pools of objects communicate and how they are physically
deployed on hardware platforms. Traditional object models are static in nature. If the application needs to
change or be redeployed onto more powerful servers, developers need to reprogram the application or
the physical distribution the objects and recompile. Dynamic object models provide significant advan-
tages to developers. To modify a particular service, the developer simply edits the object that performs
that service, not the entire pool of objects. To add a new service, the developer builds a new object and
adds it to the pool of existing objects. Objects in all applications that subsequently look for these services
can automatically use the new functionality or adapt to the changes. No other objects have to be modified
and applications do not have to be regenerated. Users of any application accessing the new or modified
objects perceive the changes no interruption in service.

NeXT's system is buiit on such a dynamic object model and provides integration with Microsoft’s
OLE/COM and the OMG's COBRA object standards.

Prebuilt, Reusable Application Modules

NeXT products include application modules, which are sets of ready-to-use objects that come pre-
assembled to accomplish common tasks, freeing the developer to focus on building business logic.
These application modules handle access to common low-level features, common user interface
components and transparent distribution of applications among diverse clients and servers. NeXT's
products also provide the capability of easily localizing these modules for use in international markets.
Unlike some other vendors, NeXT offers objects that are pre-packaged and can be rapidly assembled,
often without compiling the application. Developers can directly reuse objects contained in NeXT libraries,
third-party libraries and those libraries built by the customer. Object-oriented development also provides
a parallel and iterative development process enabling a division of labor for building applications.
Programmers can break down complex applications into manageable pieces, or objects, and develop and
test them in parallel to speed application development. When objects are completed, they can be easily
integrated into the final application.

Integration with Databases and Legacy Systems

An object in the NeXT environment can integrate business logic with data from diverse sources
across the enterprise. Data sources can be added or modified and the object continues to interact with
them as though no change occurred. Applications, therefore, function independently of any particular
data infrastructure. Developers can use specific database adaptors included in NeXT products to
integrate business logic with Oracle, Sybase, Informix and ODBC-compliant databases. The adaptors free
developers from having to write extensive SQL commands, as required by most other vendors' products.
Developers can also integrate their logic with online data feeds.

In addition, developers can integrate business logic with mainframe data and applications using
adaptors provided by third parties. These adaptors access the application and interactively map the
information to the dynamic application. At run-time, these objects interact with mainframe data and
services transparently, viewing them as just another database. Developers can continue to access and
update data through their host applications, preserving the business logic, audit trails and security
inherent to the legacy environment.

48



i pimid e b A AT 0 A 0 0 L O A O
JB: F10236 PN

Seq: 1 Free lead 180DMpaints, Next lead 0D, Vjust Ji:1

: 050.00.00.00 SN: 6 <MG>

NEXT SOFTWARE, INC. BOWNE OF PALO ALTO  (415) 858-1800

BPA_PS3

NOMARKS 18-NOV-1996 11:02 NEXT PCN: 051.00.00.00 — Page is valid, no graphics

Transparent Distribution Across the Internet/ World Wide Web, intranets and Enterprise-Wide
Client/Server Networks

NeXT's technology enables objects to reside anywhere on a network and communicate as if they all
reside within a single application. Objects can reside on the same computer, be distributed among
computers on the same local or wide-area network, or be transparently distributed among computers
anywhere on the intemet/Web. Objects look the same to an application whether they are local or remote.
No special coding is required to create remote objects, so an organization can develop business objects
without planning where they will be deployed. When it is time to deploy, the organization can distribute
objects wherever it wants among diverse clients, servers and databases. Developers can optimize
performance by locating objects where they best balance computation and network requirements. The
organization can even redistribute objects to try out different physical layouts without modifying them or
recompiling the application.

integrated Visual Development Environment

in addition to supporting Windows development toois offered by other vendors, NeXT products
include an integrated suite of development tools that share a common user interface and user paradigm,
making them easier to master. NeXT tools include a source level debugger, a class browser, a project
management utility, a web user interface builder and compilers for client and server environments.

NeXT’s visual development tools facilitate reusing prebuilt modules provided by NeXT or third parties or

developed by the customer. Developers do much of the work graphically, dragging and dropping to build
user-interface components, mapping business logic to data, and assembling objects.

NeXT's sales strategy is to pursue customer opportunities worldwide through its field sales force and
professional services organizations and to augment those efforts through multiple indirect distributions
channels, including VARs, system integrators, Intemet service providers and software developers.
NeXT's sales strategy is aimed at building relationships with large and mid-sized customers for continued
sales and support of NeXT's software products and services, and with VARs, system integrators, Internet
service providers and software developers to extend the market presence of NeXT and its software
products and services. Because NeXT's products facllitate the customer's sales and marketing and
business development efforts, NeXT's direct sales representatives and members of NeXT's indirect sales
channels often target a customer's sales, marketing and business development departments, as well as
the information technology department, in their sales efforts.

Direct Sales Force. NeXT's direct sales force sells its products and services primarily to large and
mid-sized customers on a worldwide basis. In order to achieve broad coverage by its sales force, NeXT
has divided the direct sales force into geographic territories. Each sales representative sells both NeXT's
WebObijects and OPENSTEP product lines in his or her temritory. As of September 30, 1996, the direct
sales force consisted of 85 professionals, up from 60 professionals as of December 31, 1995. NeXT
intends to continue to add to its direct sales force to expand its reach. Sales representatives are assigned
quotas and compensated for all revenues generated in their territories, both through direct and indirect
sales channels. In addition to sales representatives, NeXT’s direct sales force includes systems engineers
who provide pre-sales engineering support and an inhouse telesales and telemarketing group.

Indirect Sales Channels. To augment its direct sales efforts, NeXT strives to develop relationships
with a variety of domestic and international indirect sales channels, including VARs, system integrators,
Internet service providers and software developers. NeXT believes that these relationships will be
important in leveraging its sales and marketing efforts and accelerating the awareness of NeXT'’s
products in its target markets. To that end, in July 1996 NeXT announced its Enterprise Alliance Program
("EAP"), which is targeted at VARs, systems integrators, intemet service providers and software
developers. Participants in the EAP receive an integrated product and services suite for an annual
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subscription fee. As of September 30, 1996, NeXT had over 85 EAP members and relationships with over
150 other VARs, system integrators, Intemet service providers and software developers delivering and
implementing both intemet/Web and enterprise-wide client/server solutions in several vertical markets,
including banking, telecommunications, insurance, transportation, publishing and govemment markets.

Value-added resellers. VARs license and distribute NeXT's products in conjunction with their
products, and generally provide specialized application expertise in the installation, development and
support of the customer's applications. NeXT's VARs include ALl Technologies, inc., Comnetix, Filoli
information Systems and LAM Research Corporation.

System integrators and software developers. System integrators use NeXT's products to design
and implement tumkey solutions for its customer, generally integrating NeXT’'s products with its own
products or products of other companies. System integrators using NeXT's products include Advanced
Information Systems, Andersen Consuilting, BDM Intemational, Inc., ISSC, KPMG Peat Marwick LLP,
Lockheed Martin, Perot Systems Corporation, Price Waterhouse LLP, PSW Technologies, SHL Sys-
temhouse and Trident Data Systems. Software developers are generally small companies or individuals
that are using NeXT's products to develop a specific application for a customer.

internet service providers. Intemnet service providers use NeXT products in connection with other
products to provide content and web site hosting services. Internet service providers using NeXT's
products include BBN Planet, Multicom Publishing and ThoughtPort Authority, as well as several small
emerging companies.

To date, NeXT has sold its products primarily through its direct sales force. NeXT is currently
investing, and plans to continue to invest, significant resources to expand its direct sales force as well as
to expand its ability to sell through indirect channels by establishing and maintaining relationships with
VARs, systems integrators, Intemet service providers and software developers. Competition for qualified
sales personnel and for relationships with VARs, system integrators, intemet service providers and
software developers is intense, and NeXT has at times experienced and continues to experience difficulty
in recruiting such sales personnel and in establishing such third-party relationships. There can be no
assurance that the expansion of NeXT's direct sales force or indirect sales channels will yield a growth in
revenues or profitability, which could have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of
operations or financial condition. Any failure by NeXT to realize increased revenues as it expands its
direct sales force or other distribution channels would have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business,
results of operations and financial condition. In addition, NeXT expects that any material increase in the
percentage of its sales through indirect channels, such as VARs, system integrators, Internet service
providers and software developers, as a percentage of total revenues will adversely affect NeXT's
average selling prices and gross margins due to the lower unit prices that are typically received by the
vendor when selling through indirect channels. Agreements with VARs, system integrators, Intemet
service providers and software developers typically do not restrict such parties from distributing
competing products, and in many cases may be terminated by either party without cause. Furthermore,
sales through these indirect channels are frequently not accompanied by sales of NeXT's consulting or
education services. The timing of the expansion of NeXT's direct sales force or channels and the rate at
which NeXT's new salespeople or third party resellers become productive could also cause material
fluctuations in NeXT's quarterly financial condition or results of operations.

In 1993, 1994, 1995 and the nine months ended September 30, 1996, NeXT derived 17.2%, 15.1%,
19.2% and 20.0%, respectively, of its total revenues from sales to customers outside of the United States
and Canada. NeXT intends to expand its operations outside of the United States and Canada and enter
additional intemational markets, which will require significant management attention and financial
resources. NeXT's ability to expand the acceptance and use of its core technologies intemationally is
limited by the general acceptance of the Internet/Web and intranets in other countries. NeXT expects to
commit additional time and development resources to customizing its products for selected intemational
markets and developing international sales and support channels. There can be no assurance that such
efforts will be successful. As NeXT increases its intemationa! sales, its total revenues may also be
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affected to a greater extent by seasonal fluctuations resulting from lower intemational sales that typically
occur during the summer months. Furthermore, international sales are generally made in U.S. dollars.
NeXT has not engaged in foreign currency hedging activities, and intemational revenues are currently
subject to currency exchange fiuctuation risk. if NeXT'’s intemnational revenues increase as a percentage
of total revenues in the future, its foreign currency exposure may increase.

NeXT's products are typically used to develop applications that are critical to a customer's business
and the purchase of NeXT's OPENSTEP products, in particular, is often part of a customer's implementa-
tion of client/server computing. As a result, the license and implementation of NeXT's OPENSTEP
products generally involves a significant commitment of management attention and resources by
prospective customers. Accordingly, the sales process for OPENSTEP products is often subject to delays
associated with a long approval process that typically accompanies significant initiatives or capital
expenditures. For these and other reasons, the sales cycle associated with the license and implementa-
tion of NeXT's OPENSTEP products is often lengthy and subject to a number of significant delays over
which NeXT has little or no control. There can be no assurance that NeXT will not experience these
additional delays in the future.

NeXT's sales backiog is not significant and NeXT believes that backlog is not a meaningful indicator
of NeXT's future performance.

Strategic Relationships

NeXT is continuing to engage in and further evaluate certain reiationships with large Internet/Web
and client/ server software companies, including Netscape and Microsoft, to expand its market presence
and to provide fiexible and integrated solutions to such companies' customers. in July, 1996, NeXT
entered into a joint selling and marketing agreement with Netscape, pursuant to which NeXT compen-
sates Netscape for sales of WebObjects products to customers whose names are provided to NeXT by
Netscape. In addition, NeXT is a member of Netscape's App Foundry program, is an authorized reseller of
Netscape's products and supports Netscape ONE, Netscape's open environment for developing
business applications. NeXT's relationship with Microsoft is an informal relationship in which the two
companies cooperate to ensure that NeXT's products interoperate with Microsoft's products. NeXT also
believes that its relationships with hardware vendors, such as Hewlett-Packard, Digital and Sun, and
database providers, such as Oracle, Sybase and Informix, are important to the ongoing growth and
success of its business. In 199C, NeXT entered into a technology licensing agreement with Sun, under
which Sun is selling application development tools based on NeXT's OPENSTEP product line.

A key element of NeXT’s business strategy is to develop relationships with leading industry
organizations in order to increase NeXT's market presence, expand distribution channels and broaden
NeXT's product lines. Accordingly, NeXT maintains relationships with software vendors (such as
Microsoft and Netscape), hardware vendors (such as Hewlett-Packard, Digital and Sun) and database
providers (such as Oracle, Sybase and Informix). in July 1996, NeXT announced an Enterprise Alliance
Program targeted at VARs, systems integrators, Internet service providers and software developers.
NeXT believes that its continued success depends in large part on its ability to develop and maintain
such relationships. Many of NeXT's strategic relationships are unwritten, informal and non-exclusive, and
do not require the other party to sell NeXT's products. In addition, these relationships generally can be
terminated by either party at any time. There can be no assurance that NeXT's existing or future strategic
partners will not develop and market products in direct competition with NeXT or otherwise discontinue
their relationships with NeXT, or that NeXT will be able to successfully develop additional strategic
relationships. The failure of NeXT's strategic partners to augment the sales of NeXT's products could
have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of operations or financial condition.

Professional Services

To be competitive in providing its software products, NeXT believes that it must provide a high level
of professional services and support to its customers. NeXT's Professional Services organization,
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consisting of the Consulting Engineering, Education and Technical Support departments, employed
approximately 96 people as of September 30, 1996. Many of NeXT's customers currently have support
agreements with NeXT and have also contracted with NeXT for consulting and training services at least in
the initial phase of implementation of the customer's application. All fees for NeXT'’s consulting, education
and technical support services are charged separately from the license fees for NeXT's products.

Consulting. NeXT’s Cansulting Engineering team provides expertise and experience in helping
customers design, develop and deploy large, complex systems across the Interet/Web, intranets and
enterprise-wide client/server systems. The team is staffed by highly trained software development
engineers who have several years of experience with NeXT and third-party products. This depth of
experience allows them to assist in fundamental architectural issues, application design and project
management, as well as the implementation of NeXT's software. Consulting engineers serve as a vital link
between customers and NeXT's own engineering organization. They work closely with customer
development teams, frequently at the customer's facilities, which often allows the team to resolve
problems and issues as they arise.

NeXT is also dependent in part on expanding its consulting engineering capabilities to support the
expansion of its direct sales force. NeXT has in the past experienced and continues to experience
difficulty in recruiting qualified engineers and consulting personnel, and it often takes three to six months
for such personnel to be trained for providing consulting services to NeXT's customers. The timing of the
expansion of NeXT's consulting engineering capabilities and the rate at which such consultants can
become productive could cause material fluctuations in NeXT's quarterly financial condition or results of
operations. There can be no assurance that NeXT can successfully expand its consuiting engineering
capabilities to meet the needs of its customers, which could cause a loss of sales or customer
dissatisfaction, or otherwise have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition or results
of operations.

Although it is NeXT's policy not to take responsibility for project management or for guaranteeing the
specified functionality of project deliverables, from time to time, NeXT may commit to certain delivery
schedules or specifications. In addition, NeXT's customers may generally cancel their orders or terminate
their contracts for products or services with NeXT at any time and for any reason. Nonfulfiliment of
delivery schedules or an inability to meet product or project specifications by NeXT could result in, among
other things, cancellation of contracts, penalties or discounting of the purchase price or a delay in receipt
of revenues, any of which could have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of operations
or financial condition.

Education. NeXT's Education Services department delivers technical training on all NeXT software
products to NeXT's customers and strategic partners. NeXT provides open enroliment classes at NeXT's
training facilities in Redwood City, California and in Washington, D.C. and, if requested, at the customer's
site. These programs are designed to educate the NeXT customer in the architecture, design and
management of a software development project.

Technical Support. NeXT's Technical Support department provides upgrades and technical
support to NeXT's customers and strategic partners. NeXT provides an annual maintenance package
with upgrades, patches, and updates, as necessary, as well as an on-line web support program, basic
phone and e-mail support, an on-site visitation program and dedicated engineering support.

Marketing

NeXT's marketing department, comprised of marketing communication, product marketing and
telemarketing, consists of 16 professionals as of September 30, 1996, and utilizes a variety of marketing
efforts to increase its market presence and stimulate demand for its products and services, including
attending trade shows, maintaining a web site and engaging in direct mail and on-going customer
communications, public relations campaigns and advertising. NeXT also sponsors customer user group
and advisory board meetings designed to obtain customer feedback on their experience with NeXT's
products and application requirements. in addition, NeXT's marketing group provides competitive
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analyses of other companies' products, as well as strategic guidance in product positioning and future
product development.

Research and Product Development

NeXT believes that its future success will depend in large part on its ability to enhance its product
iines, develop new products, maintain technological leadership and satisfy continually changing customer
requirements for business application development. NeXT's development group consists of 81 fulltime
employees as of September 30, 1996 and is responsible for product architecture, functionality and quality
assurance. NeXT's products have been developed primarily by its intemal development staff. This group
is also responsible for enhancing NeXT products to integrate with emerging industry standards, additional
third-party application packages and leading database management systems, as well as for new product
definition and development. NeXT believes that its development group provides a significant competitive
advantage for NeXT. The development team includes persons with experience in, among other things,
internet and Web technology, visual programming design and object-oriented software development.
NeXT's ability to attract and retain highly qualified development engineers will be a principal determinant
of its success in maintaining technological leadership.

NeXT has made substantial investments in product development and technology integration. NeXT
spent approximately $8.9 million, or 63% of revenues, $10.7 million, or 21% of revenues, $12.4 million, or
27% of revenues, and $9.4 million, or 26% of revenues, on research and development activities in 1893,
1994, 1995 and the nine months ended September 30, 1986, respectively. To date, all software
development costs have been expensed as incumed. NeXT believes significant investments in product
development are required to remain competitive. Accordingly, NeXT intends to increase the dollar amount
of its product development expenditures in the future.

NeXT's current development efforts are focused on enhancements to its OPENSTEP Enterprise
product and its WebObjects product line. For example, NeXT began shipping Release 3.0 of the
WebObjects product line, which includes WebObjects Builder, in October 19896. in addition, by the end of
1996, NeXT intends to offer an add-on to WebObjects to enable Java developers to write server-based
WebObijects applications entirely in Java to take advantage of the scalability, database access and
performance available in WebObjects. There can be no assurance that NeXT will not experience
difficuities that could delay or prevent the successful development, introduction, and marketing of new
products and enhancements, or that its new products and enhancements will adequately meet the
requirements of the marketplace and achieve market acceptance.

The software market in which NeXT competes is characterized by rapid technological change,
frequent introductions of new products, changes in customer demands and evolving industry standards.
The introduction of products embodying new technologies and the emergence of new industry standards
can render existing products obsolete and unmarketable. For example, NeXT's customers have adopted
a wide variety of hardware, software, database and networking platforms, and as a result, to gain broad
market acceptance, NeXT has had to support the use of its software on many of such platforms. NeXT's
future success will depend upon its ability to address the increasingly sophisticated needs of its
customers by supporting existing and emerging hardware, software, database and networking platforms
and by developing and introducing enhancements to NeXT's products on a timely basis that keep pace
with such technological developments and emerging industry standards and customer requirements. in
particular, NeXT believes that it is critical that, in the near future, WebObjects is enhanced to enable
developers to build applications using Java, and NeXT is currently focusing its product development
efforts on such enhancements. There can be no assurance that NeXT will be successful in developing
and marketing enhancements to its products that respond to technological change, evolving industry
standards or customer requirements, that NeXT will not experience difficulties that could delay or prevent
the successiul development, functionality, introduction and sale of such enhancements or that such
enhancements will adequately meet the requirements of the marketplace and achieve any significant
degree of market acceptance. Delays in the scheduled release of products or product enhancements
may result in customer dissatisfaction and can adversely impact the market acceptance of such products
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or product enhancements. Although in the past NeXT has generally released new products and product
enhancements as scheduled, NeXT has in certain instances been required to eliminate functionality
intended for release with such products or product enhancements in order to meet scheduled release
dates. If release dates of any future product enhancements or new products are delayed or if when
released they fail to achieve market acceptance due to the elimination of expected functionality or
otherwise, NeXT's business, results of operations and financial condition would be materially and
adversely affected. In addition, the introduction or-announcement of new product offerings or enhance-
ments by NeXT or NeXT's competitors may cause customers to defer or forego purchases of current
versions of NeXT's products, which could also have a material adverse effect on NeXT’s business, results
of operations or financial condition.

Software products that are as internally complex as NeXT's products frequently contain errors or
defects, especially when first introduced or when new versions or enhancements are released. Although
NeXT has not experienced material adverse effects resulting from any such defects or errors to date,
there can be no assurance that, despite testing by NeXT and by current and potential customers, defects
and errors will not be found in NeXT's current versions or future products or enhancements after
commencement of commercial shipments. This may result in loss of revenues or delay in market
acceptance, which in tumn could have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of operations
or financial condition.

Competition

The market for NeXT's software products and services is rapidly evolving and intensely competitive.
NeXT expects competition to increase in the future from existing competitors and from companies that
may enter NeXT's existing or future markets with similar or substitute solutions that may be less costly or
provide better performance or functionality than NeXT's products. Many of NeXT’s current and potential
competitors have greater financial or management resources or name recognition or more extensive
customer bases than NeXT. NeXT's competitors may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging
technologies and changes in customer requirements or devote greater resources to the development,
promotion and sale of their products. NeXT expects to face additional competition as other established
and emerging companies enter the market for interet/Web-based, intranet and client/server technolo-
gies and new products and technologies are introduced. Increased competition could result in price
reductions, fewer customer orders, reduced gross margins, and loss of market share, any of which could
materially adversely affect NeXT's business, results of operations and financial condition. In addition,
cumrent and potential competitors may make strategic acquisitions or establish cooperative relationships
among themselves or with third parties, thereby increasing the ability of their products to address the
needs of NeXT's prospective customers. Current or potential competitors of NeXT could develop and
bundie software containing the same functionality offered by NeXT’s products with their product offerings
at little or no additional charge. Current and potential competitors may also be more successful than
NeXT in having their products or technologies accepted as industry standards. Accordingly, it is possible
that new competitors or alliances among current and new competitors may emerge and rapidly gain
significant market share. Such competition could materially adversely affect NeXT’s ability to obtain and
retain support for its products and services. There can be no assurance that NeXT will be able to compete
successfully against current and future competitors, and the failure to do so could have a material
adverse effect upon NeXT's business, results of operations and financial condition.

Companies directly competing with NeXT inciude Internet/Web application development product
companies such as NetDynamics and Bluestone, high-end client/server application development product
companies such as Forté and Seer and the object-oriented development product companies such as
ParcPlace / Digitalk and Visix. In the future, NeXT expects competition from Netscape and Microsoft,
which have announced their intention to offer application development products, IBM, which has invested
significant resources in object-oriented technology, and others to increase. NeXT also may experience
competition with respect to its client/server development products from Microsoft’s VisualBasic develop-
ment tools, particularly as VisualBasic is upgraded. In addition, NeXT expects database vendors such as
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Oracle, and Informix to provide many of the capabiiities needed in the development of internet/ Web-
based, intranet and client/server applications. Any of these companies could use its superior financial
resources, market presence and installed base of customers to compete effectively against NeXT.

NeXT believes that the principal competitive factors affecting the market for NeXT’s products and
services are ease of application development, deployment and management, functionality and features,
product architecture, product performance, reliabiiity, scalability, product quality, price and customer
support. NeXT believes it presently competes favorably with respect to each of these factors. However,
NeXT's market is still evolving, and there can be no assurance that NeXT will be able to compete
successfully against current and future competitors. The failure to compete successfully could have a
material adverse effect upon NeXT's business, results of operations or financial condition.

Intellectual Property Rights

NeXT's success and ability to compete is dependent in part upon its proprietary technology. While
NeXT relies on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret protection law, employee
and third party nondisclosure agreements, and other methods to establish and protect its proprietary
rights, NeXT believes that factors such as the technological and creative skilis of its personnel are more
essential to its success and ability to compete.

NeXT currently holds 14 software patents issued in the United States, three patents issued in
Canada and one patent issued in the United Kingdom, which patents will expire from 2009 to 2013. in
addition, NeXT has 12 patent applications pending in the United States, three pending in Japan, and two
pending under the Patent Cooperation Treaty. There can be no assurance that any patent applied for will
be granted pursuant to NeXT's patent applications, or if patents do issue, that any claims issued will be
sufficiently broad to protect NeXT's technology. In addition, there can be no assurance that any patents
issued to NeXT, or that NeXT may license from third parties, will not be challenged, reissued with
narrower scope, dominated by patents of others, invalidated or circumvented, or that any rights granted
thereunder would provide proprietary protection to NeXT. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that
others wili not develop technologies that are similar or superior to NeXT'’s technologies.

The source code for each of NeXT's proprietary software is protected both as a trade secret and as
copyrighted work. NeXT generally enters into confidentiality or license agreements with its employees,
consultants, and vendors, and generally controls access to and distribution of its software, documenta-
tion, and other proprietary information. NeXT'’s products are distributed in object code form only, and alt
end-user license agreements prohibit uniawful reverse engineering or decomplling of NeXT's software.
Despite these precautions, it may be possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use
NeXT’s products or technology without authorization, or to develop similar technology independently. in
addition, effective copyright and trade secret protection may be unavailable or limited in certain foreign
countries. To license its software products, NeXT generally relies on ‘'shrink wrap" licenses that are not
signed by the end-user and, therefore, may be unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdictions.
NeXT'’s products and technology generally are branded with trade names, some of which are registered
trademarks, and which are intended to identify and distinguish NeXT’s products from those of others.
Despite NeXT's efforts to protect its proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy aspects
of NeXT's products or intellectual property, or to obtain and use information that NeXT regards as
proprietary. Policing unauthorized use of NeXT's products and intellectual property is difficult. There can
be no assurance that the steps taken by NeXT will prevent misappropriation of its technology or
intellectual property, or that such agreements will be enforceable. in addition, litigation has been
necessary in the past and may be necessary in the future to enforce NeXT's intellectual property rights, to
protect NeXT's trade secrets, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others, or to
defend against claims of infringement or invalidity. Any such litigation could result in substantial costs and
diversion of resources and could have a material adverse effect on NeXT’s business, results of operations
or financial condition.
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NeXT relies on certain technology that it licenses from third parties, including software which is
integrated and used with intemally developed software. For example, NeXT incorporates certain Microsoft
files in OPENSTEP for Windows NT and in Release 3.0 of the WebObjects product line, Adobe Systems
Incorporated’s Display PostScript software in OPENSTEP and certain OPENSTEP-based applications and
UNIX software in OPENSTEP for Mach. There can be no assurance that these and other third party
technology licenses will continue to be available to NeXT on commercially reasonable terms or at ail. Any
required replacement licenses could prove more costly than NeXT's current license relationship$é and
might not provide technology as powerful and functional as the third-party technology currently licensed
by NeXT. While it may be necessary or desirable in the future to obtain other licenses relating to one or
more of NeXT's products or relating to current or future technologies, there can be no assurance that
NeXT will be able to do so on commercially reasonable terms or at all. The loss of or inability to maintain
any of these technology licenses could resuit in delays or reductions in product shipments until equivalent
technology could be identified, licensed and integrated, which could have a material adverse effect on
NeXT’s business, results of operations or financial condition. in addition, NeXT pays royalties under its
licenses with third parties. Under the terms of the license agreements, the royalty payments are subject
to audit by the third party licensor, and any such audit may result in additional royalties owed by NeXT,
which, if material, could have an adverse effect on NeXT's results of operations.

Government Regulation

NeXT is not currently subject to direct regulation by any governmental agency in the United States,
other than regulations applicable to business generally, and there are currently few laws or regulations
directly applicable to access to or commerce on the Internet/Web. Due to the increasing popularity and
use of the Intemet/Web, however, it is possible that a number of laws and regulations may be adopted
with respect to the Intemet/Web, covering issues such as user privacy, pricing and characteristics and
quality of products and services. The adoption of any such laws or regulations may decrease the growth
of the Internet/Web, which could in tum decrease the demand for NeXT's WebObjects products and
increase NeXT's cost of doing business or otherwise have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business,
results of operations and financial condition. Moreover, the applicability to the intemet/Web of existing
laws governing issues such as property ownership, libel and personal privacy is uncertain.

Employees

As of September 30, 1996, NeXT employed a total of 324 employees. This total includes 81 in
product development, 96 in professional services, 114 in sales and marketing, and 33 in administration.
Geographically, 279 employees were located in the United States, 3 in Canada, 30 in Europe, and 12 in
Asia. None of NeXT's employees is represented by a collective bargaining agreement, nor has NeXT
experienced any work stoppages. NeXT considers its relations with its employees to be good.

NeXT's success depends to a significant degree upon the continuing contributions of its key
personnel. The loss of key personnel could adversely affect NeXT. NeXT believes that its future success
will depend in large part upon its ability to attract and retain highly-skilled managerial, sales, marketing,
customer support and technical personnel. NeXT has at times experienced and continues to experience
difficulty in retaining and recruiting qualified managerial, sales, marketing, customer support, technical
and other personnel. In particular, NeXT has had, and is continuing to have, difficulty retaining and
recruiting qualified Java programmers. Since 1993, NeXT has experienced tumover in several of its
executive officer positions, as well as in its general employee base. Furthermore, competition for qualified
personnel is intense, and there can be no assurance that NeXT will be successful in attracting and
retaining such personnel. Competitors and others, most significantly small start-up companies developing
internet/ Web-based products, in the past have recruited, and may in the future recruit, NeXT's officers
and employees. Failure to attract and retain key personnel, or high rates of employee tumover, couid
have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, resuits of operations and financial condition.
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NeXT's Chief Executive Officer, President and Chairman, Steven P. Jobs, is also Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer of Pixar, a digital animation studio. Although Mr. Jobs spends approximately half of his
time at NeXT and is active in NeXT's management, he is not committed to spend a certain amount of time
at NeXT nor is he able to devote his full time and resources to NeXT. NeXT has established an Office of
the President which includes three senior officers, Dominique Trempont, Mitchell Mandich and Avadis
Tevanian, Jr., who are actively engaged in managing the business on a day-to-day basis. Further, NeXT
does not have an employment agreement with Mr- Jobs. Mr. Jobs has informed NeXT that he intends to
remain in his current position with NeXT; however, it is likely that the Company will seek to hire a new
Chief Executive Officer over the next twelve months or so. in addition, Mr. Jobs has informed NeXT that
he intends to remain as Chairman of NeXT if a new Chief Executive Officer were to be appointed. There
can be no assurance that Mr. Jobs' inablility to devote his full time and resources to NeXT will not
adversely affect NeXT's business, results of operations and financial condition.

Facilities

NeXT's primary administrative, sales, marketing, customer support and product development facility
occupies approximately 106,000 square feet in Redwood City, Califomia, under a lease agreement which
expires in April 1999. In addition, NeXT leases sales and support office space in the following
metropolitan areas: New York, NY; Chicago, IL.; Washington D.C.; Austin, TX; Dallas, TX; Houston, TX;
Boston, MA; Tampa, FL; Denver, CO; Minneapolis, MN; Vancouver B.C., Canada; Seattle, WA and Los
Angeles, CA. NeXT also maintains offices in London, Paris, Munich and Tokyo. NeXT currently does not
maintain off-site backup facilities for its corporate records. NeXT believes that its existing facilities are
adequate to meet its requirements for the foreseeable future and that suitable additional or altemate
office facilities will be available at reasonable terms as needed.

NeXT's primary operations, including product development, technical support, sales, marketing,
distribution and general administration, are housed in a single facility in Redwood City, California. Any
material disruption in NeXT's operations, whether due to fire, earthquake, natural disaster or otherwise,
could have a material adverse effect on NeXT's business, results of operations or financial condition.

NeXT is subject to a variety of federal, state and local governmental reguiations related to the use,
storage, discharge and disposal of toxic, volatile or otherwise hazardous chemicals with respect to
properties owned or leased by NeXT. Although NeXT does not currently use significant amounts of toxic
materials in the operation of its business, toxic materials could be found on the property currentiy
occupied by NeXT. Whether or not NeXT is responsible for any such contamination, NeXT could be found
liable as a tenant of the property and could be required to expend significant funds for the cleanup of the
contamination, which could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations or
financial condition of NeXT.

Legal Proceedings
NeXT is not involved in any material legal proceedings.
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MANAGEMENT
Executive Officers and Directors
The executive officers and directors of NeXT and their ages as of September 30, 1896 are as follows:
Name Age Position

Steven P. Jobs .......... M Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

Dominique Trempont ...... 42 Office of the President, Chief Financial Officer and Vice
President, General and Administration Group

Mitchell Mandich .......... 47 Office of the President and Vice President, Worldwide Sales
and Services

Avadis Tevanian, Jr., Ph.D. 35 Office of the President and Vice President, Engineering

Nancy R. Heinen .......... 39 Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

Sina Tamaddon ........... 39 Vice President

Scott Abel ............... 38 Vice President, Professional Services

Mikio Akiyama ............ 62 Director

(1) Member of Compensation Committee.
(2) Member of Audit Committee.

Mr. Jobs is a co-founder of NeXT and has served as its Chief Executive Officer and Chairman since
October 1985 and its President from October 1985 to September 1996. Mr. Jobs is also a co-founder of
Pixar Animation Studios (‘'Pixar’’), a digital animation studio, and has served in the Office of the
President and as a director of Pixar since February 1995, as its Chairman from 1986 to 1988 and since
March 1991 and as its Chief Executive Officer since February 1986. Mr. Jobs was also a co-founder of
Apple Computer, Inc., a computer company, where he co-designed the Apple Il and led the development,
manufacturing and marketing of the Macintosh and the LaserWriter printer. Mr. Jobs was awarded the
National Technology Medal in 1985, the Jefferson Award for Public Service in 1987 and was named
Entrepreneur of the Decade by Inc. magazine. Mr. Jobs attended Reed College in Portland, Oregon.

Mr. Trempont has served in the Office of the President since November 1996, and as NeXT's Chief
Financial Officer and Vice President, General and Administration Group since July 1993. From 1980 to
July 1993, Mr. Trempont served Raychem Corporation, high technology company, most recently as
Director of Finance and Business Development for Raychem’s Electronics Group, a $450 million
business. Mr. Trempont holds a Masters of Business Administration degree from European Institute of
Business Administration, France, and a Bachelors degree in Economics and Business Administration from
the University of Louvain, Belgium.

Mr. Mandich has served in the Office of the President since November 1996 as NeXT's Vice
President, Worldwide Sales and Services since August 1996 and was NeXT's Vice President, Worldwide
Sales from December 1995 to August 1996. From January 1993 to November 1995, Mr. Mandich served
as Senior Vice President of Americas Sales and Marketing at Pyramid Technology, a SIEMENS Nixdorf
Company, a computer hardware company, where he increased their direct sales organization by 160
representatives. Prior to that, from September 1982 to December 1992, he served Tandem Computers
Incorporated, a computer hardware company (‘Tandem'), as Director of U.S. Sales Operations and
Director of Westem Region Sales. Mr. Mandich holds a Masters degree in Sociology from San Jose State
University and a Bachelor of Arts degree in Sociology from the University of Califomia at Berkeley.

Mr. Tevanian, Jr., Ph.D. has served in the Office of the President since November 1996, as NeXT's
Vice President, Engineering since March 1995, and as a member of NeXT's engineering team since
January 1988. He was a principal designer and engineer of the Mach operating system upon which
NEXTSTEP is based and he led the development of many NeXT’s technologies. Mr. Tevanian holds a
Ph.D. and a Masters of Science degree in computer science from Carnegie Mellon University and a
Bachelor of Arts degree in mathematics from the University of Rochester.
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Ms. Heinen has served as NeXT's Vice President since June 1996, General Counsel since
December 1994 and Secretary since April 1986 and has served NeXT since February 1994. Prior to that,
Ms. Heinen served as Group Counsel and Assistant Secretary at Tandem from 1989 to February 1994,
where she provided legal support for Tandem's sales and marketing, product development and
manufacturing divisions and was responsible for periodic reporting to the Securities and Exchange
Commission and for various Board of Directors matters. Prior to that, Ms. Heinen was in private practice in
the San Francisco area. Ms. Heinen holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in English and Psychology from the
University of California at Berkeley and a Juris Doctor degree from Boalt Hall School of Law, University of

California at Berkeley.

Mr. Tamaddon has served as NeXT's Vice President of Professional Services from August 1994 to
August 1996, and is currently on leave from NeXT. From May 1893 to August 1994, he was Vice
President of Advanced Technology for Software Alliance, a subsidiary of Teknekron, a software company,
where he led an organization responsible for the development of new products and provided consuiting
services based on object-oriented environments to large financial institutions. Before that, Mr. Tamaddon
served as Regional Sales Manager for NeXT in Chicago from January 1988 to May 1993. Mr. Tamaddon
attended the University of Arizona and Purdue University.

Mr. Abel has served as NeXT's Vice President, Professional Services since August 1996, and as a
member of the engineering services team since August 1994 and during the period August 1988 to
March 1993. From March 1993 to March 1994, he served PSW Technology, a consulting company, as
Director of Business Systems Development and, from April 1994 to August 1994, he served Software
Alliance, a subsidiary of Teknekron, a software company, as Director, Advance Product Development.
Mr. Abel holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Physics from the University of Texas, Austin.

Mr. Akiyama has served as a director of NeXT since September 1992. Mr. Akiyama is currently an
advisor to the SA & Affiliates Planning and Coordination Division, Corporate Development and Strategy
Headquarters of Canon. Mr. Akiyama has served Canon since 1958 in various capacities, including
General Manager, Deputy Director at Canon Office Systems Center, General Manager in charge of Canon
Fax Business and Vice President at Canon Holosonics. Mr. Akiyama holds a Bachelor of Science degree
in mechanical engineering from Tokyo Institute of Technology.

Mr. Akiyama was nominated and elected to the Board of Directors of NeXT pursuant to a voting
agreement between Canon and Steven P. Jobs. This voting agreement will terminate upon the closing of
the offerings.

NeXT's Chief Executive Officer and Chairman, Steven P. Jobs, is also Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of Pixar, a digital animation studioc. Although Mr. Jobs spends approximately half of his time at
NeXT and is active in NeXT’s management, he is not committed to spend a certain amount of time at
NeXT nor is he able to devote his full time and resources to NeXT. Further, NeXT does not have an
employment agreement with Mr. Jobs. NeXT has established an Office of the President which includes
three senior officers, Dominique Trempont, Mitchell Mandich and Avadis Tevanian, Jr., who are actively
engaged in managing the business on a day-to-day basis. Mr. Jobs has informed NeXT that he intends to
remain in his current position with NeXT; however, it is likely that the Company will seek to hire.a new
Chief Executive Officer over the next 12 months or so. in addition, Mr. Jobs has informed NeXT that he
intends to remain as Chairman of NeXT if a new Chief Executive Officer were to be appointed. There can
be no assurance that Mr. Jobs' inability to devote his full time and resources to NeXT will not adversely
effect NeXT's business, resuits of operations or financial condition.

All directors hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders or until their successors have
been elected and qualified. Officers serve at the discretion of NeXT’s Board of Directors (the *Board").
There are no family relationships between any of the directors or executive officers of NeXT.
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Board Committees

Prior to consummation of the offerings, the Board will establish a Compensation Committee and an
Audit Committee. The Compensation Committee will consist of Mr. Akiyama. The function of the
Compensation Committee will be to review and approve salaries, bonuses and other benefits payable to
NeXT's executive officers and to administer NeXT's stock plans. The Audit Committee will consist of
Mr. Akiyama. The functions of the Audit Committee will be to recommend selection of independent public
accountants to the Board, fo review the scope and results of the year-end audit with management and
the independent auditors and to review NeXT's accounting principles and its system of internal
accounting controls. The Board currently has no nominating committee or other committee performing a

similar function.

Director Compensation

Directors of NeXT are not compensated for their services as such, but are eligible to participate in
NeXT's stock option plans. Under NeXT's 1990 Stock Option Plan, in 1994, Mr. Akiyama was granted an
option to purchase 40,000 shares of Common Stock at an exercise price of $1.00 per share. The option
vests annually over four years in equal installments. See “'— Stock Plans — Stock Plans’’ and *‘Certain

Transactions."

Compensation Committee Interlocks and insider Participation

NeXT did not have a Compensation Committee during 1995, but each of the directors, including
Steven P. Jobs (who also served as an executive officer of NeXT during 1995) participated in
deliberations concerning executive compensation. See ‘'Certain Transactions’ for information regarding
related-party transactions involving Mr. Jobs. No interlocking relationship exists between NeXT's execu-
tive officers, Board and the compensation committee of any other company.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification Matters

NeXT's Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation limit the liability of NeXT's directors for
monetary damages to the maximum extent permitted by California iaw. Such limitation of liability has no
effect on the availability of equitable remedies, such as injunctive relief or rescission.

NeXT's Amended and Restated Bylaws provide that NeXT will indemnify its directors and officers
and may indemnify its employees and agents (other than officers and directors) against certain liabilities
to the maximum extent permitted by Califomnia law. NeXT has entered into indemnification agreements
with each of its current directors and officers that provide for indemnification of, and advancement of
expenses to, such persons to the maximum extent permitted by California law, including by reason of
action or inaction occurring in the past and circumstances in which indemnification and advancement of
expenses are discretionary under California law.

At present, there is no pending or, to NeXT's knowledge, threatened litigation or proceeding
involving any director, officer, employee or agent of NeXT, where indemnification will be required or
permitted. NeXT is not aware of any threatened litigation or proceeding which may result in a claim for
such indemnification.
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Executive Compensation

The following table sets forth certain summary information regarding compensation earned in the
year ended December 31, 1995 by NeXT's Chief Executive Officer and the other executive officers whose
total salary and bonus for 1995 exceeded $100,000 (“Named Executive Officers™).

Long-Term
Annual Calponuﬂon(ﬂ Compensation
- Other Annual Securities c;.u omo:m
w nea
Name and Principal Position Salary($) Bonus($) ($)(2) Opﬂom(:!) (s)(a)
Steven P. Jobs .......... $ 1 $ — $ - — $6,434
Chairman, President and
CEO
Mitchell Mandich ......... 16,667 (4) — — 200,000 551
Vice President,
Worldwide Sales
Sina Tamaddon(5)....... 166,667 50,000 — 90,000 6,694
Vice President
Avadis Tevanian, Jr. ...... 162,500 500 — 125,000 6,687
Vice President,
Engineering
Dominique Trempont ..... 200,000 - 33,931(6) — 6,746

Chief Financial Officer
and Vice President,
General & Administration
Group

(1) Paul Hegarty was NeXT's Vice President, OPENSTEP Engineering during 1995 and eamed
$180,152 in salary, bonus and other compensation in 1995. Mr. Hegarty left NeXT in June 1996.

(2) In accordance with the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission, other compensation in the
form of perquisites and other personal benefits has been omitted in those cases where the
aggregate amount of such perquisites and other personal benefits constituted less than the lesser of
$50,000 or 10% of the total annual salary and bonus for the Named Executive Officer for such year.

(3) Amounts represent premiums for health and term life insurance.

(4) Mr. Mandich was hired in December 1995. His base salary for 1996 is $200,000 and he is entitled to
variable compensation of $150,000, which is guaranteed for 1996.

(5) Mr. Tamaddon took a leave of absence from NeXT in August 1996.

(6) This amount represents reimbursement for certain expenses incurred by Mr. Trempont which NeXT
agreed to pay upon Mr. Trempont's employment with NeXT.
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Option Grants During the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 1995

The following table sets forth certain information regarding the stock options granted during the year

ended December 31, 1995 to each of the Named Executive Officers.

Potential Realizable Value at
Assumed Annual Rates of
Stock Price rociation for
individis! Grants Option Term(5)
Number of % of Total
Underlying Gnnbdl.b
Options Exercise
Granted in Fiscal Price Expiration
Named Executive Officer (#)(1) Year(2) ($/8h)(3) Dete{4) 5%($) 10%($)
Steven P. Jobs. ......... — —_ — — _— —_—
Mitchell Mandich ........ 200,000 19.5% $8.00 12/01/05 $1,006,231 $2,549,988
Sina Tamaddon ......... 40,000 39 3.00 1/01/05 75,467 191,249
50,000 49 8.00 7120105 251,558 637,497
Avadis Tevanian, Jr. ..... 25,000 24 3.00 1/01/05 47,167 119,531
50,000 49 3.00 2127105 94,334 239,061
50,000 49 8.00 7120105 251,558 637,497

Dominique Trempont..... —_ —

(1

(2)
(3)

4)

(5)

Each of the options shown in the above table is a nonqualified stock option that vests over a four
year period such that 25% of the shares subject to the option vest on each of the first four
anniversary dates of the grant of the option until the option is fully vested, provided that the optionee
remains employed by NeXT on such anniversary date. See '‘— Stock Plans — 1980 Stock Option
Plan.”

The total number of shares subject to options granted to employees in 1995 was 1,023,850.

The options were granted at an exercise price equal to the fair market value of NeXT’'s Common
Stock on the date of grant, as determined by the Board. The exercise price may be paid in cash,
check, promissory note, shares of NeXT’s Common Stock, proceeds from the sale of shares of
Common Stock acquired upon the exercise of the option through a cashless exercise procedure or
by any combination of such methods.

Options may terminate before their expiration dates if the optionee’s status as an employee or
consultant is terminated or upon optionee’s death.

The Potential Realizable Value is calculated based on the fair market value on the date of grant,
which is equal to the exercise price of options granted in 1995, assuming that the stock appreciates
in value from the date of grant until the end of the option term at the annual rate specified (5% or
10%). Potential Realizable Value is net of the option exercise price. The assumed rates of
appreciation are specified in rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission and do not represent
NeXT's estimate or projection of future stock price. Actual gains, if any, resulting from stock option
exercises and Common Stock holdings are dependent on the future performance of the Common
Stock and overall stock market conditions, as well as the option holders’ continued employment
through the exercise/vesting period. There can be no assurance that the amounts reflected in this
table will be achieved.
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Aggregate Option Exercises in 1995 and 1995 Fiscal Year-End Option Values

The following table sets forth for each of the Named Executive Officers certain information
conceming option exercises during 1995 and the value realized upon option exercises during 1995. Also
reported are values for “'in-the-money"' options that represent the positive spread between the respective
exercise prices of outstanding options and the fair market value of NeXT's Common Stock as of

December 31, 1995.

dlln.w ] frar umOpﬂon
-the-Money t
Shares w% Year-End i Fisecal Yetr-End(S.) .
Aoquired on Value Exercisable Unexercisable Exercisable Unexercisable
Name Exorcise(#) Realized(3)(1) _ (#)(2) (#) (8)(2) ($)
Steven P. Jobs..... —_ $ — o — 3 — 3 —
Mitchell Mandich ... — — —_ 200,000 — —_
Sina Tamaddon .. 7,500 45,000 17,500 102,500 — 365,000
Avadis Tevanian, Jr. — — 53,175 146,875 86,550 738,750
80,000 120,000 480,000 720,000

Dominique Trempont — —_

(1) Based on the fair market value of the underlying securities on the date of exercise, as determined by
NeXT's Board, minus the aggregate exercise price.

(2) Exercisable in accordance with the vesting provisions described above in Note 1 to the table entitied
“Option Grants During the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 1895."

(3) Calculated on the basis of the fair market value of the underlying securities as of December 31, 1995
($8.00 per share), as determined by NeXT's Board, minus the aggregate exercise price.

Stock Plans

1990 Stock Option Plan. NeXT’s 1990 Stock Plan, as amended (the ‘1990 Plan''), was approved
by the Board of Directors in October 1989 and by the shareholders in August 1880, and was amended in
July 1985. The 1990 Plan provides for the granting of options to purchase Common Stock to officers,
directors, employees, consultants, advisors and other independent contractors of NeXT. As of Septem-
ber 30, 1996, an aggregate of 5,025,000 shares of Common Stock had been reserved for issuance under
the 1990 Plan, an aggregate of shares of Common Stock had been issued under the 1990 Plan and
options to purchase an aggregate of 3,218,832 shares of Common Stock were outstanding under the
1980 Plan. Options granted under the 1990 Plan generally vest over a four year period, and expire ten
years from the date of grant. The Board of Directors has determined that no further options will be
granted under the 1980 Plan after the closing of the offerings.

1997 Stock Option Plan. NeXT's 1997 Stock Plan (the 1997 Plan'') provides for the granting to
employees of incentive stock options within the meaning of Section 422 of the internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the *Intemal Revenue Code"'), and for the granting to employees and consuitants of
nonstatutory stock options and stock purchase rights (‘*SPRs’’). The 1997 Plan was approved by the
Board in | ] 1996 and by the shareholders in January 1897. Unless terminated sooner, the 1997
Plan will terminate automatically in January 2007. The maximum aggregate number of shares of Common
Stock which may be optioned and sold under the 1997 Plan is | 1. plus an annual increase equal
to the lesser of (i) [ ] shares, (ii) [ %] of the outstanding shares on such date or (iii) a
lesser amount determined by the Board of Directors.

The 1996 Plan may be administered by the Board or a committee of the Board (the *"Committee’’),
which Committee shall, in the case of options intended to qualify as *performance-based compensation®'
within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, consist of two or more *‘outside directors” within the
meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code. The Committee has the power to determine the terms of the
options or SPRs granted, including the exercise price, the number of shares subject to each option or
SPR, the exercisability thereof, and the form of consideration payable upon such exercise. In addition, the

-
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Committee has the authority to amend, suspend or terminate the 1997 Plan, provided that no such action
may affect any share of Common Stock previously issued and sold or any option previously granted under

the 1997 Plan.

Options and SPRs granted under the 1997 Plan are not generally transferabie by the optionee, and
each option and SPR is generally exercisable during the lifetime of the optionee only by such optionee.
Options granted under the 1997 Plan must generally be exercised within three months of the end of
optionee's status as an employee or consultant of NeXT, or within twelve months after such optionee’s
termination by death or disability, but in no event later than the expiration of the option’s ten year term. in
the case of SPRs, uniess the Committee determines otherwise, the restricted stock purchase agreement
shall grant NeXT a repurchase option exercisable upon the voluntary or involuntary termination of the
purchaser's employment with NeXT for any reason (including death or disability) . The purchase price for
shares repurchased pursuant to the restricted stock purchase agreement shall be the original price paid
by the purchaser and may be paid by cancellation of any indebtedness of the purchaser to NeXT. The
repurchase option shall lapse at a rate determined by the Committese. The exercise price of all incentive
stock options granted under the 1997 Plan must be at least equal to the fair market value of the Common
Stock on the date of grant. The exercise price of nonstatutory stock options and SPRs granted under the
1997 Plan is determined by the Committee, but with respect to nonstatutory stock options intended to
qualify as ‘‘performance-based compensation’ within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, the
exercise price must at least be equal to the fair market value of the Common Stock on the date of grant.
With respect to any participant who owns stock possessing more than 10% of the voting power of all
classes of NeXT's outstanding capital stock, the exercise price of any incentive stock option granted
must equal at least 110% of the fair market value on the grant date and the term of such incentive stock
option must not exceed five years. The term of all other options granted under the 1997 Plan may not
exceed ten years.

The 1997 Plan provides that in the event of a merger of NeXT with or into another corporation, a sale
of substantially all of NeXT's assets or a like transaction involving NeXT, each option shall be assumed or
an equivalent option substituted by the successor corporation. If the outstanding options are not
assumed or substituted for as described in the preceding sentence, the Committee shall provide for the
Optionee to have the right to exercise the option or SPR as to all of the optioned stock, including shares
as to which it would not otherwise be exercisable. If the Committee makes an option or SPR exercisable in
full in the event of a merger or sale of assets, the Committee shall notify the optionee that the option or
SPR shall be fully exercisable for a period of fifteen (15) days from the date of such notice, and the
option or SPR will terminate upon the expiration of such period.

1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. NeXT's 1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the 1997
Purchase Plan’’) was adopted by the Board in , 1896 and by the shareholders in January 1997.
The maximum aggregate number of shares of Common Stock which may be optioned and sold under the
1997 Purchase Plan is 500,000, plus an annual increase equal to the lesser of (i) | ] shares,
(i) [ %] of the outstanding shares on such date or (lii) a lesser amount determined by the Board.
The 1997 Purchase Pian, which is intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Intemal Revenue Code, is
implemented by twelve month offering periods beginning on the first trading day on or after February 15
and August 15 of each year, except for the first such offering period which commences on the first
trading day on or after the effective date of the offerings and ends on the last trading day on or before
February 15, 1988. During each offering period, payroll deductions are accumulated and shares of
Common Stock are purchased with a participant’s accumulated payroll deductions at the end of each
such offering period. The 1997 Purchase Plan is administered by the Board or by a committee appointed
by the Board. Employees are eligible to participate if they are customarily employed by NeXT or any
participating subsidiary for at least 20 hours per week and more than five months in any calendar year.
The 1997 Purchase Plan permits eligible employees to purchase Common Stock through payroll
deductions of up to 10% of an employee's compensation [ (excluding commissions, overtime and
other bonuses and incentive compensation)], up to a maximum of $21,250 for all offering periods
ending within the same calendar year. The price of stock purchased under the 1997 Purchase Plan is
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85% of the fair market value of the Common Stock at the beginning or the end of an offering period,
whichever is lower. Employees may end their participation at any time during an offering period, and they
will be paid their payroll deductions to date. Participation ends automatically upon termination of

employment with NeXT.

Rights granted under the 1997 Purchase Plan are not transferable by a participant other than by will,
the laws of descent and distribution, or as otherwise provided under the 1997 Purchase Plan. The 1997
Purchase Plan provides that, in the event of a merger of NeXT with or into another corporation or a sale of
substantially all of NeXT's assets, the Board shall shorten the offering periods then in progress (so that
employees’ rights to purchase stock under the Plan are exercised prior to the merger or sale of assets).
The 1997 Purchase Plan will terminate in [ ] 2007. The Board has the authority to amend or
terminate the 1997 Purchase Plan, except that no such action may adversely affect any outstanding
rights to purchase stock under the 1997 Purchase Plan.

1997 Director Option Plan

Non-employee directors are entitled to participate in the 1997 Director Option Plan (the “Director
Plan"). The Director Plan was adopted by the Board of Directors in [ ] and approved by the
shareholders in January 1997, but it will not become effective until the date of this Offering. The Director
Plan has a term of ten years, unless terminated sooner by the Board. A total of | ] shares of
Common Stock have been reserved for issuance under the Director Plan.

The Director Plan permits discretionary option grants to non-employee directors. In addition, it
provides for the automatic grant of 30,000 shares of Common Stock (the *“First Option™’) to each non-
employee director on the date on which the person first becomes a non-employee director, unless
immediately prior to becoming a non-employee director, such person was a director of the Company.
Starting with the third anniversary of the date on which a person first became a non-employee director, he
or she shall automatically be granted an option to purchase 10,000 shares (a ‘‘Subsequent Option’’)
each anniversary of such date. Each First Option and each Subsequent Option shall have a term of
10 years and the shares subject to the option shall vest in equal annual increments over the three-year
period immediately following the date of grant. The exercise prices of the First Option and each
Subsequent Option shall be 100% of the fair market value per share of the Common Stock, generally
determined with reference to the closing price of the Common Stock as reported on the Nasdaq National
Market on the date of grant.

In the event of a merger of the Company with or into another corporation, or the sale of substantially
all of the assets of the Company, each option may be assumed or an equivalent option substituted by the
successor corporation. if an option is assumed or substituted for, it shall continue to vest as provided in
the Director Plan. However, if a non-employee director's status as a director of the Company or the
successor corporation, as applicable, is terminated other than upon a voluntary resignation by the non-
employee director, each option granted to such non-employee director shall become fully vested and
exercisable. if the successor does not agree to assume or substitute for the option, each option shall also
become fully vested and exercisable for a period of thirty days from the date the Board notifies the
optionee of the option’s full exercisability, after which period the option shall terminate. Options granted
under the Director Plan must be exercised within three months of the end of the optionee's tenure as a
director of the Company, or within tweive months after such director’s termination by death or disability,
but in no event later than the expiration of the option's ten year term. No option granted under the
Director Plan is transferable by the optionee other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and
each option is exercisable, during the lifetime of the optionee, only by such optionee.
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CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS

Relationship with Canon Inc.

Prior to July 1993, Canon acquired six million shares of Series C Preferred Stock for an aggregate of
$120 million. In July 1993, NeXT entered into a Master Agreement (the ‘‘Master Agreement’) with
Canon providing for (i) the execution of an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "“Asset Purchase
Agreement'’) for the sale by NeXT to Canon of the certain intangible and tangible assets (including
certain patents) related to a design project for a RISC-based computer workstation for $13 million (the
"‘Asset Purchase™), (ii) the execution by NeXT and Canon of a Distributor Agreement (the *‘Distributor
Agreement’), including the advance payment of $10 million against future software purchases,
(iii) NeXT'’s agreement to provide marketing and technical consulting services to a subsidiary of Canon
for two years following the closing of the Asset Purchase in consideration for Canon's payment to NeXT of
$1 milion and (iv) the execution of a license, pursuant to which NeXT granted a non-exclusive,
nontransferable and paid-up license to a subsidiary of Canon to use certain custom in-house applications
developed by NeXT, for which Canon would pay NeXT $1 million. In consideration for NeXT entering into
the Master Agreement, Canon agreed to cancel all interest accrued and principal amounts owed to
Canon by NeXT under a Loan Agreement dated as of April 22, 1991 and all interest and certain principal
amounts owed to Canon by NeXT under the Canon Loan Agreement. in addition, under the Asset
Purchase Agreement, NeXT agreed not to compete directly or indirectly with Canon in the development
or manufacture of a RISC-based computer workstation for a period of five years from the closing of the
Asset Purchase.

Under the Distributor Agreement, executed in October 1993, NeXT granted Canon exclusive
distribution rights (subject to certain limited exceptions) for NeXT's NEXTSTEP products (including
updates, improvements, enhancements, upgrades, successors and replacements ) in Japan, the Repub-
lic of Korea, Taiwan, Hong Kong, Singapore, Indonesia, Thailand, the Phillippines, Malaysia, Myanmar and
the People's Republic of China (the ‘Temitory’) and nonexclusive distribution rights outside of the
Territory. The exclusivity of this agreement terminated on December 31, 1994.

In addition, under the Master Agreement, Canon agreed to convert up to a maximum of $25 million of
NeXT's obligation to Canon under the Canon Loan Agreement into shares of NeXT's Series C Preferred
Stock (the *'Series C Preferred'’) upon the receipt by NeXT of $25 million of equity capital from outside
investors (the “Series C Financing”). In January 1894, Canon converted $25 million of the outstanding
balance under the Canon Loan Agreement for 1,250,000 shares of NeXT’s Series C Preferred Stock
pursuant to a Series C Stock Purchase Agreement dated January 31, 1984 among NeXT and certain
investors (including Canon). In connection with the Series C Financing, such investors were granted
certain piggyback registration rights and a co-sale right to participate in any sales of NeXT's securities by
Steven P. Jobs. See ‘‘Description of Capital Stock — Registration and Other Rights."

In addition, Mr. Jobs and Canon have entered into a voting agreement whereby Mr. Jobs agreed to
vote his shares of NeXT capital stock for a Canon representative on the Board of Directors. Mikio Akiyama
is currently serving on NeXT's Board of Directors as Canon's representative under this voting agreement.
The voting agreement terminates upon the consummation of NeXT's initial public offering. Canon has also
agreed that in the event it proposes to transfer, assign or otherwise dispose of any of its shares of capital
stock of NeXT, NeXT has a right of first refusal and Mr. Jobs has a second right of refusal to purchase all,
but not less than all, of the shares of capital stock proposed to be disposed of. These refusal rights of
NeXT and Mr. Jobs terminate on December 31, 1996. Canon has also agreed to a standstill agreement
with NeXT with respect to the acquisition of up to a specified amount of additional capital stock of NeXT
by Canon other than the conversion of obligations of NeXT to Canon under the Canon Loan Agreement.
See "‘Management — Executive Officers and Directors™ and “Description of Capital Stock — Registra-
tion and Other Rights."”

As of December 31, 1995, NeXT had a principal balance of approximately $28 million outstanding
under the Canon Loan Agreement, $20 million of which carries interest at 6.2% and was due on July 27,
1996 and approximately $8 million of which carries interest at 6.26% and was due on August 21, 1996. In

. 1996, Canon and NeXT entered into an agreement to extend the due date of the
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outstanding balances under the Canon Loan Agreement to April 27, 1997 and May 21, 1997,
respectively. Loans under this agreement are collateralized by certain intangible assets of NeXT including
certain patents and patent applications. The Canon Loan Agreement aiso prohibits NeXT from paying
cash dividends on any of its capital stock or from entering into a consolidation, merger or sale of all or
substantially all of its assets resulting in a change of control of NeXT, and prohibits any redemption,
purchase or other acquisition of NeXT’s outstanding shares by NeXT, other than repurchases under
employee benefit plans. in. addition, under the Canon Loan Agreement, either NeXT or Canon may
convert any or all of the then outstanding principal into Common Stock of NeXT upon the consummation
of a firm underwritten public offering of securities aggregating $75 million or greater of NeXT's equity
securities at a per share price equal to NeXT’s initial public offering price. In October 1896, NeXT notified
Canon that it intends to convert all amounts outstanding under the Canon Loan Agreement into
1,896,639 shares of Common Stock upon consummation of the offerings. As of September 30, 1996,
NeXT'’s outstanding principal balance under the Canon Loan Agreement was $28,222,000. See “Man-
agement's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations’ and Note 4 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Relationship with Steven P. Jobs

Prior to January 1893, Mr. Jobs acquired 15,450,000 shares of capital stock of NeXT for an
aggregate purchase price of $ . In December 1993, Mr. Jobs acquired an additional 250,000
shares of Series C Preferred Stock of NeXT at an aggregate purchase price of $5 million. Under the stock
purchase agreement between NeXT and Mr. Jobs, NeXT has a right of first refusal with respect to any
proposed transfers of the Series C Preferred Stock held by Mr. Jobs. in connection with the Series C
Financing and prior preferred stock financings by NeXT, Mr. Jobs has also granted to Canon and certain
other purchasers of preferred stock of NeXT a right to participate in any sale by Mr. Jobs of the shares of
NeXT’s capital stock as set forth under the Rights Agreement dated July 27, 1992, as amended (the
"“Rights Agreement'') and has agreed to vote his shares of stock of NeXT to maintain a representative of
Canon on the Board. The voting agreement terminates upon the closing of the offerings. See ‘“‘Manage-
ment — Executive Officers and Directors'* and '‘Description of Capital Stock — Registration and Other
Rights.”

In . Mr. Jobs entered into an agreement with NeXT and Morgan Guaranty to guarantee
the payment of up to $6.5 million of the outstanding balance of NeXT's loans from Morgan Guaranty. The
amount guaranteed was increased to $11 million in July 1996 and to $15 million in October 1996 in
connection with corresponding increases in the amount outstanding to Morgan Guaranty. NeXT agreed to
pay the outstanding principal amount of the Morgan Guaranty Note in excess of $6 million with a portion
of the net proceeds of the offerings pursuant to an agreement with Steven P. Jobs to personally
guarantee the principal amounts outstanding under the Morgan Guaranty Note up to $15 million. As of
September 30, 1996, the outstanding balance under such loans was $11 million, with interest accruing at
the prime rate (8.25% as of September 30, 1996). The loans are due on demand.

in December 1995, Mr. Jobs entered into an agreement with NeXT and MLBFS to guarantee the
payment of up to [25] of the outstanding balance of NeXT's loans from MLBFS up to a maximum of
$2 million. As of September 30, 1996, the outstanding balance of such loans was $8 million, with interest
accruing at the 30-day commercial paper rate plus 2.50% (8.0% as of September 30, 1998). The
maturity date for such loans is March 31, 1997 or will convert to common stock upon the completion of
the offerings.

Other Events

in February 1994, NeXT granted an option to purchase 40,000 shares at $1.00 per share to each of
Mikio Akiyama who was a non-employee director of NeXT at such time.

NeXT has entered into indemnification agreements with each of its directors and executive officers.
Such agreements require NeXT to indemnify such individuals to the fullest extent permitted by California
law. See ‘'Management — Limitation of Liability and Indemnification Matters."
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NeXT believes that all of the transactions set forth above were made on terms no less favorable to
NeXT than could have been obtained from unaffiiated third parties. All future transactions, including
loans, between NeXT and its officers, directors and principal shareholders and their affiliates will be
approved by a majority of the Board of Directors, including a majosity of the independent and
disinterested directors of the Board of Directors, and will be on terms no less favorable to NeXT than
could be obtained from unaffiliated third parties.
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PRINCIPAL SHAREHOLDERS

The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of NeXT's Common Stock as of September 30,
1996, and as adjusted to refiect the sale by NeXT of the shares of Common Stock offered hereby, the
conversion of all outstanding shares of Preferred Stock into shares of Common Stock upon closing of the
offerings, by (i) each person known to NeXT to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of NeXT's
Common Stock, (ii) each of NeXT's directors, (iii) each of the Named Executive Officers, and (iv) all
directors and executive officers as a group. Except as otherwise indicated in the footnotes to the table,
the persons and entities named in the table have sole voting and investment power with respect to all
shares beneficially owned, subject to community property laws, where applicable.

Wmu:
Shares After the
Neme Gonofialy Owned(1)  Ofldnge. _Ofiinge
Steven P.Jobs .................
900 Chesapeake Drive
Redwood City, California 94063
CanoninC.(2) coovevrvnnncrcnnss

30-2, Shimomaruko 3-chome
Ohta-ku, Tokyo 146
. Japan

H.RossPerot ..................

The Perot Group

1700 Lakeside Square

12377 Merit Drive

Dallas, Texas 75251
Mitchell Mandich ................
SinaTamaddon ..........ccevnn.
Avadis Tevanian ................
Dominique Trempont ............
Miko Akiyama ..................
All officers and directors as a

group (8 persons) ............

* Less than one percent

(1) Assumes no exercise of the Underwriters’ overallotment options. Beneficial ownership is determined
in accordance with the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
*Commission"'). In computing the number of shares beneficially owned by a person and the
percentage ownership of that person, shares of Common Stock subject to options held by that
person that are currently exercisable or exercisable within 60 days of November 30, 1996 are
deemed outstanding. Such shares, however, are not deemed outstanding for the purposes of
computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Except as indicated in the footnotes to
this table and pursuant to applicable community property laws, each shareholder named in the table
has sole voting and investment power with respect to the shares set forth opposite such
shareholder’s name.

(2) Assumes conversion of all amounts owed by NeXT to Canon under the Canon Loan Agreement into
1,896,639 shares of Common Stock.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

Upon consummation of the offerings, the authorized capital stock of NeXT will consist of 100 million
shares of Common Stock, no par value per share, and 5 million shares of Preferred Stock, no par value
per share. Upon consummation of the offerings, 22,688,015 shares of Common Stock (23,418,015
shares if the Underwriters’ overaliotment options are exercised in full) will be outstanding. The following
is qualified in its entirety by reference to NeXT's Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws.

Common Stock

As of September 30, 1996, there were 17,668,015 shares of Common Stock outstanding and held of
record by shareholders. Holders of Common Stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters
to be voted upon by the shareholders. Subject to the rights of holders of Preferred Stock, the holders of
Common Stock are entitled to receive ratably such dividends, if any, as may be declared from time to
time by the Board of Directors out of funds legally available therefor. In the event of a liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of NeXT, subject to the rights of the holders of Preferred Stock, the holders of
Common Stock are entitled to share ratably in all assets. The Common Stock has no preemptive or
conversion rights or other subscription rights. There are no redemption or sinking fund provisions
applicable to the Common Stock. All outstanding shares of Common Stock are fully paid and non-
assessable, and the shares of Common Stock to be outstanding upon consummation of the offerings will
be fully paid and non-assessable.

Preferred Stock

Pursuant to NeXT's Articles of incorporation, the Board is authorized to issue up to 5,000,000 shares
of Preferred Stock in one or more series and to fix the rights, preferences, privileges and restrictions,
including the dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, redemption price or prices, liquidation
preferences, and the number of shares constituting any series or the designations of such series, without
further vote or action by the shareholders. The issuance of Preferred Stock may have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of NeXT. The issuance of Preferred Stock with voting
and conversion rights may adversely affect the voting power of the holders of Common Stock, including
the loss of voting control to others. NeXT has no present plans to issue any shares of Preferred Stock.

Registration and Other Rights

Registration Rights. The holders of shares of Common Stock are entitled to certain
piggyback or demand rights with respect to the registration of their shares under the Securities Act.
Pursuant to the Rights Agreement dated July 27, 1992, as amended (the 'Rights Agreement”'), among
NeXT and the hoiders (the "'Holders'') of shares of capital stock (the ‘‘Registrable Securities"),
the Holders are entitled to certain demand registration rights pursuant to which they may require NeXT to
file a registration statement under the Securities Act at their expense with respect to their Registrable
Securities. The Holders of at least 25% of Registrable Securities may exercise their demand registration
right no earlier than 270 days after the closing of NeXT's initial public offering and only once, provided,
however, that if the underwriters in any such registration limit the number of Registrable Securities that
may be included in the offering to less than 80% of the Registrable Securities requested to be included,
the Holders shall be entitled to one additional demand registration. if NeXT proposes to register any of its
securities under the Securities Act after its initial public offering, the Holders are entitled to notice of such
registration and to include their Registrable Securities therein (*‘piggyback registration rights™). Such
demand and piggyback registration rights are subject to certain conditions and limitations, among them
the right of the underwriters of an offering to limit the number of shares included in such registration.
These registration rights terminate upon the earlier to occur of (i) with respect to all Holders except
Canon, December 31, 1997 (December 31, 1998 if the proposed amendment to reduce the Rule 144 (k)
holding period from three to two years is not adopted and effective prior to December 31, 1997) or with
respect to Canon, December 31, 1999, or (ii) with respect to each Holder, the date on which all of the
Registrable Securities held by such Holder may be sold under Rule 144 under the Securities Act
(“Rule 144") in any three month period after NeXT's initial public offering.
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Pursuant to the Series C Preferred Stock Purchase Agreements between NeXT and each of Sun,
Motorola, Steven P. Jobs and Canon (the “Series C Holders'), NeXT granted to the Series C Holders
piggyback registration rights with respect to the aggregate of [1,253,761] shares of Common Stock
issuable upon conversion of the Series C Preferred (the ‘‘Series C Registrable Securities') held by them
on the same terms and conditions as set forth in the Rights Agreement. These registration rights
terminate upon the earlier to occur of (i) with respect to each Holder except Canon, December 31, 1996,
or with respect to Canon, December 31, 1999, or (ii) with respect to each Holder, the date on which all
of the Series C Registrable Securities of such Series C Holder may be sold under Rule 144 in any three
month period after NeXT's initial public offering.

Pursuant to the Series D Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated January 19, 1996, between
NeXT and MLBC, inc. (“MLBC'"), MLBC is entitled to certain demand registration rights pursuant to
which it may require NeXT to file a registration statement under the Securities Act at MLBC's expense
with respect to the 80,000 shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Series D Preferred
held by it (the *MLBC Registrable Securities’"). MLBC may exercise its demand registration right no
earlier than 270 days after the closing of the offerings and only once, provided, however, that if the
underwriters in any such registration limit the number of MLBC Registrable Securities that may be
included in the offering to less than 80% of the MLBC Registrable Securities requested to be included,
MLBC shall be entitied to one additional demand registration. MLBC was also granted piggyback
registration rights. These registration rights terminate upon the earlier to occur of December 31, 1997
(December 31, 1998 if the proposed amendment to reduce the Rule 144 (k) holding period from three to
two years is not adopted and effective prior to December 31, 1997) or the date on which all the MLBC
Registrable Securities may be sold under Rule 144 in any three month period after NeXT's initial public
offering.

Pursuant to the Series D Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement dated May 29, 1996, between NeXT
and Motorola, Motorola is entitled to piggyback registration rights with respect to the 36,000 shares of
Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Series D Preferred held by it (the **Motorola Registrable
Securities’’) . These registration rights terminate upon the earlier to occur of December 31, 1996 or the
date on which all of such Motorola Registrable Securities may be sold under Rule 144 in any three month
period after NeXT's initial public offering.

Co-Sale Rights. Pursuant to the Rights Agreement, Steven P. Jobs agreed that he will not sell,
transfer or exchange any of the shares of capital stock of NeXT owned by Mr. Jobs as of June 1989 for
consideration without first giving the other Holders the opportunity to participate pro rata in such transfer
based upon the relative percentage ownership of NeXT by Jobs and each other Holder who elects to
participate. This co-sale right terminates upon the earlier to occur of (i) with respect to all Holders,
except H. Ross Perot, J. Thomas Walter, Jr. and William K. Gaydon (collectively, the *Perot Affiliates"’)
and Canon, December 31, 1996 or with respect to Canon and the Perot Affiliates, December 31, 1997, or
(it) with respect to any Hoider (other than Mr. Jobs ), the date on which all of the preferred stock of NeXT
(or Common Stock issued upon conversion of such preferred stock) held by such Holder may be sold
under Rule 144 in any three month period after the initial public offering of NeXT.

Rights of First Refusal. NeXT has a right of first refusal with respect to an aggregate of
shares of Common Stock held by Steven P. Jobs, Canon, the Perot Affiliates, Sun, Motorola, The
Stepstone Corporation, MLBC, Carnegie Mellon University and Stanford University in the event any such
shareholder desires to transfer certain of its or his shares of Common Stock. Mr. Jobs also has a second
right of refusal with respect to the aggregate of shares of Common Stock held by Canon, under the
same terms and conditions. After consummation of NeXT's initial public offering, the price at which NeXT
or Mr. Jobs, as the case may be, may purchase the shares of Common Stock under these rights of refusal
shall be the closing price on the date on which NeXT receives notice of the proposed transfer. The right of
first refusal and the second right of refusal terminates with respect to shares held by the Perot Affiliates,
Canon, Camegie Mellon University and Stanford University on December 31, 1996 and with respect to
The Stepstone Corporation on December 31, 1999. The right of first refusal and the second right of
refusal, as applicable, with respect to shares held by Sun, Motorola, MLBC and Mr. Jobs terminates on
December 31, 1998.
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Certain Anti-takeover Provisions

Authorized But Unissued or Undesignated Capital Stock. NeXT's authorized capital stock
consists of 100 million shares of Common Stock and 5 million shares of Preferred Stock. NeXT's Articles
of Incorporation grants the Board broad power to establish the rights, preferences and privileges of
authorized and unissued shares of Preferred Stock and to issue such shares in one or more transactions.
The issuance of Preferred Stock pursuant to the Board's authority described above may have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of NeXT. The Board does not currently intend to
seek shareholder approval prior to any issuance of Preferred Stock, unless otherwise required by iaw. in
addition, the issuance of large blocks of Common Stock may have the effect of delaying, deferring or
preventing a change in control of NeXT.

Right of First Refusal. Pursuant to a Software Porting and Marketing Agreement between NeXT
and Hewlett-Packard dated May 18, 1993 (the *‘HP Agreement”), Hewlett-Packard has a right of first
refusal in the event of a proposed merger, consolidation, acquisition or other corporate reorganization or
change of control, whether voluntary or involuntary, (a “Reorganization Transaction') of NeXT with one
of certain specified companies. Under this right of first refusal, NeXT is required to offer to Hewlett-
Packard to enter into an agreement with Hewlett-Packard on substantially the same terms and conditions
as the proposed Reorganization Transaction, and Hewlett-Packard has five business days to either
accept or reject such offer. If Hewlett-Packard declines the offer or fail to respond within five days, NeXT
may consummate the proposed Reorganization Transaction pursuant to the terms set forth in the offer
within a six month period. At the end of such six month period, NeXT is prohibited from consummating
any such Reorganization Transaction without complying with the HP Agreement.

Standstili Agreements. In connection with their purchases of Preferred Stock, Canon and Mr. Perot
entered into standstill agreements with NeXT, providing that such shareholders will not acquire any
securities of NeXT if after such acquisition such shareholder will hold, in the aggregate, more than 20% of
the total combined voting power of all classes of securities of NeXT (such percentage may be adjusted
with respect to certain shareholders for additional issuances or dispositions of securities to or by any
such shareholder), nor will any such shareholder (i) become a participant in a solicitation of proxies with
respect to NeXT, (ii) form any group for the purpose of voting, purchasing or disposing of NeXT’s
securities or (iii) deposit any securities of NeXT in a voting trust or subject them to a voting agreement or
other arrangement of similar effect (with certain limited exceptions). These standstill agreements
terminate (i) with respect to Mr. Perot on the earlie: to occur of (x) December 31, 1996 or (y) at such
time as Mr. Jobs owns less than one-third of the total combined voting power of all classes of securities of
NeXT and (ii) with respect to Canon, on the earlier to occur of (a) June 30, 1999 or (b) the date on
which the standstill restrictions applicable to Mr. Perot terminate or are waived by NeXT, In addition, in
connection with their acquisitions of Preferred Stock, Sun, Motorola and The Stepstone Corporation
entered into standstill agreements with NeXT, providing that such shareholders will not (i) acquire any
securities of NeXT without the prior written consent of NeXT or (ii) become a participant in the solicitation
of proxies with respect to NeXT. This standstill agreement terminates (i) with respect to Sun and
Motorola on December 31, 1998 and (ii) with respect to The Stepstone Corporation on December 31,
1999. MLBC also entered into a standstill agreement with NeXT in connection with its purchase of
preferred stock, which agreement provides that MLBC, or any of its affiliates, will not (i) become a
participant in a solicitation of proxies with respect to NeXT, (ii) form any group for the purpose of voting,
purchasing or disposing of NeXT's securities or (iii) deposit any securities of NeXT in a voting trust or
subject them to a voting agreement or other arrangement of similar effect.

Other Anti-Takeover Provisions. See ‘‘Management — Stock Plans' for a discussion of certain
provisions of the 1990 Plan, the 1996 Plan and the 1996 Purchase Plan which may have the effect of
discouraging, delaying or preventing a change in control of NeXT or unsolicited acquisition proposals.

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The Transfer Agent and Registrar for NeXT's Common Stock is
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Upon completion of the offerings, NeXT will have outstanding 22,668,015 shares of Common Stock
(assuming no exercise of outstanding options after September 30, 1896). Of these shares, the
5,000,000 shares sold in the offerings will be freely tradable without restriction or further registration
under the Securities Act unless purchased by “affiliates” of NeXT as that term is defined in Rule 144
under the Securities Act (an ‘‘Affiliate’’), which shares will be subjected to the resale limitations of
Rule 144 adopted under the Securities Act. The remaining shares outstanding upon completion of
the offerings and held by existing shareholders will be “‘Restricted Securities” as that term is defined
under Rule 144 (the “Restricted Shares"). Restricted Shares may be sold in the public market only if
registered or if they qualify for an exemption from registration under Rules 144 or 144 (k) promuigated
under the Securities Act, which rules are summarized below. As a result of the contractual restrictions
described below, and the provisions of Rule 144 and 144 (k), additional shares will be available for sale in
the public market as follows: (i) no shares will be available for inmediate sale in the public market on the
date of this Prospectus, (ii) cumrently outstanding shares will be eligible for sale upon expiration
of lock-up agreements 180 days after the date of this Prospectus and (iii) currently
outstanding shares will be eligible for sale upon expiration of their respective two-year holding periods,
subject in the case of shares held by Affiliates to compliance with certain volume restrictions.

in general, under Rule 144 as cumently in effect, a person (or persons whose shares are
aggregated) who has beneficially owned Restricted Shares for at least two years (and, with respect to
non-affiliates of NeXT, a person who has beneficially owned Restricted Securities more than two but less
than three years), will be entitled to sell in any three-month period a number of shares that does not
exceed the greater of (i) 1% of the then outstanding shares of NeXT's Common Stock (approximately
shares immediately after the offerings) or (ii) the average weekly trading volume of NeXT's
Common Stock in the Nasdaq Stock Market during the four calendar weeks immediately preceding the
date on which notice of the sale is filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the ‘‘Commis-
sion"). Such sales pursuant to Rule 144 are subject to certain requirements relating to manner of sale,
notice and availability of cument public information about NeXT. A person (or persons whose shares are
aggregated) who is not deemed to have been an Affiliate of NeXT at any time during the 90 days
immediately preceding the sale and who has beneficially owned Restricted Shares for at least three years
is entitled to sell such shares pursuant to Rule 144 (k) without regard to the limitations described above.
The Commission has recently proposed to reduce the two and three year holding periods under Rule 144
to one and two years, respectively. If enacted, such modification will have a material effect on the timing
of when certain shares of Common Stock become eligible for resale.

In addition, following the offerings, the holders of shares of outstanding Common Stock will
have rights under certain circumstances to require NeXT to register their shares for future sale. See
"Description of Capital Stock — Registration Rights."’

Persons who hold approximately shares of NeXT's Common Stock after completion of the
offerings, including all officers, directors and certain shareholders of NeXT, have agreed with the
Representatives and/or NeXT that subject to certain exceptions, for a period of 180 days following the
date of this Prospectus, they will not sell, offer to sell, contract to sell, grant any option to purchase, make
any short sale or otherwise dispose of any shares of Common Stock of NeXT, or any options or warrants
to purchase any shares of Common Stock of NeXT, or any securities convertible into or exchangeable for
shares of Common Stock of NeXT, whether now owned or hereinafter acquired, by such holders or with
respect to which they have beneficial ownership within the rules and regulations of the Commission.
NeXT has also agreed not to sell, offer to sell, contract to sell, grant any option to purchase or otherwise
dispose of any shares of Common Stock or any securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable
for Common Stock or any rights to acquire Common Stock for a period of 180 days following the date of
this Prospectus without the prior written consent of Goldman, Sachs & Co. on behalf on the Underwriters,
subject to certain limited exceptions. The lock-up agreements may be released at any time as to all or any
portion of the shares subject to such agreements at the sole discretion of Goldman, Sachs & Co. on
behalf of the Underwriters.
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NeXT intends to file a Registration Statement on Form S-3/8-8 to register certain shares of Common
Stock issued under the NeXT'’s stock plans and issuable upon exercise of options granted under NeXT's
stock plans. Following the filing of the Form S-3/S-8, shares of Common Stock issued under NeXT's
stock plans will be avalilable for sale in the public market, subject to lock-up restrictions described above
and the Rule 144 volume limitations applicable to Affiliates.

Prior to the offerings, there has been no prior-public market for the Common Stock and there is no
assurance a significant public market for the Common Stock will develop or be sustained after this
offering. Sales of a substantial amount of Common Stock in the public market could adversely affect the
market price of the Common Stock and could impair NeXT's future ability to raise capital through the sale
of its equity securities. See “'Risk Factors."

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters with respect to the legality of the issuance of the shares of Common Stock
offered hereby will be passed upon for NeXT by Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, A Professional
Corporation, Palo Alto, California. Certain legal matters in connection with the offerings will be passed
upon for the Underwriters by Shearman & Sterling, San Francisco, California.

EXPERTS

The consolidated financial statements and schedules of NeXT as of December 31, 1994 and 1995
and for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 1995, included herein in the
Registration Statement in reliance upon the report of KPMG Peat Marwick LLP, independent certified
public accountants, appearing elsewhere herein, and upon the authority of said firn as experts in
accounting and auditing.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

NeXT has filed with the Commission a Registration Statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act
with respect to the shares of Common Stock offered hereby. This Prospectus does not contain all of the
information set forth in the Registration Statement and the exhibits and schedules thereto. For further
information with respect to NeXT and the Common Stock offered hereby, reference is made to the
Registration Statement and the exhibits and schedules filed therewith. Statements contained in this
Prospectus as to the contents of any contract or any other document referred to are not necessarily
complete, and, in each instance, reference is made to the copy of such contract or other document filed
as an exhibit to the Registration Statement, each such statement being qualified in all respects by such
reference. A copy of the Registration Statement, and the exhibits and schedules thereto, may be
inspected without charge at the public reference facilities maintained by the Commission in Room 1024,
450 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 20548, and at the Commission's regional offices at 7 World
Trade Center, Suite 1300, New York, New York 10048 and Suite 1400, 500 West Madison Street,
Chicago, llinois 60861. Copies of all or any part of the Registration Statement may be obtained from such
offices or by mail from the Public Reference Section of the Commission at its principal office upon the
payment of the fees prescribed by the Commission. The Commission also maintains a World Wide Web
site (http:/ /www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements and other informa-
tion regarding registrants that file electronically with the Commission.
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ActiveX ....civiiieeininnneas

Applications programming . -
interface (APl) .............

C, C++, Objective C..........

Business Logic or Business

Rules ...covvveeiennnnnnnnes

Distributed Objects............

Enterprise Appiications ........

Hypertext markup language

(HTML) ..o

Hypertext transport protocol

(HTTP) st eeeennnn.

GLOSSARY

Microsoft's set of technologies which enable interactive content on
web-based networks such as the internet. ActiveX provides mul-
timedia effects, interactive objects, and applications which can run
on the web browser or web server.

A set of rules within a program that describe how software
functions and routines are made available to be accessed by other

programs.
A small application delivered over the Web which is run within a
browser window. The applet may be based on Java or ActiveX
technologies.

Software development languages used to build applications.

The portion of a program which contains the calculations and
functions pertinent to business operations such as calculating
interast, determining credit limits, and processing orders.

An application or computer that communicates with and requests
information from a server.

Individual users on desktop computers, clients, communicate with
centralized resources such as files, databases, and applications
running on a server. Servers are generally higher-power machines
designed to support multiple users simultaneously. Applications
are often distributed to run some portions on the client desktop
and other portions on a server where higher computational speed
is often desired.

Componentized pieces of software which are able to communicate
easily with each other running locally on the same computer or on
separate computers via a network connection.

Computer systems built by organizations that often support
upwards of thousands of users, provide mission critical functional-
ity 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, and are accessed by users
across the corporation and often cutside the organization.

A combination of hardware and software that isolates a private
network from public networks for security purposes.

An operating system which runs on computers developed by
Hewilett-Packard.

The language used to build electronic documents on the Web.
Documents may contain regular text in a variety of forms and tags
that tell the browser what to do when a link is activated.

The communications mechanism between web browsers and web
servers for exchanging information and requesting documents.

Text that contains references to other text documents, allowing the
reader to skip around and read the documents in various orders.

75



STYLELIS 0TS, BSFO00088 Pt ¥517 1100 ) O D
Seq: 6 Free lead  60D*points, Next lead 300D, Vjust J1:1 JB: F10236 PN: 077.00.00.00 SN: 5 <MG>

NEXT SOFTWARE,INC. BOWNE OF PALO ALTO  (415) 858-1800

BPA_PS3 NOMARKS 18-NOV-1996 11:02 NEXT PCN: 078.00.00.00 — Page is valid, no graphics
Hypertext ink.........ooeieeae, A link to another section of the same document or to another
separate document.
intranet ........cooiiiiiinnnn, A private network inside a company or organization.
Interoperability ...........c00u... The ability of hardware or software made by different manufactur-

ers or as part of different computer systems to easily communicate
and share information.

- N A cross platform programming language invented by Sun that is
specifically designed for enabling interactive dynamic applications.
Legacy systems ................ Refers to preexisting computer systems that have usually been in

place for a long period of time and are often costly to replace. A
mainframe application is typically referred to as a legacy system.

Mach .......ciiiiiiiiiiiennnnns An operating system originally developed at Carnegie Mellon Uni-
versity and later adopted by NeXT as the basis for the NEXTSTEP
operating system. Mach provides a strong foundation for distrib-
uted objects.

Objects .....coovviiirviinnnnnns Building blocks of software which allow developers to create
reusable modular components that can be easily combined in
different ways to buiid applications — much like prefabricated
parts on an assembly line.

Object linking and embedding

(OLE)...ccveiieinenennaanen, An industry standard developed by Microsoft for connecting ob-
jects into applications.
Object-oriented programming .. ... A type of software programming in which a program is viewed as a

collection of discrete software objects, each of which is a self-
contained collection of common data structures and data process-

ing routines.
Open database connectivity
(ODBC) .oovviiriiiiinennnnn. An industry standard for accessing various database systems.
Open systems .................. Open systems are usually standardized and compatible with a

number of other vendors' technology and are generally adept at
running on muitiple operating platforms and interacting with other
software.

Operating system ............... The software that manages a computer’s core functionality such as
memory, disk space, processing and peripheral devices (monitor,
keyboard, mouse, printer, modem and so on). The operating
system starts running before any other software and stays in
memory the whole time a computer is on.

Plug-ins......oooonevenennnnnnn. Programs which are added to a web browser that provide ex-
panded capabilities such as muitimedia.
Publishing server................ A web server which typically receives requests for information and

returns static pages and documents.

Secure sockets layer (SSL)...... A standard protocol for ensuring private communication across a
network using encryption and authentication.

Server ......covviieviinnannnnn. A network application or computer that supplies information or
other resources to client applications that connect to it.
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Solanis ....iviieiiiiiiii i A UNIX-based operating system which runs on computers devel-
oped by Sun.
Structured Query Language
(SQL) .cvvveriiiniinninennsn An industry standard database language used in querying, updat-
ing and managing relational databases.
UNIX toiiiiiieienes Cennen A multiuser; multitasking operating system common to work-

stations and servers developed by Bell Labs in 1969. Much of the
Intemet relies on UNIX-based servers to power the World Wide
Web.

Web browser ................... Software avallable on a variety of operating systems which enables
users to view: pages of electronic information from web sites. The
most popular browsers today are Microsoft Internet Explorer and
Netscape Navigator.

World Wide Web (Web) ......... A client/ server information and retrieval system based upon HTTP
that transfers documents in HTML across a variety of computer
platforms.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

The Board of Directors
NeXT Software, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NeXT Software, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of December 31, 1995 and 1994, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
shareholders' deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the three year period ended December 31,
1995. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of NeXT Software, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1995 and
1994, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three year period
ended December 31, 1995 in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

KPMG Peat Marwick LLP

February 2, 1996
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands)
December 31, 1994, 1995 and September 30, 1988
ASSETS
December 31, September 30, 1896 & %0,
1004 1908 1908 Pro Forma
(unaudited)
Current assets:
Cash and cashequivalents.................... $ 2310 $ 440 $ 2,088
Investments ...........cciveeviennenneanaens 910 411 724
Trade receivables, net of allowances ........... 8,976 9,848 8,553
Otherreceivables .........................e0. 590 192 243
Inventories, et .............oiiiiiiieiiieees 310 217 229
Prepaid eXpenses ..........ccociererarnanaanes 276 360 833
Totalcurrent assets .................... 13,372 11,528 12,670
Property and equipment, net .................... 1,065 2,272 2,730
Otherassets ........coovveiinnieienneinnannaes 39 246 521
Totalassets .........ccovevevennenannns $ 14476 $ 14,046 $ 15,921
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS® DEFICIT
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable .................ceivnuennnn.. $ 2074 $ 1,821 $ 1216
Accrued eXpenses .............c.coeiiiiianens 6,501 5,821 7,343
Accrued discontinued operations expensss...... 6,917 5,744 5,796
Capital lease obligations, short-term ............ — 146 174
Deferred revenues, shortterm ................. 3,914 5,845 8,328
Notes payable, short-term..................... 5,000 35,222 47,252
Interestpayable .. ...................oiunn.n, 736 774 . 355
Taxespayable .................ccociiiann... 596 413 466
Total current liabilities .................. 25,738 55,786 70,930
Capital lease obligations, fong-term............... - 277 179
Notes payable, long-term ....................... 28,222 —_ —_
Deferred revenues, long-term.................... 7,791 5,499 —_
Other liabilities. ..........................ee.... 67 25 50
Total liabilities ......................... 61,818 61,587 71,159
Shareholders’ equity (deficit):
Series D preferred stock, no par value 3A....... $ e - $ 2900
Series C preferred stock, no par value 3B....... 179,870 180,120 180,120
Series C preferred stock warrants .............. 400 —_ -
Series B preferred stock, no par value 3C....... 26,047 26,047 26,047
Series A preferred stock, no par value 3D ....... 6,250 6,100 6,100
Common stock, no par value; 100,000,000
shares authorized; 1,841,524, 1,546,255 and
19970008haesnssmdandanstanding
1994, 1995 and 1996, respectively........... 1,721 2,165 2,610
Paid in capital —warrants .................... —_— 400 400
Less notes receivable from shareholders ........ (85) (28) (10)
Accumulated deficit .......................... (261,545) _ (262,345) (273,405)
Total shareholders’ deficit ............... (47,342) (47,541) (55,238)
Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficit ........... $ 14476 $ 14,046 $ 15,921
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

, Nine Months Ended
- Yoor Ended Decamber 31, ___September 30,
1983 1994 1985 1985 1986
(unaudited)
Revenues:
Software licensing .................ooen. $ 10,076 $25,8904 $26,762 $19,295 $ 22,498
SOIVICBS ..o cennersscrassoccnnosncsnsan 2,359 3,759 10,672 7,524 13,190
Technology licensing.........ccccveeeinnne. 38 17,554 7,543 7,500 12
Research and development contracts ....... 1,800 2,380 1,829 1,829 195
Total revenues .......ccveveceennnns 14,273 49,597 46,806 36,148 35,895
Cost of revenues:
Software licensing . ...coveeeererrrivnnenns 4,007 5,136 2,895 1,992 2,27
SOIVICOS .1 oo evei ittt iieeeas 4,612 4,265 8,011 5,647 10,349
Technology licensing.......coccovvnnnnenn- - 194 208 208 —
Research and development contracts ....... 1,667 1,393 365 365 71
Total cost of revenues .............. 10,286 10,988 11,479 8,212 12,691
Gross margin .....eeceveiecenecnnns 3,987 38609 35327 27,936 23,204
Operating expenses:
Research and development ................ 8,944 10,655 12,412 9,074 9,367
Sales and marketing ........cccvvveeennnnn 26,150 20,582 17,158 12,190 18,334
General and administrative ................ 5,240 4,744 5,628 4,142 4,184
Total operating expenses............ 40,334 35981 35,198 25,406 31,885
Operating income (loss) from
continuing operations ............. (36,347) 2,628 129 2,530 (8,681)
Other income (expense):
Interest, net.........covvieveiiennenennnes (3,107) (1,595) (2,089) (1,523) (2,136)
Foreign exchange gain (losS).............. {643) 54 (48) (43) (246)
Other,net .....ooviiriiiiirncnrnnceennens (122) 17 467 11 8
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before taxes ........... (40,219) 1,104 (1,541) 975 (11,055)
Provision for income taxes ................. 3 74 9 53 5
Income (loss) from continuving operations ... (40,222) 1,030 (1,550) 922 (11,080)
Discontinued operations:
Gain on disposal of discontinued operations — — 750 — —
Net income (loss) .........ccveennnn 5540.222) $ 1,030 $ 5800) $ 922 $$11.060)
Pro forma net income (loss) per share...... — — ‘0.10) $ 005 § (0.72)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financiai statements.
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See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Reduction of long-term note payable for sale of certain assets

and prepayment of certain licensing rights and consulting
services

................................................. 25,000 -

Conversion of accrued interest payabie to long-term note payable 3,222 —_
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW
(Doliars in thousands)
Nine Months Ended
Years Ended December 31, September 30,
1993 1994 1895 1685 1996
{unsudited)
Cash Flows from opersting aotivities:
Net iNCOME (J0SS) « .. cveviriutnereeiieeneerenesnseronrsasassns $(40222) $ 1,030 $ (800) $ 922  $(11,060)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization . ..ot 2,648 994 902 690 837
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Trade receivables .. . ...ocvvereinneesiieecnreianssaacneans 24,395 (6.,496) (872) 139 1,295
Other receivables . . .....ccvviniiiieiineieieaneevecansans 2,168 1,011 398 465 (51)
INVONIOMBS . . .. .o ece it iieiin it cianainansannenns 6,983 194 93 69 (12)
Prepaid expenses and otherassets ......................00 261 172 (354) (444) (811)
Account payable ............coeiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieanaas (17,157) (1,041) (253) (120) (605)
Accrued expenses and other...........cooiiiiiiininanan (7,095) 727 (684) 55 1,128
Defermed revenues . . .......cccvvererceeerereeervncanncnns 11,156 82 (361) (1.123) (3.016)
Taxes PAYADIB . .......occeveeiiiiinaiiariietinesineronans (591) 521 (183) (113) 53
Accrued discontinued operations ...............cociiieinnn. (2,715) (1,832) (1,173) 364 52
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities: .............. (20,169) (4,638) (3.287) 904 (12,190)
Cash flows from investing activities:
(Purchases) maturities and sales of investments ................. 1,225 (404) 439 437 (253)
Capital expenditures .. ........ccoviiiiieiieierieieonsnrennans (1,297) (857) (1,570) (1,162) (1,232)
Proceeds fromthe Sale of Assets ..................coiinnnen. 3,540 — — — —
Net cash used in investing activities .......................... 3,468 (1.261) (1,131) (725) (1,485)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Principal payments on capital leases ............................ (279) (77) (53) (16) (70)
Repayments on bOMMOWINGS ... .....cccviierverernnesennancennns - (5.000) _ -— —_
Issuance of preferred and common stock, net of repurchases ..... 25,001 245 544 373 3,345
Proceeds of short termnotes payable .. ...............couevvenen. (21,778) - 2,000 - 12,030
Receivable fromshares, net................cooviiiiiiiinnann. (4,922) 4,968 57 57 18
Net cash provided by financing activities ...................... (1.888) 136 2,918 414 1,532
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents................... (18,589) (5,763) (1,870) 593 1,648
Cash and cash equivaients at beginningof year .............. 26,662 8,073 2,310 2,310 440
Cash and cash equivaients atendofyear.................... $ 8073 $2310 $ 440 $ 2903 $ 2,088
s::mma disclosure of cash flow informsation and noncash
Income taxes Paid ..........ccvuiveeinenocnreariniatnrenraaans $ 6 $ 37 $ 52 §$ 18 $ 15
Interest paid ........ccoveieeiiieiaiiii ittt 4,243 1,095 2173 2,183 2,326
Noncash activities:
Conversionof debt toequity ..............ceeviiiiiiiiiiinne. 10,000 25,000 —_— _ —_
Series C Preferred Stock issued for intangible assets ........... - - 250 250 —
Series C Preferred Stock issued for common stock ............. 5,000 - - — —_
Series A Preferred Stock issued for common stock ............. 750 — 150 —_ —
Assets acquired through capital lease ......................... — - 476 397 524
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years ended December 31, 1994 and 1985 and nine months ended September 30, 1995 and 1986
(Information with respect to the nine months ended September 30, 1895 and 1996)

(1) Nature of Business

NeXT Software, Inc. (NeXT) was incorporated in Califomia as NeXT, Inc. on September 19, 1985 to
develop, manufacture, and market computer workstations. In 1992, NeXT decided to discontinue the
computer workstation business and dedicate its efforts and resources entirely towards developing and
marketing software. Since the beginning of 1993, operations have consisted of developing and marketing
various object-oriented software products and related services. NeXT delivers an open development
environment for building custom applications for both the Intemet/World Wide Web and enterprise.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of NeXT and its majority-
owned foreign subsidiaries. All intercompany accounis and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. Realized and unrealized foreign exchange gains and losses, which have not been material,
are included in results of operations.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may differ from those
estimates. Significant estimates made in preparing these consoclidated financial statements include an
accrual for discontinued operations, an allowance for doubtful accounts and reserves for sales tax
liabilities.

Interirn Financial Information

The financial information for the nine months ended September 30, 1995 and 19986 is unaudited, but
includes all adjustments that NeXT considers necessary for a fair presentation of the financial information
set forth therein, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The results for the nine
months ended September 30, 1996 should not be considered indicative of the results to be expected for
any future period or for the entire year.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

NeXT considers all money market instruments with a maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents.

Investments

Investments consist of certificates of deposit and treasury bills and are purchased for the purpose of
collateral for letters of credit and are generally reinvested as they mature. NeXT has adopted the
provisions of Statement of Financlal Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 115, Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, and has classified its investments as available for sale. Such
investments are recorded at fair value, which approximate cost, with unrealized gains and losses reported
as a separate component of shareholders’ deficit. The effect of adopting SFAS No. 115 was not material
to the Company's consolidated financial statements.
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Certain amounts are included in investments that are restricted as to their use. These amounts are
related to certain letters of credit on building leases for the Company's office space. Restricted cash for
the years ended December. 31, 1994 and 1995 and the nine month period ended September 30, 1996
were $404,000, $365,000 and $365,000, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk

NeXT sells its products primarily to companies and govemmental agencies in North America, Europe
and Asia. NeXT performs ongoing credit evaluations on its customers and generally does not require
collateral. NeXT has not experienced significant accounting losses related to the receivables from
individual customers or groups of customers in any particular industry or geographical area.

Revenue Recognition

NeXT recognizes revenues in accordance with Statement of Position No. 91-1, Software Revenue
Recognition, which generally requires software revenues to be recognized upon delivery to the customer.
Maintenance and support revenues are recognized ratably over the term of the agreement, which in most
cases is one year. Revenues from consulting and training services are recognized when services are
performed.

Deferred revenues includes deferred maintenance revenues, prepaid consulting, training and future
product releases paid for in advance.

Technology licensing revenues consist of fees paid by third parties for the licensing of NeXT
technology.

Research and Development Contracts

NeXT eamns research and development contract revenues by entering into contracts with original
equipment manufacturer (OEM) customers to obtain funding for all or a portion of the efforts required to
adapt the Company's software products to the OEM’s hardware platform. In retum for such funding,
NeXT is generally only obligated to apply reasonable efforts to complete the end product, and
substantially all amounts funded to NeXT are nonrefundable once funded.

International Operations

NeXT operates in one industry segment (the development and marketing of computer software and
related services) and markets its products and services through foreign subsidiaries in Europe and Asia
Pacific and through other distributors and resellers on a woridwide basis. Intemational revenues from
foreign subsidiaries and distributors and resellers for the years ended December 31, 1994 and 1995 and
the nine months ended September 30, 1996 were approximately 15.1%, 19.2% and 20.0%, respectively,
of total revenues.

Software Development Costs

All costs incurred related to development of software are expensed as incurred.

Software development costs are considered for capitalization when technological feasibility is
established in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 86, Account-
ing for Costs of Computer Software To Be Sold, Leased or Otherwise Marketed. To date, the Company's
software development has been completed concurrent with the establishment of technological feasibility,
and accordingly, no costs have been capitalized.
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Inventories

Inventories consist principally of software media and related documentation, which are stated at the
lower of cost (first in, first out) or market.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-fine method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, generally three years. Leasehold improvements are
amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of
the assets. Assets under capital leases are amortized over the shorter of the asset life or the remaining
lease term.

income Taxes

NeXT accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax congsequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective
tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years that those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.
The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the
period that includes the enactment date.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share:

Except as noted below, net income per share is computed using the weighted average number of
shares of common stock outstanding and dilutive common stock equivalents. Common stock equivalent
shares from convertible preferred stock and from options and warrants have been excluded from the
computation of net loss per share as the effect is anti-dilutive. Pursuant to the Securities and Exchange
Commission Staff Accounting Bulletins, common and common equivalent shares issued by NeXT at
prices below the initial public offering price have been included in the calculation as if they were
outstanding for all periods presented (using the treasury stock method) at an assumed public offering
price of $16.00 per share.

Per share information calculated on the above noted basis is as follows (in thousands, except per
share amounts):

Year omlo;l1 Nine months .;bd
1985 1005 1996
Netlosspershare ........ccoevviviiinnnennnnnnnnnn. (.10) .05 (.72)
Shares used in computing net loss per share........... 14,947,775 17,752,618 15,220,185

Proforma Net Income (Loss) Per Share and Unaudited Proforma Shareholder's Equity:

Pro forma net income (loss) per share has been computed as described above and also gives
efiect, even if antidilutive, to the common equivalent shares from convertible preferred shares that will
automatically convert to common shares upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering (using
the as-if-converted method). If the offering contemplated by the Prospectus is consummated, all of the
convertible preferred stock outstanding as of the closing date wil automatically be converted to an
aggregate of 13,222,250 shares of common stock based on the number of shares of convertibie
preferred stock outstanding as of September 30, 1996. Pro forma net income (loss) per share also gives
effect to the number of common shares to be issued upon conversion of outstanding debt to Cannon and
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Merrill. Such debt may be converted to common stock at the option of either NeXT or the lender
respective upon successful completion of a public offering of NeXT securities. Aggregate proceeds of at
least 75 million are required.to activate NeXT's righf to convert Unaudited pro forma stockholders' equity
at September 30, 1996, as adjusted for the conversion of preferred stock, it disclosed on the

consolidated balance sheet.

Stock-Based Compensation

Prior to January 1, 1996, NeXT accounted for its stock option plan in accordance with the provisions
of Accounting Principles Board (*APB’") Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and
related interpretations. As such, compensation expense would be recorded on the date of grant only if
the current market price of the underlying stock exceeded the exercise price. On January 1, 1996, NeXT
adopted SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, which permits entities to recognize
as expense over the vesting period the fair value of all stock-based awards on the date of grant.
Alternatively, SFAS No. 123 aiso aflows entities to continue to apply the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25
and provide pro forma net income and pro forma eamings per share disciosures for employee stock
option grants made in 1995 and future years as if the fair-value-based method defined in SFAS No. 123
had been applied. NeXT has elected to continue to apply the provisions of APB Opinion No. 25 and
provide the pro forma disclosure provisions of SFAS No. 123.

(3) Property and Equipment (in thousands)
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31. s‘pﬂlllh.l‘ 30,
1994 1895 1896
Machinery and equipment .............. $ 6115 ¢ 8,135 $ 8,748
Leasehold improvements ............... 5,431 5,718 6,062
Fumiture and fixtures .................. 1,446 1,476 1,751
12,992 15,329 16,561

Less accumulated depreciation and
amortization ................co0nlL. (11,927) (13,057) (13.831)

$ 1065 §$ 2272 $ 2,730
= e =

(4) Notes Payable
Short-Term Notes Payable

As of December 31, 1995 and September 30, 1996, NeXT had a line of credit of $8,000,000 with
Merrill Lynch Business Financial Services (“MLBFS"). A portion of the borrowings are secured by the
personal guaranty of the Company's Chief Executive Officer. Interest is due at the 30-day commercial
paper rate plus 2.50% (8.33% and 8.0% as of December 31, 1995 and September 30, 1996,
respectively). Borrowings under this line of credit were $500,000 and $8,000,000, as of December 31,
1995 and September 30, 1996, respectively. The maturity date for this line of credit is March 31, 1997.
Alternatively, the outstanding amounts may be converted into Common Stock upon the successful
completion of an initial public offering of NeXT's Common Stock.

NeXT also has an unsecured promissory note to a bank which is secured by personal guaranty of the
Company's Chief Executive Officer and bears interest at prime, which was 8.75% and 8.25% as of
December 31, 1995 and September 30, 1996, respectively.
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

As of December 31, 1994 and 1995, and September 30, 1996, NeXT had a remaining balance of
$28,222,000 outstanding under a Term Loan Agreement with Canon, Inc. (Canon). The remaining
balance, of which $20,000,000 carries interest at 6.3% and $8,222,000 carries interest at 6.08%, is due
and payabie in April and May 1997. Accrued interest aggregated $699,000, $722,000 and $280,000 as
of December 31, 1994 and 1995, and September 30, 1996, respectively. The loans are collateralized by
certain intangible assets, including patents and patent applications and by certain software assets.
Under provisions defined in the agreement, the Company's accounts receivable may also become
collateral for the loans.

Either NeXT or Canon may convert any or all of the then outstanding principal into common stock
upon a public offering aggregating $75 million or greater of the Company's equity securities at a per
share price equal to the Company's initial public offering price, net of underwriting discounts and
commissions. The Term Loan Agreement with Canon prohibits NeXT from paying cash dividends on any
of its preferred or common stock and also prohibits, inter alia, any redemption, purchase, or other
acquisition, of the Company's outstanding shares other than repurchases under employee benefit plans.

(5) Commitments and Contingencies (/n thousands)
Leases

NeXT leases certain facilities and equipment under operating leases, which expire at various dates
through 2000. NeXT has certain options to extend such leases. NeXT also leases certain equipment

under capital leases which expire in 1998.

The Company's future minimum lease payments under noncancellable operating and capital leases
as of September 30, 1996 are as follows:

Cpomiing Coplel
Yesr en Leases Lesses
1996 (three months) ......vveeeeiiecenneccacrnonans $ 696 § 51
R 2,880 205
8 £ - 2,531 138
=1 1,334 2
0 g 561 —
RN T e A e MR o Y $ 8,002 396

=

Less amounts representing interest ................... —_—_ 4
Present value of future minimum lease payments ....... 355
Less short-term portion...........ccoivevivneennnnnnns 174
Capital lease obligations, long-term ................... $§ 179

The gross amount of capitalized leased assets included in property and equipment is approximately
$524. Amortization of such assets is included in depreciation expense.

Net rental expense was $2,459, $3,052 and $1,979 in 1994 and 1995, and the nine months ended
September 30, 1996, respectively.
Legal Proceedings

NeXT is engaged in certain legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. NeXT believes
that the final outcome of these actions will not have a material adverse effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial position.
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(6) Income Taxes

Income tax expense consisted of the following:
' State Foreign Total

1994:

Income tax expense differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal statutory rate
due primarily to the inability to project utilization of net operating losses in 1995, as well as the impact of
state taxes.

As of December 31, 1995, NeXT had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $210 million
and $135 million for federal and state income tax purposes, respectively. In addition, NeXT had research
and development credit carryforwards of approximately $9 million and $3 million for federal and Califomia
income taxes, respectively. If not utilized, these carryforwards will expire beginning in 2001 through 2010.
The ability to utilize these net operating loss carryforwards may be limited should NeXT have an
“*ownership change' as defined by Section 282 of the Iinternal Revenue Code.

The approximate tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of deferred
tax assets and liabilities are presented below:
1994 1985

Net operating loss carryforwards ........ccvvveennnnnnn.
Research credit carryforwards ..............ccoeneneenn.
Reserves, accruals andother .........cvcveevnvnccenes.
Valuation allowance.........ccoveeeeeieiecsccesescnnens

(7) Sharehoider’s Equity

The accompanying financial statements and in the following footnote discussion have been revised
to reflect a 2:1 reverse stock split of NeXT's capital stock approved by NeXT's Board of Directors in
, 1996.

Preferred Stock

NeXT has authorized a total of 100 millicn shares of preferred stock. As of December 31, 1995, NeXT
had outstanding three series of preferred stock: Series A, Series B and Series C. As of September 30,
1996, NeXT had outstanding four series of preferred stock: Series A, Series B, Series C and Series D.
Each share of prefermed stock is convertible, at the option of the holder, into a fully paid share of common
stock. The current conversion ratio for the Series A, Series B and Series D is one-for-one and the current
conversion ratio for the Series C preferred stock is 1.003-for-one, in each case subject to adjustments for
stock dividends, stock splits and capital reorganizations. The conversion price of the Series B, C and D
preferred stock will be adjusted on a weighted average basis for issuances of stock at a price per share
less than the respective conversion price (other than issuances under the stock option plan).

The preferred stock will automatically convert to common shares upon the effective date of a
registration statement for a public offering. The holders of the preferred stock are entitled to one vote for
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

each share of common stock which would be issuable to the holder upon conversion of all the preferred
shares.

Series A Preferred Stock

During 1985 and 1986, NeXT issued 7 million shares of Series A preferred stock to NeXT's Chief
Executive Officer. The Series A preferred stock was issued in exchange for consideration of $6.6 million of
cash and forgiveness of indebtedness in the amount of $353,000. in 1993, 750,000 of the 7 million
shares of Series A preferred stock outstanding were converted to common stock at $1.00 per share. In
1995, 150,000 of the 6.25 million shares of Series A preferred stock outstanding were converted to
common stock at $1.00 per share.

The holder of the Series A preferred stock is entitled to receive dividends of $0.10 per share per
annum when and as declared by the Board of Directors. The Series A dividend preference and liquidation
preference of $1.00 per share, plus all declared and unpaid dividends, are subordinated to the dividend
and liquidation preferences of the Series B and C preferred stock.

Series B Preferred Stock

During 1987 and 1988, NeXT issued 2.5 million shares of Series B preferred stock to six investors,
including NeXT's Chief Executive Officer. The Series B preferred stock was issued in exchange for
consideration of $25.1 million cash and forgiveness of $1.25 million of indebtedness due to NeXT's Chief
Executive Officer. The holders of the Series B preferred stock are entitied to receive dividends of $0.80
per share per annum when and as declared by the Board of Directors. The Series B dividend preference
and liquidation preference of $10.52 per share, plus all declared and unpaid dividends, are on a parity
with those of the Series C preferred stock.

Series C Preferred Stock

In June 1989, NeXT issued 2.5 million shares of Series C preferred stock to Canon. The Series C
preferred stock was issued in exchange for consideration of $100 miliion.

In September 1991, NeXT issued an aggregate of 500,000 shares of Series C preferred stock to
Canon and to NeXT's Chief Executive Officer in exchange for total cash consideration of $20 million. in
December 1991, NeXT issued an additional 250,000 shares of Series C preferred stock to Canon in
exchange for consideration of $10 million.

In 1993, NeXT issued 500,000 shares of Series C preferred stock to two investors, in exchange for
consideration of $10 million cash and forgiveness of $10 million of outstanding payables to a vendor. In
addition, in 1993, NeXT issued to NeXT's Chief Executive Officer, 125,000 shares of Series C preferred
stock in exchange for consideration of a receivable for $5 million.

In January 1994, an additional 25,000 shares of Series C preferred stock were issued to Canon
tollowing conversion of $25 million in outstanding debt. The holders of the Series C preferred stock are
entitled to receive dividends of $3.20 per share per annum when and as declared by the Board of
Directors. The Series C dividend preference and liquidation preference of $40.00 per share, plus alt
declared and unpaid dividends, are on a parity with those of the Series B preferred stock. in March 1995,
6,250 shares of Series C preferred stock were issued in exchange for certain intangible assets in
conjunction with settlement of litigation pertaining to such assets.
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Series D Preferred Stock

In January 1996, NeXT issued 80,000 shares of Series D preferred stock to MLBC, Inc. (MLBC). The
Series D preferred stock was issued in exchange for consideration of $2 million. In June 1996, NeXT
issued 36,000 shares of Series D preferred stock to Motorola, Inc. (Motorola) in exchange for an
outstanding note payable of $900,000.

The holder of the Series D preferred stock are entitled to receive dividends of $3.00 per share per
annum when and as declared by the Board of Directors. The Series D dividend preference and liquidation
preference of $25.00 per share, plus all declared and unpaid dividends, are subordinated to the dividend
and liquidation preferences of the Series B and C preferred stock.

Under the dilution provision of Article 3, Section 5(c) of the Amended and Restated Articles of
Incorporation, as amended, holders of Series C preferred stock are entitled to an issuance of approxi-
mately 13,500 of common stock upon conversion of their Series C preferred stock as a result of dilutive
issuance of these preferred shares to MLBC and Motorola.

Warrants

In January 1992, pursuant to an agreement with intel Corporation (Intel) and in exchange for
consideration of $400,000, NeXT issued a warrant granting intel the right to purchase up to 200,000
shares of Series C preferred stock at $38 per share. The number of shares purchasable and the exercise
price were subject to adjustment, as specified in the agreement. The warrant became exercisable, vested
and, expired without being exercised by Intel on October 1, 1995. The $400,000 received as considera-
tion has been reclassified to paid-in capitat as of December 31, 1995.

{8) Stock Option Plan

During 1989, NeXT adopted the 1990 Stock Option Plan (the Option Pian) under which the Board of
Directors may issue either nonqualified or incentive stock options to employees, officers, directors,
advisors or independent contractors of NeXT. NeXT reserved 4 million shares of common stock, less any
shares outstanding under the 1986 Stock Purchase Plan (Purchase Plan), for issuance under the Option
Plan. The Purchase Plan was an equity incentive plan in effect from 1986 through 1989 that authorized
the sales and issuance of common stock to the Company’s employees, directors, and consuliants. in
November 1992, the number of shares reserved for issuance under the Option Plan was increased to a
total of 4.2 million. In July 1995, the number of shares reserved for issuances under the Option Plan was
increased to a total of 5.0 million. The Option Plan expires 10 years after adoption. The Board of Directors
has authority to determine to whom options will be granted, the number of shares subject to the option
and the term and exercise price (which cannot be less than fair market value at date of grant for incentive
stock options or 85% of fair market value for nonqualified options). The options are exercisable at times
and in increments as specified by the Board of Directors. Options generally are exercisable to the extent
vested and expire 10 years from date of grant. Generally, options vest over 4 years in annual increments.

At September 30, 1996, there were $XX,XXX additional shares available for grant under the Option
Plan. The per share weighted average exercise price of stock options granted during the first nine months
of 1996 was $XX,XXX on the date of grant using the Black Scholes option-pricing mode! with the
following weighted average assumptions: expected dividend yield of X.X%, risk-free interest rate of X.X%
and an expected live of X years (effected stock violatility has not been considered due to NeXT's
nonpublic status in previous periods ). Had compensation expense for stock options granted in 1995 and
the first nine months of 1996 been recorded based on the fair market value at the grant date, NeXT's net
income and earnings per share 1995 and the first nine months of 1996 would have been reduced by
$XXX and $X.XX per share, and $XXX and $X.XX per share, respectively.
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The following table summarized activity for the periods indicated:

Weighted
Ave
Avalisble Exorcise
for Grant Outstanding Per Share

Balance, December 31, 1992.............. ] $1.00
Granted .......ccceeeetctrrrosaatosnanss 1.00
EXOrciSsod ....ccoovieecacsncsnnssansnsvns 1.00
Canceled .....ccooevveeretcncosanccnsonas 1.00
Balance, December 31, 1993.............. 1,352,367 2,146,596 $2.00
Granted .....ccccviiiiicriiiicinceenaes (1,264,850) 1,264,850 2.00
EXOrciSed ....ovveeeeersoanassnsnncnnnoes —_ (122,719) 2.00
Canceled ......ovverieericccsncansnnanns 393,343 (393,343) 2.00
Balance, December 31, 1994 .............. 480,860 2,895,384 2.00
Plan INCrease .....cccvceviverenscsosnancns 8,500,000 —_ —
Granted .......ciiiiiieririiitiisnrranes (1,023,850) 1,023,850
EXOrciSed ....ccooveevnecncseccasscaonnnns —_ (155,219) 2.00
Cancoled .....coverniaaiisiotetaaaeaans 164,633 (165,633)
Additional shares .........cceecvevennnnne 9,950 - —
Balance, December 31, 1995.............. 482,595 3,598,382
Options exercisable as of December 31,

8 K== 1,845,192
Granted ......evceceecroceccnarnarronans
Exercised ....coovcveviiiecnncinsesssnonns -
Canceled ......ccovevvevenicncncnncncans
Balance, September 30,1996 .............

---------------------------------

At September 30, 1996, the range of exercise prices and average remaining contractual life of
outstanding options was $XX.XX - $XX.XX and X.XX years, respectively. At September 30, 1996, the
number of options exercisable was XXX.

The 9,950 additional shares available for grant in 1995 are the result of common stock repurchased
under the Purchase Plan that became available for grant under the Option Pian.

(9) Major customers

Sun Microsystems, Inc. (Sun) accounted for 19% and Mermill lynch Pierce, Fenner & Smith
Incorporated (**Merrill”’) and Canon each accounted for 7% of total revenues in 1995. NeXT had sales to
Sun representing 35% and to Canon representing 6% of total revenues in 1984. No other customer
accounted for 10% or more of the Company's revenues in 1994. NeXT had sales to Merrill representing
12.9% and Canon representing 8.4% of total revenues through the first nine months of 1896. No other
customer accounted for more than 10% of NeXT's total revenues during this period. No other customer
accounted for 10% or more of the Company's revenues in 1995. As of December 31, 1995, accounts
receivable included approximately $15,000 from Sun, $1,936,000 from Merrill and $510,000 from Canon
as of September 30, 1996, accounts receivable included approximately $86,000 from Merrill and $58,000
from Canon.
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NeXT SOFTWARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(10) Related Party Transactions
Notes and Interest Receivable — Employees

NeXT has made loans to certain employees and former employees of NeXT, which bear simple
interest at rates ranging from 8% to 12.6%. As of December 31, 1994 and 1995, and September 30,
1996 the gross amount outstanding on these notes was $514,000, $379,000 and $282,000, respec-
tively. The loans, which are included in other receivables, matured upon the earlier of termination of
employment or various dates throughout 1995. These loans have been fully reserved and are shown net.

Notes Receivable from Shareholders

NeXT has made loans to employees and former employees for purchase of NeXT stock. Accordingly,
such loans have been recorded as reductions in shareholders’' equity. The loans bear interest at rates
ranging from 8.04% to 9.50%. The loans mature upon the earlier of termination of employment or various
dates through February 1897. As of December 31, 1994 and 1995 and September 30, 1996, total
amounts outstanding on these loans were $85,000, $28,000 and $10,000, respectively. Each loan is
secured by the employee’s common stock in NeXT.

Notes Payable
NeXT has outstanding debt with Canon, which is discussed in Note 4.

Distribution Agreement

in 1995, NeXT entered into an agreement with Canon (a shareholder and major customer) whereby
Canon provides distribution services to NeXT wholly-owned subsidiary in Japan. Sales through Canon to
NeXT Japan, which were eliminated from revenues, totaled $750,000 in 1895 and $151,000 for the nine
months ended September 30, 1996.

(10) Discontinued Operations

in the fourth quarter of 1992, NeXT's management adopted a plan to exit the workstation business.
Accordingly, NeXT provided $20 million for the loss on disposal of the exited business which included
charges associated with future lease commitments relating to real estate and equipment no longer used
in continued operations, excess of cost over net realizable value for certain materials and the write-down
of leasehold improvements and other property and equipment. The remaining accrual as of Septem-
ber 30, 1996 consists primarily of certain contingent liabilities stemming from discontinued operations, as
well as costs associated with closing foreign operations.

In 1995, NeXT recorded a gain of $750,000 from discontinued operations in connection with the final
resolution of an inventory-related exposure with Canon, which was previously accrued. The final
resolution resulted in a net reduction of $750,000 of which was specifically identified for this item.
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UNDERWRITING

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Underwriting Agreement, NeXT has agreed to sell to each
of the U.S. Underwriters named below, and each of such U.S. Underwriters, for whom Goldman, Sachs &
Co. and Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith incorporated are acting as representatives, has severally
agreed to purchase from NeXT, the respective number of shares of Common Stock set forth opposite its
name below. o 2

Number of
Shares of
tndorumter Common Stock
Goldman, Sachs & CO. ...cccvvererecnctssorcsocccceceacesscnces
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated.................
TOMAl . o eeeeenersecneoassencaseasssosnasacsssnssannes 4,000,000

Under the terms and conditions of the Underwriting Agreement, the U.S. Underwriters are committed
to take and pay for all of the shares offered hereby, if any are taken.

The U.S. Underwriters propose to offer the shares of Common Stock in part directly to the public at
the initial public offering price set forth on the cover page of this Prospectus and in part to certain
securities dealers at such price less a concession of $ per share. The U.S. Underwriters may
allow, and such dealers may reallow, a concession not in excess of $ per share to certain
brokers and dealers. After the shares of Common Stock are released for sale to the public, the offering
price and other selling terms may from time to time be varied by the representatives.

NeXT has entered into an underwriting agreement (the “Intemational Underwriting Agreement”’)
with the underwriters of the international offering (the ‘‘international Underwriters’) providing for the
concurrent offer and sale of 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock in an intemational offering outside the
United States (the ‘“international Offering”). The offering price and aggregate underwriting discounts
and commissions per share for the two offerings are identical. The closing of the U.S. offering is a
condition to the closing of the Intemational Offering, and vice versa. The representatives of the
International Underwriters are Goldman Sachs Intemational and Merrill Lynch International Limited.

Pursuant to an Agreement between the U.S. and Intemational Underwriting Syndicates (the
“Agreement Between'’) relating to the two offerings, each of the U.S. Underwriters named herein has
agreed that, as part of the distribution of the shares offered hereby and subject to certain exceptions, it
will offer, sell or deliver the shares of Common Stock, directly or indirectly, only in the United States of
America (including the States and the District of Columbia), its territories, its possessions and other
areas subject to its jurisdiction (the “United States”) and to U.S. persons, which term shall mean, for
purposes of this paragraph: (a) any individual who is a resident of the United States or (b) any
corporation, partnership or other entity organized in or under the laws of the United States or any political
subdivision thereof and whose office most directly involved with the purchase is located in the United
States. Each of the Intemational Underwriters has agreed pursuant to the Agreement Between that, as
part of the distribution of the shares offered as a part of the intemational Offering and subject to certain
exceptions, it will (i) not, directly or indirectly, offer, sell or deliver shares of Common Stock {a) in the
United States or to an U.S. persons or (b) to any person who it believes intends to reoffer, resell or
deliver the shares in the United States or to any U.S. persons and (li) cause any dealer to whom it may
sell such shares at any concession to agree to observe a similar restriction.
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Pursuant to the Agreement Between, sales may be made between the U.S. Underwriters and
International Underwriters of such number of shares of Common Stock as may be mutually agreed. The
price of any shares so sold shall be the initial public offering price, less an amount not greater than the

selling concession.

NeXT has granted the U.S. Underwriters an option exercisable for 30 days after the date of this
Prospectus to purchase up to an aggregate of 600,000 additional shares of Common Stock solely to
cover over-aliotments, if any. If the U.S. Underwriters exercise their over-allotment option, the U.S.
Underwriters have severally agreed, subject to certain conditions, to purchase approximately the same
percentage thereof that the number of shares to be purchased by each of them, as shown in the
foregoing table, bears to the 4,000,000 shares of Common Stock offered hereby. NeXT has granted the
International Underwriters a similar option to purchase up to an aggregate of 150,000 additional shares of
Common Stock.

NeXT has agreed that, during the period beginning from the date of this Prospectus and continuing
to and including the date 180 days after the date of this Prospectus, they will not offer, sell, contract to
sell or otherwise dispose of any securities of NeXT (other than pursuant to employee stock option plans
existing, or on the conversion or exchange of convertible or exchangeable securities outstanding, on the
date of this Prospectus or other limited exceptions) which are substantially similar to the shares of
Common Stock or which are convertible or exchangeable into securities which are substantially similar to
the shares of Common Stock, without the prior written consent of Goldman, Sachs & Co, except for the
shares of Common Stock offered in connection with the offerings.

NeXT’s officers, directors and certain shareholders, who will hold in the aggregate shares of
Common Stock after the offerings, have agreed not to offer, sell, contract to sell, pledge or otherwise
dispose of or agree to dispose of any shares of Common Stock or securities convertible into or
exchangeable for shares of Common Stock or establish a “put equivalent position’ with respect to the
Common Stock within the meaning of Rule 16a-1(h) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, for a period of 180 days after the date of this Prospectus, without the prior written consent of
the representatives of the U.S. Underwriters, except for gifts to, or transfers to trusts for the benefit of,
NeXT's officers, directors or certain shareholders or their immediate family members pursuant to which
the transferee agrees to be bound by the aforementioned restrictions.

The representatives of the Underwriters have informed NeXT that they do not expect sales to
accounts over which the Underwriters exercise discretionary authority to exceed five percent of the total
number of shares of Common Stock offered by them.

Prior to the offering, there has been no public market for the shares of Common Stock. The initial
public offering price will be negotiated among NeXT and the representatives of the U.S. Underwriters and
intemational Underwriters. Among the factors to be considered in determining the initial public offering
price of the Common Stock, in addition to prevalling market conditions, will be NeXT's historical
performance, estimates of the business potential and eamings prospects of NeXT, an assessment of
NeXT's management and the consideration of the above factors in relation to market valuation of
companies in related businesses.

This Prospectus may be used by underwriters and dealers in connection with offers and sales of the
Common Stock, including shares initially sold in the Intemational Offering, to persons located in the
United States.

Application has been made for quotation of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq National Market under
the symbol “NXXT."”

NeXT has agreed to indemnify the several Underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities
under the Securities Act of 1933.
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No person has been authorized to give any
information or to make any representations
other than those contained in this Prospectus,
and, If given or made, such information or
representations must not be relied upon as
having been authorized. This Prospectus
does not constitute an offer to sell or the
solicitation of an ofier to securities
other than the securities to which it relates or
an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to
buy such securities in any circumstances in
which such an offer or solicitation is unlawful.
Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor
any sale made hereunder shall, under any
circumstances, create any implication that
there has been no change in the affairs of
NeXT since the date hereof or that the infor-
mation contained herein is comrect as of any

time subsequent to its date.
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Through and including , 1996 (the
25th day after the date of this Prospectus), all
dealers effecting transactions in the Common

Stock, whether or not participa in this
distribution, may be required to deliver a
Prospectus. This delivery requirement is in
addition to the obligation of dealers to deliver
a Prospectus when acting as Underwriters
and with respect to their unsold allotments or

subscriptions.

5,000,000 Shares

NeXT Software, Inc.

Common Stock
(no par value per share)
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Merrill Lynch & Co.

Representatives of the Underwriters
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PART Il
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

item 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distribution

The following table sets forth the costs and expenses, other than underwriting discount, payable by
the Registrant in connection with the sale of Common Stock being registered. All amounts are estimates
except the SEC registration fee, the NASD filing fee and the Nasdaq National Market Application Fee.

Amount
To Be

— Paid
SEC registration fee ........cccoivieireieriiiieiiiieinniinina., $ 29,622
NASDiling fe® ........couiiieriiiiiiiiiirenciiiieennnnennnes 10,272
Nasdaq national market application fee ...................ooiaet. 50,000
Printing and engraving expenses . ........ccoveecseesratrocnansneas 400,000
Legal fees and eXpeN8es ...........ccieieeiiireiantrciinorooonns 350,000
Accounting fees and exXpenses .......ceeevvrernrerntescnesssinaas 350,000
Blue Sky qualification fees and expenses ..........c.cocevvvieeneaes 10,000
Director and officer insurance premium .........ccoeeveennnvocessnns 853,000
Transfer agent and registrar f8es........ccovvevniiieivvencrennacens 10,000
Miscellaneous fees .........ccoveeueivierennnnoeivereconsocacassan 337,106
Total_. . 5=, B 5, IS | Lisioorms Vet iy mteaioe: SaNil $2,400,000
4

Item 14. Indemnificstion of Directors and Officers

Prior to the effectiveness of this Registration Statement, the Registrant intends to reincorporate in
the State of Delaware.

Section 317 of the California Corporations Code authorizes a corporation to indemnify its directors,
officers, employees or other agents in terms sufficiently broad to permit such indemnification (including
reimbursement for expenses incurred) under certain circumstances for liabilities arising under the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “‘Securities Act”). The Registrant's Amended and Restated
Articles of Incorporation {Exhibits 3.1 and 3.2 hereto), and Amended and Restated Bylaws (Exhibit 3.3
hereto), provide for indemnification of its directors and officers to the maximum extent permitted by the
California Corporations Code. In addition, the Registrant has entered into Indemnification Agreements
(Exhibit 10.4 hereto) with its directors and officers. Reference is also made to Section 8 of the
Underwriting Agreement contained in Exhibit 1.1 hereto, indemnifying officers and directors of the
Registrant against certain liabilities.

item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
Since November 30, 1993, the Registrant has issued and sold the following unregistered securities:

[TO COME]
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The issuances of the securities described above were deemed to be exempt from registration under
the Securities Act in reliance on Section 4(2) of such Act or Regulation D promulgated thereunder as
transactions by an issuer not involving any public effering. in addition, the recipients of securities in each
such transaction represented their intentions to acquire the securities for investment only and not with a
view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof and appropriate legends were affixed to the
share certificates issued in such transactions. All recipients had adequate access, through their
relationships with the Registrant, to information about the Registrant.

item 16. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Exhibits
Exhibit No.
1.1*
1.2*
3.1
3.2

33
41
4.2
51°
10.1
10.2*
10.3*
104*

105
10.6

10.7¢

108t
109

10.10
10.11

10.12

Description of Document

Form of U.S. Underwriting Agreement.

Form of International Underwriting Agreement.

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, as amended.

Form of Restated Articles of incorporation, to be effective upon the closing of
the offerings.

Amended and Restated Bylaws.

See Exhibits 3.1 through 3.4

Specimen Stock Certificate.

Opinion of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati

1990 Stock Option Plan, and related forms of agreement.

1997 Stock Plan, and related forms of agreement. i

1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, and related forms of agreement.

Form of Indemnification Agreement to be entered into between the Registrant
and its officers and directors.

Seaport Centre Standard Lease between the Registrant and Metropolitan Life
insurance Company dated November 9, 1988, as amended.

Rights Agreement between the Registrant and certain shareholders of
Registrant dated July 27, 1992, as amended.

Letter Agreement dated October 23, 1995 between the Registrant and Novell,
inc. (formerly AT&T Information Systems) and the related Software Agreement
dated September 23, 1986, as amended, and Sublicensing Agreement dated
October 31, 1986, as amended.

Restated Software License Agreement between the Registrant and Adobe
Systems Incorporated dated September 13, 1990, as amended.

WCMA Note and Loan Agreement between the Registrant and Merrill Lynch
Business Financial Services, Inc. dated December 1, 1995, as amended.
Demand Note by the Registrant in favor of Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of
New York dated July 15, 1996.

Series C Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and Sun
Microsystems, inc. dated November 18, 1993.

Series C Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and
Motorola, Inc. dated November 30, 1893.
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Exhibit No. Desoription of Dooument
10.13 Series C Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and
Steven P. Jobs dated December 31, 1993.
10.14 Series D Preferred Stock Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and
Motorola, inc. dated May 29, 1986.
10.15 Series. D Preferred Stock Agreement between the Registrant and MLBC, Inc.
dated January 19, 1996.
10.16 Term Loan Agreement between the Registrant and Canon, Inc. dated July 16,
1992, as amended, including the related Security Agreements dated July 27,
1992.
11.1 Computation of Pro Forma Net Income (Loss) Per Share.
211 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.
23.1° Consent of Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati (included in Exhibit 5.1).
23.2 Report on Financial Statement Schedules and Consent of Independent Auditors.
24.1 Power of Attorney.

* To be filed by amendment.
t Confidential Treatment has been requested for a portion of this exhibit.

(b) Financial Statement Schedule
[To come — KPMG])

Schedules not listed above have been omitted because the information required to be set forth
therein is not applicable or is shown in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.

Item 17. Undertakings

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes to provide to the Underwriters at the closing
specified in the Underwriting Agreement, certificates in such denominations and registered in such
names as required by the Underwriters to permit prompt delivery to each purchaser.

Insofar as indemntification for liablilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
“Securities Act”), may be permitted to directors, officers and controlling persons of the Registrant
pursuant to Califomia Corporations Code Law, the Registrant’s Amended and Restated Articles of
incorporation, the Registrant’s Amended and Restated Bylaws, the Registrant's indemnification agree-
ments or otherwise, the Registrant has been advised that in the opinion of the Securities and Exchange
Commission such indemnification is against public policy as expressed in the Securities Act, and is,
therefore, unenforceable. In the event that a claim for indemnification against such liabilities (other than
the payment by the Registrant of expenses incurred or paid by a director, officer or controlling person of
the Registrant in the successful defense of any action, suit or proceeding) is asserted by such director,
officer or controlling person in connection with the securities being registered hereunder, the Registrant
will, unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settied by controlling precedent, submit to a
court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification by it is against public policy as
expressed in the Securities Act and will be governed by the final adjudication of such issue.

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that:

(1) For purposes of determining any iiability under the Securities Act, the information omitted
from the form of Prospectus filed as part of this Registration Statement in reliance upon Rule 430A
and contained in a form of Prospectus filed by the Registrant pursuant to Rule 424 (b) (1) or (4) or
497 (h) under the Securities Act shall be deemed to be part of this Registration Statement as of the
time it was declared effective.
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(2) For the purpose of determining any liability under the Securities Act, each post-effective
amendment that contains a form of Prospectus shall be deemed to be a new Registration Statement
relating to the securities offered therein, and the offering of such securities at that time shall be

deemed to be the initial bona fide offering thereof.

-4



STYLEOI3.BST;79 BSF0000990 Fmt: v5.17 C: 100
Seq: 78 Free lead 460DMpoints, Next lead 0D, VjustR :1 JB: F10236 PN: 104.00.00.00 SN: 4 <MG>
NEXT SOFTWARE,INC. BOWNE OF PALO ALTO  (415) 858-1800

BPA_PS3

NOMARKS 18-NOV-1996 11:02 NEXT PCN: 105.00.00.00 — Page is valid, no graphics

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, the Registrant has duly caused this
Registration Statement on Form S-1 to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized, in the City of Redwood City, State of California, on this  day of November 1996.

_-NeXT Software, Inc.

By:

Steven P. Jobs
Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Board

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below
constitutes and appoints Dominique Trempont and Nancy R. Heinen, and each of them singly, as true
and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for him and in
his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities to sign the Registration Statement filed herewith and
any or all amendments to said Registration Statement (including post-effective amendments and
registration statements filed pursuant to Rule 462 and otherwise), and to file the same, with all exhibits
thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission
granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents the full power and authority to do and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the foregoing, as full to all intents
and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact and agents or any of them, or his substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by
virtue hereof.

Witness our hands on the date set forth below.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1933, this Registration Statement has been
signed by the following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signetures T Date
Chief Executive Officer November , 1996
Steven P. Jobs and Chairman of the
Board

Chief Financial Officer and November , 1996

Dominique Trempont Vice President, General
and Administration Group

Director November , 1996

Mikio Akiyama

Director November , 1996

Lawrence S. Ellison
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[ALTERNATIVE INTERNATIONAL PAGE]

SUBJECT TO COMPLETION, DATED NOVEMBER , 1996

5,000,000 Shares
NeXT Software, Inc.

Common Stock
(no par value per share)

y sale of these securities

Of the 5,000,000 shares of Common Stock offered, 1,000,000 shares are being offered hereby in an
international offering outside the United States and 4,000,000 shares are being offered in a concurrent
United States offering. The initial public offering price and the aggregate underwriting discount per share
will be identical for both offerings. See ‘Underwriting".

All of the shares of Common Stock offered hereby are being sold by NeXT Software, Inc. Prior to the
offerings, there has been no public market for the Common Stock of NeXT. It is currently estimated that
the initial public offering price per share will be between $15.00 and $17.00. For factors to be considered
in determining the initial public offering price, see *‘Underwriting”’.

See “Risk Factors” beginning on page of this Prospectus for certain
considerations relevant to an investment in the Common Stock.

Application has been made for quotation of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq National Market under
the symbol “NXXT".

THIS INTERNATIONAL OFFERING CIRCULAR IS INTENDED FOR USE ONLY IN CONNECTION
WITH OFFERS AND SALES OF THE COMMON STOCK OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES AND IS
NOT TO BE SENT OR GIVEN TO ANY PERSON WITHIN THE UNITED STATES. THE COMMON
STOCK OFFERED HEREBY IS NOT BEING REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES
ACT OF 1833 FOR THE PURPOSE OF SALES OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES.

y nor shall there be an

Initial Public Proceeds to
Price

Discount(1 CG'IIPO!!P!
PerShare ....oooevvevinernnnnnnns $ $ $
Total(3) .vovveieiiiiiiencnnannnsn $ $ $

(1) NeXT has agreed to indemnify the Underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities under
the Securities Act of 1933.

(2) Before deducting estimated expenses of $2,400,000 payable by NeXT.

(3) NeXT has granted the Intemational Underwriters an option for 30 days to purchase up to an
additional 150,000 shares at the initial public offering price per share, less the underwriting discount,
solely to cover over-allotments. Additionally, NeXT has granted the U.S. Underwriters a similar option
with respect to an additional 600,000 shares as part of the concurrent U.S. offering. If such options
are exercised in full, the total initial public offering price, underwriting discount and proceeds to
Company will be $ ,$and $ , respectively. See '‘Underwriting"'.

ject to completion or amendment. A registration statement relating to these securities has been filed with the

Information contained herein is sub

The shares offered hereby are offered severally by the Intemational Underwriters, as specified herein,
subject to receipt and acceptance by them and subject to their right to reject any order in whole or in
part. It is expected that certificates for the shares will be ready for delivery in New York, New York on or
about . 1996, against payment therefor in immediately available funds.

Goldman Sachs International
Merrill Lynch International Limited
SwissBank Warburg Corporation

Securities and Exchange Commission. These securities may not be sold nor may offers to buy be accepted prior to the time the registration statement
in any State in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such State.

becomes effective. This prospectus shall not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to bu

The date of this Prospectus is , 1996.
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[ALTERNATIVE INTERNATIONAL PAGE]

NeXT intends to furnish to its shareholders annual reports containing audited consolidated financial
statements and quarterly reports containing unaudited interim financial information for the first three fiscal
quarters of each fiscal year of NeXT.

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the salicitation of an offer to buy the shares in
any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is uniawful. There are restrictions on the offer and sale of
the shares in the United Kingdom. All applicable provisions of the Financial Services Act 1986 and the
Companies Act 1985 with respect to anything done by any person in relation to the shares, in, from or
otherwise involving the United Kingdom must be complied with. Offers and sales of the shares outside
the United States have not been registered under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended. See
“Underwriting”’.

in this Prospectus, references to “dollars”, *'U.S.$" and *'$" are to United States dollars.

IN CONNECTION WITH THE OFFERINGS, THE INTERNATIONAL UNDERWRITERS AND THE
U.S. UNDERWRITERS MAY OVER-ALLOT OR EFFECT TRANSACTIONS WHICH STABILIZE OR
MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE COMMON STOCK OFFERED HEREBY AT A LEVEL
ABOVE THAT WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH TRANSAC-
TIONS MAY BE EFFECTED ON THE NASDAQ NATIONAL MARKET SYSTEM, IN THE OVER-THE-
COUNTER MARKET OR OTHERWISE. SUCH STABILIZING, IF COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCON-

. TINUED AT ANY TIME.

U-1
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[ALTERNATIVE INTERNATIONAL PAGE]

UNDERWRITING

Subject to the terms and conditions of the Underwriting Agreement, NeXT has agreed to sell to each
of the intemational Underwriters named below, and each of such International Underwriters, for whom
Goldman Sachs Intemational, Merrill Lynch international Limited and SwissBank Warburg Corporation are
acting as representatives, has severally agreed to purchase from NeXT, the respective number of shares
of Common Stock set forth opposite its name below:

Number of
Shares of
Common
Underwriter __Stock
Goldman Sachs Intemational .......ccceeeinaiiiiiirinriotsenoenn
Merrill Lynch International Limited ...........ccoeeeoeaceecerceennees
SwissBank Warburg Corporation .........ceececeresecnicnccnccneens
TOtAl v vvveeveveenrrusanscscesosenassssssssennanssssansss 1,000,000

Under the terms and conditions of the Underwriting Agreement, the International Underwriters are
committed to take and pay for all of the shares offered hereby, if any are taken.

The International Underwriters propose to offer the shares of Common Stock in part directly to the
public at the initial public offering price set forth on the cover page of this Prospectus and in part to
certain securities dealers at such price less a concession of $ per share. The Intemational
Underwriters may allow, and such dealers may reallow, a concession not in excess of $ per
share to certain brokers and dealers. After the shares of Common Stock are released for sale to the

public, the offering price and other seliing terms may from time to time be varied by the representatives.

NeXT has entered into an underwriting agreement (the “U.S. Underwriting Agreement’”) with the
underwriters of the U.S. offering (the *‘U.S. Underwriters™) providing for the concurrent offer and sale of
4,000,000 shares of Common Stock in a U.S. offering in the United States. The offering price and
aggregate underwriting discounts and commissions per share for the two offerings are identical. The
closing of the International Offering is a condition to the closing of the U.S. offering, dnd vice versa. The
representatives of the U.S. Underwriters are Goldman, Sachs & Co. and Merill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner &
Smith Incorporated.

Pursuant to an Agreement between the U.S. and international Underwriting Syndicates (the
“Agreement Between") relating to the two offerings, each of the U.S. Underwriters has agreed that, as a
part of the distribution of the shares offered as a part of the U.S. offering and subject to certain
exceptions, it will offer, sell or deliver the shares of Common Stock, directly or indirectly, only in the United
States of America (including the States and the District of Columbia), its territories, its possessions and
other areas subject to its jurisdiction (the “United States”) and to U.S. persons, which term shall mean,
for purposes of this paragraph: (a) any individual who is a resident of the United States or (b) any
corporation, partnership or other entity organized in or under the laws of the United States or any political
subdivision thereof and whose office most directly invoived with the purchase is located in the United
States. Each of the International Underwriters named herein has agreed pursuant to the Agreement
Between that, as a part of the distribution of the shares offered hereby, and subject to certain exceptions,
it will (i) not, directly or indirectly, offer, sell or deliver shares of Common Stock (a) in the United States
or to any U.S. persons or (b) to any person who it believes intends to reofter, reseli or deliver the shares
in the United States or to any U.S. persons and (il) cause any dealer to whom it may sell such shares at
any concession to agree to observe a similar restriction.

U-2
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[ALTERNATIVE INTERNATIONAL PAGE]

Pursuant to the Agreement between, sales may be made between the U.S. Underwriters and the
International Underwriters of such number of shares of Common Stock as may be mutually agreed. The
price of any shares so sold shall be the initial public offering price, less an amount not greater than the
selling concession.

NeXT has granted the International Underwriters an option, exercisable for 30 days after the date of
this Prospectus, to purchase up to an aggregate of 150,000 additional shares of Common Stack solely to
cover overallotments, if any. If the intemational Underwriters exercise their over-allotment option, the
international Underwriters have severally agreed, subject to certain conditions, to purchase approxi-
mately the same percentage thereof that the number of shares to be purchased by each of them, as
shown in the foregoing table, bears to the 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock offered. NeXT has granted
the U.S. Underwriters a similar option to purchase up to an aggregate of 600,000 additional shares of
Common Stock.

NeXT and certain of its shareholders have agreed that, during the period beginning from the date of
this Prospectus and continuing to and including the date 180 days after the date of this Prospectus, they
will not offer, sell, or otherwise dispose of any securities of NeXT (other than pursuant to employee stock
option plans existing, or on the conversion or exchange of convertible or exchangeable securities
outstanding, on the date of the Prospectus or other limited exceptions) that are substantially similar to
the shares of Common Stock or that are convertible or exchangeable into securities that are substantially
similar to the shares of Common Stock, without the prior written consent of Goldman, Sachs & Co. See
“Shares Eligible for Future Sale."

Each International Underwriter has also agreed that (a) it has not offered or sold, and, prior to the
date six months after the date of issue of the shares of Common Stock, will not offer or sell, in the United
Kingdom, except to persons whose ordinary activities invoive them in acquiring, holding, managing or
disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses or otherwise in
circumstances which have not resulted and will not result in an offer to the public in the United Kingdom
within the meaning of the Public Offers of Securities Regulations 1995, (b) it has comptied, and will
comply, with all applicable provisions of the Financial Services Act of 1986 of Great Britain with respect to
anything done by it in relation to the shares of Common Stock in, from or otherwise involving the United
Kingdom, and (c) it has only issued or passed on and will only issue or pass on in the United Kingdom
any document received by it in connection with the issuance of the shares of Common Stock to a person
who is of a kind described in Article 11(3) of the Financial Services Act 1986 (Investment Advertise-
ments) (Exemptions) Order 1996 of Great Britain or is a person to whom the document may otherwise
lawfully be issued or passed on.

The shares offered hereby have been offered pursuant to an exemption from registration under the
U.S. securities laws afforded by Rule 901 of Regulation S for offers and sales outside the United States. A
registration statement under the U.S. securities laws is in effect for any shares initially offered or sold
outside the United States that are thereafter sold or resold in the United States.

Buyers of shares of Common Stock offered hereby may be required to pay stamp taxes and other
charges in accordance with the laws and practice of the country of purchase in addition to the initial
public offering price.

The representatives of the Underwriters have informed NeXT that they do not expect sales to
accounts over which the Underwriters exercise discretionary authority to exceed five percent of the total
number of shares of Common Stock offered by them.

Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for the Common Stock. The initial public
offering price will be negotiated between NeXT and the representatives of the U.S. Underwriters and the
international Underwriters. Among the factors to be considered in determining the initial public offering
price of the Common Stock, in addition to prevailing market conditions, will be NeXT's historical
performance, estimates of the business potential and eamings prospects of NeXT. an assessment of
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[ALTERNATIVE INTERNATIONAL PAGE]

NeXT's management and the consideration of the above factors in relation to market valuation of
companies in related businesses.

Application has been made for quotation of the Common Stock on the Nasdaq National Market under
the symbo! "NXXT."

NeXT has agreed to indemnify the several Underwriters against certain liabilities, including liabilities
under the Securities Act of 1833.

A SRRy

U-4



Bowne Integrated Typesetting System  13-NOV-96 12:24
STYLEO13.BST;79 BSF0001022 Fmt: v5.17 C: 100

Seq: 1 Freelead 75D*points, Next lead 0D, Vjust RE
NEXT SOFTWARE,INC. BOWNE OF PALO ALTO
18-NOV-1996 11:02 NEXT PCN: 900.00.00.00 - Page is valid, no graphics

BPA_PS3

(415) 858-1800
NOMARKS

| 8 0 T 0 000
JB: F10236

PN: 110.00.00.00 SN: 4 <MG>

No person has been authorized to give any
information or to make any representations
other than those contained in this Prospectus,
and, if given or made, such information or
representations must not be relied upon as

solicitation of an offer to b
other than the securities to which
an offer to sell or the sclicitation of an offer to
buy such securities in any circumstances in
which such an offer or solicitation is unlawtul.
Neither the delivery of this Prospectus nor
any sale made hereunder shall, under
circumstances, create any implication that
there has been no in the affairs of
NeXT since the date hereof or that the infor-
mation contained herein is correct as of any
time subsequent to its date.
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